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Dear Fellow Stockholders and Clients:

2007 was truly a year of two very different halves. Building on the solid earnings momentum gencrated
during the preceding three guarters, we exited the second quarter of 2007 with record quarterly revenue, pre-
tax income and trading volume, as well as a record 11.1% estimated share of U.S. high-grade corporate bond
trading volume (as reported by the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority’s (“FINRA™) Trade Reporting and
Compliance Engine (“TRACE™)).

The benign eredit market conditions that we experienced in the first half of the year, characterized by
tight spreads and low credit spread volatility, came (o an abrupt erd in July, however, as the subprime
contagion spread through the market. The dramatic re-pricing of risk and subsequent deleveraging that have
gripped the credit markets continue to take their toll as we move into the second quarter of 2008,

MarketAxess was certainly not immune to the ¢ffects of the market turmoil that commenced during the
second half of the vear. Yet despite the most difficull environment for trading credit that most can remember,
we grew revenue and carnings through the second half of 2007 vs. the second hall of 2006, an accomplishment
that few other credit market participants can claim and a testament to the strength of our client franchise and
business model. In addition, during the second half of the year and continuing into the first quarter ol 2008,
we continued 10 execute our strategy of complementing our organic growth opporiunities with strategic
acquisitions that e¢xpand our technology services business, enhance our client connectivity offering and exiend
our clicnt base.

During 2007, we:

« increased our estimated share of FINRA TRACE high-grade trading volume to 9.4%, compared 10 8.5%
for 20086, including a new record cstimated quarterly share of 11.1% for the second quarter of 2007;

= were awarded “*Best Multi-Dealer Credit Default Swaps Trading Platform™ and “*Best Multi-Dealer
Corporate Bond Trading Platform™ in both the United States and Europe by Credit Magazine based on
a poll of fixed-income investors, the third consecutive year that MarketAxess has been recognized as
the Best Multi-Dealer Corporate Bond Trading Platform;

+ expanded our recurring revenue base with the successful introduction of our new European high-grade
fee plan;

= leveraged our success in client-lo-dealer Emerging Markets (“EM™) trading across new trading prolocols
and markets. We launched DealerAxess® inter-dealer trading in EM Credit Default Swaps and launched
client-to-dealer local market trading, initially in bonds denominated in the local currencies of Mexico,
Brazil and Argentina;

+» diversified our revenues and expanded our technology services capabilities through our acquisition of
Trade West Systems, LLC (“TWS™), a financial software innovator that provides gateway adapters to
connect order management systems (“OMS™) and trading systems to fixed-income trading venues;

 significantly increased client connectivity, with approximately 150 client OMS connections established
by the end of 2007. Trades executed directly [rom OMS connections in 2007 more than doubled to
229 of all trades executed over the platform;

« continued 1o build on our already superior liguidity pool on the platform with the addition of new
dealers, bringing our global dealer group to 30;

» cnded the year with $124.3 million in cash, cash equivalents and securities, just 5% below 2006 year-
end levels even after expenditures of almost $40 million in connection with the share repurchase
program approved by our Board of Directors in November 2006; and

» generated free cash flow ol $24.2 million, more than twice our reported net income for the year. Our
balance sheet and free cash flow continue to be sources of strength.

On March 5, 2008, we acquired Greenline Financial Technologies, Inc. (“Greenline™), an industry
innovator specializing in the development of customized integration, testing and management solutions for
Financial Information Exchange (“FIX™) related products and services designed to optimize electronic trading
of fixed-income, cquities and other exchange-based products. With our acquisition of Greenline, we broadened




the range of technology services that we offer to institutional financial markets, expanded our client universe,
including global exchanges and hedge funds, and further diversified our business beyond our core clectronic
credit trading products.

Muarket demand for technology solutions to improve trading cfficiency continues to grow. We believe
market participants across atl asset classes will be increasingly attracted to market-leading, fow-cost outsourc-
ing solutions and that we are weti-positioned to respond to this demand. Our core expertise in trading
technologics is now complemented by the e-trading gateways and adapters of TWS and the FIX testing and
monitoring capabilitics of Greenline.

In summary, 2007 was a year in which we made significant strides in diversifying our revenue stream and
building a higher base of recurring revenue. We have extended the breadth of our technology offering through
selective acquisitions and we have preserved valuable upside through clectronic transaction fees when markets
stabilize and industry volumes return.

We have an extraordinary institutional trading network and valuable technology assets that we are
leveraging into new opportunities for our stockholders. The difficult market conditions that we have been
through have accelerated discussions focused on creating new clectronic sources of liquidity. The future we
see for MarketAxess includes attractive growth from current electronic markets complemented by new organic
businesses and strategic acquisitions. We remain committed to delivering market-leading technology for
clectronic trading in financial markets.

Sincerely,

Aot ot

Richard M. McVey
Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer

March 31, 2008
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MarketAxess Holdings Inc.
140 Broadway, 42nd Floor
New York, New York 10005

April 23, 2008
To the Stockholders of MarketAxess Holdings Inc.:

You are invited to attend the 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockhelders (the “Annual Meeting™) of
MarketAxess Holdings Inc. {the “Company™) scheduled for Thursday, June 5, 2008, at 10:00 a.m., Eastern
Daylight Time, at The New York Marrioit Financial Center Hotel, 85 West Street, New York, New York
10006. The Company’s Board of Directors and management look forward to seeing you.

Enclosed you will find a Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders containing a description of the items
of business expected to be covered at the Annual Meeting, our proxy statement, a proxy card and our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007 (the “Annual Report”). The agenda for the
Annual Meeting includes the election of directors, ratification of the appointment of our independent registered
public accounting firm and approval of the MarketAxess Holdings Inc. 2008 Code Section 162(m) Perfor-
mance Incentive Program. Our Board of Directors recommends that you vote FOR the election of directors,
FOR ratification of the appointment of our independent registered public accounting firm and FOR approval of
the MarketAxess Holdings Inc. 2008 Code Section 162(m) Performance Incentive Program. Please carefully
review the enclosed documents for detailed information regarding these proposals.

We are pleased to be among the first companies to take advantage of new Securities and Exchange
Commission rules that allow issuers 1o furnish proxy matenials to their stockholders on the Internet, We believe the
new rules will allow us to provide our stockholders with the information they need, while lowering the costs of
delivery and reducing the environmental impact of our Annual Meeting. On April 23, 2008, we mailed to our
stockholders a Notice conataining instructions on how to access our proxy statement and Annual Report and vote
online. The proxy statement contains instructions on how you can receive a paper copy of the proxy statement and
Annual Report if you only received a Notice by mail.

Your voie is important to us. Whether or not you plan to aitend the Annual Meeting in person, your shares
should be represented and voted. After reading the enclosed proxy statement, please complete, sign, date and
promptly return the proxy in the pre-addressed envelope that we have included for your convenience. No postage is
required if it is mailed in the United States. If you hold your shares in a stock brokerage account, please check
your proxy card or contact your broker or nominee to determine whether you will be able to vote by telephone or
electronically. Submitting the proxy before the Annual Meeting will not preclude you from voting in person at the
Annual Meeting should you decide to attend in person.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, thank you for your continued support.

Sincerely,

Aok ort st

Richard M, McVey
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer




MarketAxess Holdings Inc.
140 Broadway, 42nd Floor
New York, New York 10005

NOTICE OF
2008 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

To the Stockholders of MarketAxess Holdings Inc.:

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Annual Mecting™) of
MarketAxess Holdings Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company™), will be held on Thursday, June 5, 2008,
at 10:00 a.m., Eastern Daylight Time, at The New York Marriott Financial Center Hotel, 85 West Sireet,

New York, New York 10006.

Al the Annual Mecting we will:

1. vote 1o elect ten members of the Company’s Board of Directors for ierms expiring at the 2009
Annual Meeting of Stockholders;

2. vole o ratily the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the Company’s independent
registered public accounting {irm for the year ending December 31, 2008;

3. vote to approve the MarketAxess Holdings Inc. 2008 Code Section 162(m) Performance Incentive
Program; and

4. transact such other business as may properly come before the Annual Mecting or any adjournment
or postponement thereof.

These items are more fully described in the Company’s Proxy Statement accompanying this Notice.

The record date for the determination of the stockholders entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the Annual
Meeting, or any adjournment or postponement thereof, was the close of business on April 11, 2008. A list of
the stockholders of record as of that date will be available for inspection at the Annual Meeting, and at any
adjournments or postponements thereef, and for a period of ten days prior to the meeting during regular
business hours at the offices of the Company listed above.

You have the right to receive this Notice and vote at the Annual Meeting if you were a stockholder of
record at the close of business on April 11, 2008. Pleasc remember that your shares cannot be voted unless
you cast your vote by one of the (ollowing methods: (1) sign and return a proxy card; (2) it you hold your
shares in a stock brokerage account, call the toll-free number lisied on the proxy card, if any; (3) if you hold
your shares in a stock brokerage account, vote via the Internet as indicaied on the proxy card; or (4) vote in
person il the Annual Mecting.

By Order of the Board of Dircclors,

Charles Hood
General Counsel and Corporate Secretary

New York, New York
April 23, 2008

YOUR VOTE IS VERY IMPORTANT, REGARDLESS OF THE NUMBER OF SHARES YOU OWN.
PLEASE READ THE ATTACHED PROXY STATEMENT CAREFULLY AND COMPLETE, SIGN
AND DATE THE ENCLOSED PROXY CARD AS PROMPTLY AS POSSIBLE AND RETURN IT IN
THE ENCLOSED ENVELOPE. ALTERNATIVELY, YOU MAY BE ABLE TO SUBMIT YOUR
PROXY THROUGH THE INTERNET OR BY TOUCH-TONE PHONE AS INDICATED ON THE
PROXY CARD.
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MarketAxess Holdings Inc.
140 Broadway, 42nd Floor
New York, New York 10005

PROXY STATEMENT for the
2008 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS
To Be Held On June 5, 2008

GENERAL INFORMATION

This Proxy Statement is furnished in connection with a solicitation of proxies by the Board of Directors
(the “Board” or “Board of Direclors™) of MarketAxess Holdings Inc., a Delaware corporation (“MarketAxess,”
the “Company,” “we” or “our™), (o be used at our 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders scheduled for
Thursday, June 5, 2008, at 10:00 a.m., Eastern Daylight Time (“EDT"), at The New York Marriott Financial
Center Hotel, 85 West Sireet, New York, New York 10006.

This Proxy Statement and the accompanying Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders and proxy card
arc first being mailed to stockholders on or aboul Apri) 23, 2008. Whenever we refer in this Proxy Statement
to the “Annual Meeting,” we are also referring to any meeting that results from any posiponcment or
adjournment of the June 5, 2008 meeting.

Holders of our common stock, par value $0.003 per share (the “Common Stock™), as of the close of
business on April 11, 2008, arc entitled to notice of, and 1o vote al the Annual Mecting. On that date, there
were 30,979,717 shares of our Common Stock issued and outstanding.

We encourage you to vote your shares, either by voting in person at the Annual Meeting or by
granting a proxy (i.e., authorizing someone to vote your shares), If you execute the attached proxy card,
the individuals designated on that card will vote your shares according to your instructions. If any
matter other than Proposals 1, 2 or 3 listed in the Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders is presented
at the Annual Meeting, the designated individuals will, to the extent permissible, vote all proxies in the
manner that the Board may recommend or, in the absence of such recommendation, in the manner they
perceive to be in the best interests of the Company.

Il you execute the enclosed proxy card but do not give instructions, your proxy will be voted as Tollows:
FOR the election of the nominees for director named herein, FOR ratification of the appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our independent regisiered public accounting firm for the year ending
Deccember 31, 2008, FOR approval of the MarketAxess Holdings Inc. 2008 Code Section 162(m} Performance
Incentive Program (ihe “2008 Incentive Program™) and in accordance with the best judgment of the persons
appointed as proxies with respect 10 any other matters which properly come before the Annual Meeting.

Information on how you may volte at the Annual Meeting (such as granting a proxy that directs how your
shares should be voted, or attending the Annual Mecting in person), as well as how you can revoke a proxy, is
contained in this Proxy Statement under the headings Selicitation of Proxies and Voting.

SOLICITATION OF PROXIES

General

The attached proxy card allows you to instruct the designated individuals how to vole your shares. You
may vote in favor of, against, or abstain from voling on any proposal. In addition, with respect to Proposal 1
(the election of directors), you may, if you desire, indicate on the proxy card that you are not authorizing the
designated individuals to vole your shares for one or more of the nominees.

Solicitation

We will bear the entire cost of solicitation, including the preparation, assembly, printing and mailing of a
notice of internet availability of proxy materials, this Proxy Statement, the proxy card and any additional




soliciting materials furnished Lo stockholders. Copies of solicitation materials will be furnished to brokerage
houses, fiduciaries and custodians holding shares in their names that are bereficially owned by others so that |
they may forward the solicitatton materials 1o such beneficial owners. In addition, we may reimburse such
persons for their costs of forwarding the solicitation materials to such beneficial owners. The original
solicitation of proxies by mail may be supplemented by solicitation by telephone or other means by our
directors, officers, employees or agents. No additional compensation will be paid to these individuals for any
such services. Excepl as described above, we do not presently intend to solicit proxies other than by mail.

VOTING

Stockholders entitled to vote and shares outstanding

You may vole your shares at the Annual Meeting only if you were a stockholder of record at the close of
business on April 11, 2008 (the “Record Date™). As of the Record Dute, 30,979,717 shares of our Common
Stock were issued and outstanding.

How to vote
Submitting a proxy via mail, the Internet or telephone

You may submit your proxy with voting instructions by mail by following the instructions set forth on the |
enclosed proxy card. Specifically, if you are a stockholder of record on the Record Date you may vote by \
mailing your proxy card, with voting instructions, 1o the address listed on your proxy card.

If you hold your shares through a stock broker, nomince, fiduciary or other custodian, you may also be
able to vote by calling the toll-free telephone number listed on your proxy card or visiting the website address
listed on your proxy card. If you choose (o submit your proxy with voting instructions by tclephone or through
the Internet, you will be required to provide your assigned control number noted on the enclosed proxy card
before your proxy will be accepted. In addition to the instructions that appear on the enclosed proxy card,
siep-by-step instructions will be provided by recorded telephone message or at the designated website on the
internet. Voles submitted by telephone or via the Internet must be received by 11:39 p.m., EDT, on June 4,
2008 in order for them to be counted at the Annual Meeting,

Pursuant to new rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC™), we are making our proxy
materials available 1o beneficial owners of our siock clectronically over the Internet rather than mailing the
proxy materials. Accordingly, we are sending a Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials to our
beneficial owners. All beneficial owners will have the ability to access the proxy materials, including this
Proxy Statement and our 2007 Annual Report, on the website referred to in the notice or to request a printed
set of the proxy materials. lnstructions on how to access the proxy malterials over the Internet or to request a
printed copy may be found in the notice. In addition, beneficial owners may request (0 receive proxy materials
in printed form by mail or electronicalty by email on an ongoing basis.

The new SEC rules require us to notify all stockholders, including those stockholders to whom we have
mailed proxy materials, of the availability of our proxy materials through the Internet.

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials
for the Stockholder Meeting to be held on June 5, 2008

Our Proxy Statement and 2007 Annual Report to Stockholders are available at
http://ww3i.ics.adp.com/streetlink/mktx
Voting your shares in person at the Annual Meeting

You may also attend the Annual Mecting and vote your shares in person by ballot. If you plan to atend
the Annual Meeting, you will need to bring proof of your ownership ot our Common Stock as of the close of
business on April 11, 2008, the Record Date. If you hold shares in “street name™ (that is, through a bank,
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broker or other nominee) and would like to attend the Annual Meeting and vote in person, you will necd to
bring an account siatement or other acceptable evidence ol ownership of Common Stock as of the close of
business on April |1, 2008. Alternatively, in order 1o vole, you may contact the person in whose name your
shares are registered and obtain a proxy [rom thal person and bring it 1o the Annual Meeting.

Revoking a proxy

A proxy that was submitted by mail may be revoked at any time before it s exercised by (1) giving
written notice revoking the proxy to our General Counsel and Corporate Secretary at MarketAxess Holdings
Inc., 140 Broadway, 42nd Floor, New York, NY 10005, (2) subsequently filing another proxy bearing a later
date or (3) attending the Annual Meeting and voting in person by ballot.

A proxy that was submitied via the Internet or by telephone may be revoked at any time before it is
exercised by (1) executing a later-dated proxy card via the internct or by telephone or (2) attending the Annual
Meceting and voting in person by ballot.

Your attendance at the Annual Meeting in and of itself wilt not automatically revoke a proxy that
was submitted via the Internet, by telephone or by mail.

Broker authority to vote

If your shares are held in a stock brokerage account or by a bank or other nominee, you are considered to
be the beneficial owner of shares held in street name. These proxy materials are being forwarded to you by
your broker or nomineg, who is considered (o be the holder of record with respect to your shares. As the
beneficial owner, you have the right to direct your broker or nominee how (o vote by filting out the voting
instruction {orm provided by your broker or nomince. Telephone and Internet voling options may also be
available to beneficial owners. As a beneficial owner, you are also invited 10 attend the Annual Mecting, but
you must obtain a proxy from the holder of record of your shares in order to vote in person at the Annual
Mecting.

If your shares are held in street name, your broker or nomince will ask you how you want your shares to
be voted. If you provide voting instructions, your shares must be voted as you direct, If you do not furnish
voting instruciions, one of two things can happen, depending vpon whether a proposal is “routine.” Under the
rules that govern brokers that have record ownership of shares beneficiatly owned by their clients, brokers
have discretion 1o cast votes on reutine matlers, such as the election of directors and ratification of the
appointment of independent registered public accounting firms, without voting instructions from their clients.
Brokers are not permitted, however, to cast voles on “non-routine” matiers, such as approval of the 2008
Incentive Program, without such voting instructions. A “broker non-vole™ occurs when a broker holding shares
for a beneficial owner does not vole on a particular proposal because the broker does not have discretionary
voting power for that proposal and has not received voting instructions from the beneficial owner,

Quorum

The presence at the Annual Meeting, in person or by proxy, of the holders of a majority of the shares of
Common Stock outstanding on the Record Date will constitute a quorum, permitting the Annual Meeting to
conduct its business. Subject 1o the rules regarding the votes necessary to adopt the proposals discussed below,
abstentions and broker non-voles (as described above) will be counted for purposes of determining whether a
quorum is present. Once a share is represented for any purpose at the Annual Meeting, it will be deemed
present for quorum purposes {or the remainder of the Annual Meeting (including any meeting resulting from
an adjournment or postponement of the Annual Meeting, unless a new record daie is set).

Votes necessary to approve each proposal

Election of Directors.  The affirmative vole of a plurality of the votes cast at the Annual Meeting, either
in person or by proxy, is required for the election of directors. This means that the individuals who receive the
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highest number of votes will be elected as directors, up o the maximum number of dircctors to be chosen at
the Annual Mecting.

Other Items.  For cach other item, the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares present
in person or represented by proxy and entitled to vote on the item will be required for approval.

Abstentions and broker non-voles will not be voted cither in favor of or against any of the proposals. For
the election of directors, which requires a plurality of the votes cast, votes withheld from one or more
nominees will be excluded entirely from the vote and will have no effect on the outcome. For the ratification
of our independent registered public accounting firm and the approval of the 2008 Incentive Program, each of
which proposals will be decided by the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast, abstentions will be
counted for purposes of determining the number of voles cast on the proposal and will have the same effect as
ncgative voles, but broker non-votes will not be counted as shares present and entitled to vote.

Certain stockholder-related matters

We have not received notice of any stockholder proposals that may be properly presented at the Annual
Meeting. For information regarding inclusion of stockholder proposals in our 2009 Annual Mecting, sce the
information in this Proxy Statement under the section heading Other Matters — Stockholder Proposals for
2009 Annual Meeting.

AVAILABILITY OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS

Householding of Annual Meeting materials

Some banks, brokers and other nominee record holders may participate in the practice of “houscholding”
proxy statements and their accompanying documents. This means that only one copy of our Proxy Statcment
is sent to multiple stockholders in your household. We will promptly deliver a separate copy of these
documents 1o you upon written or oral request 1o our Investor Relations Department at MarketAxess Holdings
Inc., 140 Broadway, 42nd Floor, New York, NY 10005 or 212-813-6000. If you want to receive separate
copies of our proxy statements in the future, or if you are receiving multiple copics and would like to receive
only one copy per household, you should contact your bank, broker or other nominee record holder, or you
may conact us at the above address and phone number.

Additional information

We are required 1o file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other reports with the
SEC. Copics of these filings arc available through our Internet website at www.marketaxess.com or the SEC’s
website at www.sec.gov. We will furnish copies of our SEC filings {without ¢xhibits}, including our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007, without charge to any stockholder upon written
or oral request 1o our Investor Relations Department at MarketAxess Holdings Inc., 140 Broadway, 42nd Floor,
New York, NY 100035 or 212-813-6000.

PROPOSAL 1 — ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The first proposal 10 be voled on at the Annual Meeting is the election of directors. Our Board currently
consists of 11 direciors, nine of whom are not our employees. Except for Mr. Burkhardt, cach of the nominees
for director was elected by the Company’s stockholders on June 7, 2007. Mr. Burkhardt is standing for
election for the first time. Mr. Lyski has chosen not to stand for re-election and, as a result, the Board has
reduced the number of directors constituting the full Board from 11 to ten. The directors will be clected for a
term which begins at the 2008 Anaual Mecting of Stockholders and cnds at the 2009 Annual Mecling of
Stockholders. Each director will hold office until such director’s successor has been clected and qualified, or
until such director’s carlicr resignation or removal.




Your vote

If you sign the enclosed proxy card and return il to the Company, your proxy will be voled FOR all
directors, for terms expiring in 2009, uniess you specifically indicale on the proxy card that you are
withholding authority to vote for onc or more of the nominces.

A piurality of the voles cast by stockholders entitled to vote at the Apnual Meeting is required lor the
election of directors. Accordingly, the directorships to be filled at the Annual Meeting will be filled by the
nominees receiving the highest number of votes. In the election of directors, votes may be cast in favor of or
withheld with respect 1o any or all nominees. Voles that are withheld will be excluded entirely from the vote
and will have no effect on the outcome of the vote.

Board recommendation
The Board recommends that you vote “FOR™ the election of each of the following nominees:

Richard M. McVey
Roger Burkhardt
Stephen P. Casper
David G. Gomach
Carlos M. Hernandez,
Ronakd M, Hersch
Jerome S. Markowitz
T. Kelley Millet
Nicolas S. Rohatyn
John Steinhardt

Each of these nominees is currently serving as a director on our Board, and each nomince has agreed (o
serve on the Board if he is clected. If any nominee is unable (or for whatever reason declines) to serve as a
director at any time before the Annual Meeting, proxies may be voted for the election of a qualified substitute
designated by the current Board, or else the size of the Board will be reduced accordingly, Biographical
information about cach of the nominces is included under Direcror information below,

Director information

AL the recommendation of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, the Board has
nominated the persons named below 10 serve as directors of the Company for a term beginning at the 2008
Annual Meeting of Stockholders and ending at the 2009 Annual Mceting of Stockholders.

Richard M. McVey Richard M. McVey (48) has been Chicf Executive Officer and Chairman

Director since April 2000 of our Board of Directors since our inceplion. As an employee of
LP. Morgan & Co., one of our founding broker-dealers, Mr. McVey was
instrumental in the founding of MarketAxess in April 2000. Prior to
founding MarketAxess, Mr. McVey was Managing Director and Head of
North America Fixed Income Sales at JPMorgan, where he managed the
institutional distribution of fixed-income securities to investors, from
1996 until April 2000. In that capacity, he was responsible for
developing and maintaining senior client relationships across all market
arcas, including (ixed-income. equities, emerging markets, {oreign
exchange and derivatives, From 1992 10 1996, Mr. McVey led
JPMorgan’s North America Futures and Options Business, including
institutional brokerage, research, operations, finance and compliance.
Mr, McVey received a B.A. in Finance from Miami (Ohio) University
and an M.B.A. from Indiana University.

Roger Burkhardt Roger Burkhardr (47) is the President and Chiel Executive Officer of

Director since July 2007 Ingres Corporation, a provider of business open source software and
solutions, a position he has held since July 2007. Mr. Burkhardt joined
Ingres Corporation as President and Chiel Operating Officer in July




Stephen P. Casper
Director since April 2004

David G. Gomach
Director since February 2005

Carlos M. Hernandez
Director since February 2006

Ronald M. Hersch
Director since July 2000

2006. From 2000 until 2006, Mr. Burkhardt was Chiel Technology
Officer and Exccutive Vice President of NYSE Group, Inc. Prior 1o his
tenure with the NYSE, Mr. Burkhardi held various capital markels-
related technology positions, including serving as President of listed
equities at Optimark Technologics, Inc., and director of capital markets
at IBM. Mr. Burkhardi holds bachelors and maslers degrees in physics
from Oxford Universily and an M.B.A. in finance from New York
University.

Stephen P. Casper (58) is the Chairman and Chicf Executive Officer of
Charter Atlantic Corporation, the holding company of Fischer Francis
Trees & Watts, Inc. (“FFTW™), a specialist manager of U.S., global and
international {ixed income portfolios for institwtiona! clients, and
Malbec Partners, a manager of single-strategy hedge funds. From April
2004 1o January 2008, Mr. Casper was the President and CEO of
FFTW. Mr. Casper joined FFTW as Chief Financial Officer in 1990
and was appoinled Chief Operating Officer in May 2001. From 1984
until 1990, Mr. Casper was Treasurer of the Rockefeller Family Office.
Mr. Casper is a director of FFTW Funds, Inc., a publicly traded mutual
fund. Mr. Casper is a presiding director of the board of The Deposilory
Trust & Clearing Corporation and its subsidiaries, the Depository Trust
Company, the National Securities Clearing Corporation, the Emerging
Markets Clearing Corporation and the Fixed Income Clearing
Corporation. Mr. Casper is a Certified Public Accountant and received a
B.B.A. in accounting from Baruch College, where he graduated magna
cum laude, Beta Gamma Sigma, and an M.S. in finance and accounting
from The Wharton School at the University of Pennsylvania.

David G. Gomach (49) was the Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of
School Specialty, Inc. from Scptember 2006 through June 2007 having
joined as Executive Vice President — Finance in August 2006. Prior to
School Specialty, Mr. Gomach held various positions at the Chicago
Mercantile Exchange (CME) from 1987 to 2004. From Junc 1957 until
his retirement from the CME in November 2004, he served as Chief
Financial Officer. From 1996 until 1997, Mr. Gomach served as Vice
President, Internal Audit and Administration. Also, during his tenure at
the CME, he was a Senior Director and Assistant Controller. Prior to
joining the CME, Mr. Gomach held positions at Perkin-Elmer, Singer
Corporation and Mercury Marine, a subsidiary of Brunswick
Corporation. Mr. Gomach is a Certilied Public Accountant and received
a B.S. from the University of Wisconsin-LaCrosse and an M.B.A. from
Roosevelt University.

Carlos M. Hernandez (46) is the Head of Global Equities tor
JPMorgan. Mr. Hernandez has been with JPMorgan since 1986,
working on a wide array of advisory and financing transactions for both
corporations and governments, across various product groups and
geographic regions. Prior to his current position, Mr. Hernandez
spearheaded all forms of capital raising and distribution in the fixed
income, syndicated loans and equity markets. Previously, Mr.
Hernandez managed the Institutional Equities business for the
Americas. Before joining the Equities Division, Mr. Hernandez served
as JPMorgan’s regional executive for Latin America. Mr. Hernandez is
a member of JPMorgan’s Global Investment Banking Management
Commitice.

Ronald M. Hersch (60) is Managing Director Emeritus of Bear, Stearns
& Co. Ing., where he has been employed since 1992, Until April 1,
2007, Mr. Hersch was a Senior Managing Director responsible for
directing the firm’s futures business as well as coordinating eCommerce




Jerome S. Markowitz
Director since March 2001

T. Kelley Millet
Director since April 2007

Nicolas S. Rohatyn
Director since April 2000

John Steinhardt
Director since April 2000

activitics and initiatives within the Fixed Income Division. Mr. Hersch
is a former Chairman of the Futures Industry Association, where he
now serves on the board of directors and Executive Committee. Mr.
Hersch has previously served on the board of directors of Bond Desk
Group, LLC, the Chicago Board of Trade, and the National Futures
Association, the sell-regulalory organization responsibie for futures
indusiry oversight. Mr. Hersch received a B.A. from Long Island
University.

Jerome 5. Markowirz (68) has been a partner of Conifer Scecurities, LLC
since September 2006. Prior to that Mr. Markowiiz was actively
involved in managing a private investment portfolio since 1998. Prior to
that, Mr. Markowitz was Director of Capital Markets for Montgomery
Securities from 1987 1o 1998, a Managing Director at Rothchilds
Securities Inc. [rom 1986 to 1987, and a Senior Managing Director at
Prudential Bache from 1983 10 1986.

T. Kellev Millet (48) has been President of MarketAxess since
September 2006, with primary responstbility for expanding and
diversifying the Company’s North American business. Prior to joining
us, Mr. Millet served as Senior Managing Director, Co-Head of Global
Credit Trading a1 Bear Stearns from 2001 to 2006, where he was
responsible for origination, syndication, cash, derivatives and flow
trading for the investment grade and emerging markets businesses, as
well as high-yicld derivatives. Prior to joining Bear Stearns in 2001,
Mr. Millet had a 19-year career with JPMorgan, where he held positions
of increasing responsibility, culminating in his appointment as Global
Head, Capital Markets and Syndicate.

Nicolus S. Rohatyn (47) has been the Chief Executive Officer and
Chiefl Investment Officer of TRG Management L.P., the investment
manager of the TRG Global Opportunity Master Fund, Lid., since
March 2003. From 1982 until 2001, Mr. Rohatyn held a serics of
positions at JPMorgan, most recently as Exccutive Director of
JPMorgan and Co-Head of LabMorgan from March 2000 until
September 2001 and as Managing Director and co-Head of Global
Fixed Income from January 1999 until March 2000. Mr. Rohatyn was
also a member of the executive management team at JPMorgan from
January 1995 until December 2000. Mr. Rohatyn founded the Emerging
Markets Traders Association in 1990 and he served as its Chairman
from then until 1994. He currently serves on the board of The Alvin
Ailey American Dance Theatre. Mr. Rohatyn received a B.A. in
Economics from Brown University.

John Steinhardr (54) was Chief Executive Officer and the Chief
Investment Officer of Spectrum Investment Management from April
2005 10 December 2005. Uniil October 2004, Mr. Steinhardt was Head
of North American Credit Markets for JPMorgan Chase & Co. and a
member of the Management Committee of the Invesiment Banking
Division of JPMorgan Chase & Co. Prior to the merger of J.P. Morgan
& Co. and the Chase Manhattan Bank, Mr. Steinhardt was the Head of
U.S. Securities at Chase Securitics Inc. and a member of the
Management Committee from 1996 to 2000. Mr. Steinhardt received a
B.S. in Economics from St. Lawrence University and an M.B.A from
Columbia University.




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND BOARD MATTERS

Director independence

The Board of Directors has determined that seven of our nominees for director, Messrs. Burkhardt,
Casper, Gomach, Hersch, Markowitz, Rohatyn and Steinhardt, currently meet the independence requirements
contained in the NASDAQ listing standards and applicable tax and sccurities rules and regulations. None of
these directors has a relationship with the Company or its subsidiaries which would interfere with the exercise
of independemt judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director, Each of these directors is
“independent” as defined within the meaning of the NASDAQ listing standards. In compliance with the
NASDAQ listing standards, we have a Board of Directors comprised of a majority of independent directors.

The NASDAQ listing standards have both objective tests and a subjective test for determining who is an
“indcpendent director.”” The objective tests state, for example, that a director is not considered independent if
he is an employee of the Company or is a partner in or exceulive officer of an entity to which the Company
made, or from which the Company received, payments in the current or any of the past three fiscal years that
exceed 5% of the recipient’s consolidated gross revenue for that year. The subjective test states that an
independent director must be a person who lacks a relationship that, in the opinion of the Board, would
interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director.

None of the non-employee directors were disqualified from “independent” status under the objective tests.
In assessing independence under the subjective test, the Board took inio account the standards in the objective
tests, and reviewed and discussed additional information provided by the directors and the Company with
regard to each director’s business and personai activities as they may relate to MarkelAxess’ management,
Based on all of the foregoing, as required by the NASDAQ listing standards, the Board made a substantive
determination as to cach of the seven independent directors that no relationship exists which, in the opinion of
the Board, would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a
director. After reviewing the relationship between the Company and Mr. Hernandez’s employer, JP Morgan
Chase & Co. ("JPMorgan™), the Company has decided not 1o treat Mr. Hernandez as an independent director
for purposes of the NASDAQ listing standards and applicable SEC rules. In making this determination, the
Board considered that JPMorgan represented less than 10% of the Company’s annual revenue in cach of 2007,
2006 and 2005, and has trom time to time provided certain investment banking services to the Company,
including acting as an underwriter of our initial public offering in 2004.

The Board has not established categorical standards or guidelines to make these subjective determinations,
but considers all relevant facts and circumstances,

In addition to Board-level standards for director independence, the directors who serve on the Audit
Committee cach satisfy standards established by the SEC providing that to qualify as “independent”™ for
purposes of membership on the Audit Committee, members of audit commitiees may not accept directly or
indirectly any consulting, advisory or other compensatory fee from the Company other than their director
compensation. Also, each of the directors who serve on the Compensation Committee has been determined to
be a “non-employee director” for purposes of the applicable SEC rules and regulations and an “outside
dircctor”™ for purposes of the applicable tax rules.

In making its independence delerminations, the Board considered transactions occurring since the
beginning of 2005 between the Company and entities associated with the independent directors or members of
their immediate family. In cach case, the Board determined that, because of the nature of the director’s
relationship with the entity and/or the amount involved, the relationship did not impair the director’s
independence. The Board’s independence determinations included reviewing the following relationships:

» Mr. Casper was previously an executive officer of FFTW, which represented less than 1% of the
Company’s annual revenue in cach of the past three years. FFTW is a wholly-owned subsidiary of BNP
Paribas, which represented less than 10% of the Company’s annual revenue in cach of the past three
years.




* Mr. Hersch is an employee, bul not an executive officer, of Bear, Stearns & Co., Inc., which represented
less than 5% of thc Company’s annual revenue in cach of the past three years.

« Mr. Rohatyn is an executive olficer of TRG Management L.P., the investment manager of the TRG
Global Opportunity Master Fund, Lid. TRG Global Opportunity Master Fund, Lid. represented less than
1% of the Company’s annual revenue in each of the past three years.

* Mr. Steinhardt was previously an employee, but not an executive officer, of JPMorgan, which
represented less than 10% of the Company’s annual revenue in cach of the past three years.

How nominees to our Board are selected

Candidates for election to our Board of Directors are nominated by our Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee and ratified by our full Board of Directors [or nomination 1o the stockholders. The
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee operates under a charter, which is avaitable on our
corporaic websile al www.marketaxess.com.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will give due consideration to candidates
recommended by stockholders. Stockholders may recommend candidales for the Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee’s consideration by submitting such recommendations direetly 10 the Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committee by mail or electronically. In making recommendations, stockholders should
be mindful of the discussion of minimum qualifications set forth in the tfollowing paragraph. However, just
because a recommended individual meets the minimum qualification standards does not imply that the
Nominating and Corporale Governance Committee will necessarily nominate the person so recommended by a
stockholder. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee may engage outside search firms to assist
in identifying or evaluating polential nominees. In 2007, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Commit-
tee retained an outside scarch firm to identify and assist in evaluating potential nominees in connection with
the nomination and election of Mr. Burkhardt 10 our Board of Dircectors.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Commitiee believes that the minimum qualifications for
serving on our Board are that a nominee have substantial experience working as an executive officer for, or
serving on the board of, a public company, or that he or she demonstrates by significant accomplishment in
another given field of endeavor, an ability to make a meaningfut contribution to the oversight and governance
of a company having a scope and size similar to our Company. A director must have an exemplary reputation
and record for honesty in his or her personal dealings and business or professional activity. All directors
should possess a basic understanding of financial matters; have an ability 1o review and understand the
Company’s financial and other reports; and be able 1o discuss such matters intelligently and effectively. He or
she also needs 10 exhibit qualities of independence in thought and action. A candidate should be commitied
first and foremost to the interests of the stockholders of the Company. Persons who represent a particular
special interest, ideology, narrow perspective or point of view would not, therefore, gencrally be considered
zood candidates for election to our Board.

Board committees

The Audit Committee of our Board of Directors reviews, acts on and reports to our Board of Directors
with respect to various auditing and accounting matters, including the recommendation of our independent
registered public accounting firm, the scope of the annual audits, the fees to be paid to the independent
registered public accouating firm, the performance of the independent registered public accounting firm and
our accounting practices. The Audit Commiltee currently consists of Messrs. Gomach (Chair), Casper, Hersch
and Markowitz. The Board of Dircctors has determined that cach member of the Audit Committee is an
independent director in accordance with NASDAQ listing standards and that Mr. Casper and Mr. Gomach are
both Audit Committee financial experts, as delined by SEC guidelines and as required by the applicable
NASDAQ listing standards.

The Compensation Commitiee of the Board of Directors recommends, reviews and oversees the salaries,
benefits and stock option plans for cur employees, consullants, direclors (other than non-employee directors)
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and other individuals whom we compensate. The Compensation Comimittee also administers our compensation
plans. The Compensation Commiltee currently consists of Messrs. Steinhardt (Chair), Lyski and Rohatyn. The
Board of Directors has determined that each member of the Compensation Commitiee is an “independent
dircctor” in accordance with NASDAQ listing standards, a “non-cmployee director” under the applicable SEC
rules and regulations and an “outside director” under the applicable tax rules.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Commitiee of the Board of Directors selecls nominees for
director positions (o be recommended by our Board of Directors for clection as directors and for any vacancies
in such positions, develops and recommends for our Board of Directors the Corporate Governance Guidelines
of the Company and oversees the annual review of the performance of the Board of Directors, cach director
and each commitlee. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee currently consists of
Messrs. Casper (Chair), Hersch and Rohatyn. The Board of Dircctors has determined that cach member of the
Nominating and Corporate Governance Commitlee is an independent director in accordance with NASDAQ
listing standards.

In October 2007, in conjunction with its adoption of the Corporate Governance Guidelines and its
designation of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Commitice, the Board established the position of
Lead Independent Director and appointed Mr. Rohatyn to such position. The Lead Independent Director is
responsible for coordinating the activities of the non-management directors, including presiding over the
exccutive sessions of non-management directors,

Meetings and attendance

During the year ended December 31, 2007, the full Board held five meetings and acted by unanimous
wriltcn consent on one other occasion; the Audit Committee held six meetings and acted by unanimous written
consent on one olther occasion; the Compensation Committee held five meetings and acted by unanimous
written consent on (wo other occasions; and the Nominating Committee (reconstituted as the Nominating and
Corpotate Governance Committee in October 2007) acted by unanimous writien consent on one occasion. The
non-management directors met in executive session without management directors or employces present on
four occasions during 2007. We expect each director 1o atiend cach meeting of the full Board and of the
committees on which he serves and to attend the annual meeting of stockholders. All directors attended at
least 75% of the mectings of the full Board and the meetings of the committees on which they served, other
than Mr. Rohatyn. Messrs. McVey, Casper, Gomach, Hernandez, Lyski, Millet and Stcinhardt attended our
2007 annual meeting of stockholders.

Code of Conduct, Code of Ethics and other governance documents

The Board has adopted a Code of Conduct that applies 1o all officers, directors and employees, and a
Code of Ethics for the Chief Executive Officer and Senior Financial Officers. Both the Code of Conduct and
the Code of Ethics for the Chief Exccutive Officer and Senior Financial Officers, as well as any amendments
to, or waivers under, the Code of Ethics for the Chief Executive Otlicer and Senior Financial Officers, can be
accessed in the nvestor Relations — Corporate Governance section of our website al www.marketaxess.com.

You may also obtain a copy of these documents by writing 1o MarkctAxess Holdings Inc., 140 Broadway,
42nd Fioor, New York, New York 10005, Attention: Investor Relations.

Copics of the charters of our Board's Audit Commitiee, Compensation Committee and Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committee, as well as copies of the Company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines,
certificate of incorporation and bylaws, can be accessed in the Investor Relations — Corporate Governance
section of our website.

Communicating with our Board members

Although our Board of Directors has not adopted a formal process for stockholder communications with
the Board, we make cvery effort to ensure that the views of stockholders are heard by the Board or by
individuai dircctors, as applicable, and we believe that this has been an elfective process 1o date. Stockholders
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may communicate with the Board by sending a letter to the MarketAxess Holdings Inc. Board of Directors,
c/o General Counsel, 140 Broadway, 42nd Floor, New York, New York 10005, The General Counsel will
receive the correspondence and Torward it to the Chairman of the Board or 10 any individual director or
directors 10 whom the communication is directed, as appropriate. Notwithstanding the above, the General
Counsel has the authority to discard or disregard any communication that is unduly hostile, threatening, illegal
or otherwise inappropriate or to take any other appropriate actions with respect to such communications.

In addition, any person, whether or not an employee, who has a concern regarding the conduct of the
Company or our employees, including with respect 10 our accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing
issues, may, in a confidential or anonymous manner, communicate that concern in writing by addressing a letter to
the Chairman of the Audit Commitiee, c/o Corporate Secretary, at our corporate headyuarters address, which is 140
Broadway, 42nd Floor, New York, New York 10005, or electronically, at our corporate website, www.marketax-
ess.com under the heading Investor Relations — Board of Directors — Confidential Ethics Web Form,

Director compensation

Each non-employee director, other than Mr. Hernandez, receives an annual retainer of $44,000. Effective
January 1, 2008, the Lead Independent Director receives a supplemental annual retainer of $10,000 and the
chairman of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Commitlee receives a supplemental annual retainer of
$7.500. The supplemental annual retainer for the chairman of the Audit Committee is $15,000 and the
supplemental annual retainer for the chairman of the Compensation Committee is $7,500. In addition, cach
non-cmployee director other than Mr. Hernandez receives $1,000 for each meeting of our Board of Directors,
$2.,000 for each meeting of the Audit Committee, and $1.000 for cach meeting of the Compensation
Committce and the Nominating and Corporate Governance Commitice that the director altends. In August
2007, we granted 2,500 shares of restricted stock and options to purchase 2,500 shares of our Common Stock
to each non-employee director, other than Mr. Hernandez. One-half of these awards vested on November 30,
2007 and the balance vests on May 31, 2008. The exercise price of the stock options is equal to the fair
market value of the stock ($16.99 per share) on the date of grant. These awards were made under the
Company’s 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (Amended and Restated Effective April 28, 2006) (the “Stock Incentive
Plan™). The Board of Directors recommends, reviews and oversees the stock option plans for our non-
employee directors. Mr. Hernandez” employer, JPMorgan, docs not permit Mr. Hernandez 1o receive compen-
sation for his service as a director and, therefore, he receives no cash payments or grants of restricled stock or
stock options from us. In the future, we expect 10 continue to compensate our non-employee directors with a
combination of cash and grants of restricted stock or stock options.

The Company and the Board of Directors believe that cquity-based awards are an important factor in
aligning the long-term linancial inierest of the non-employee directors and stockholders. As such, in Oclober
2007 the Board of Directors adopted stock ownership guidelines for the non-employee directors requiring that
they hold not less than a number of shares of Common Stock equal in value to two times the annual base cash
retainer payable to a director, calculated as of the October 24, 2007 effective date of the policy. All non-
employce directors must be in compliance within the later of three years from the ctfective date of the policy
or three years after the director becomes a Board member, and the designated level of ownership must be
maintained throughout the non-employee director’s service with the Company. Only shares of Common Stock
owned outright in any form, including shares purchased and beld personally and vested restricted shares count
toward the minimum ownership requirement; unvested stock options and unvested restricted shares are
excluded. Currently, all non-employee directors except Mr. Burkhardt, who joined the Board in July 2007, are
in compliance. Mr. Burkhardi is expected to be in compliance within the required timelrame.




Director Compensation for Fiscal 2007

Fees Earned or

Paid in Cash Stock Awards Option Awards Total
Name¢ (% ($HIHD) {($)(IHD) {$)
Roger Burkhardt .. ... . ... ... ... 44,500 24,835 10,945 80,280
Stephen P. Casper. . ... . 67,833 44,125 20,122 132,080
David G.Gomach . ................. 75,208 44,125 20,122 139,455
Carlos M. Hernandez .. .............. — — —_ —
Ronmald M. Hersch ....... ... ... ..... 52,333 44,125 20,122 116,580
Wayne D. Lyski............. ... ... 55,333 44,125 20,122 119,580
Jerome S, Markowitz .. ... oL oL 64,333 44,125 20,122 128,580
Nicolas . Rohatyn .. ........ ... .... 66,750 44,125 20,122 130,997
John Steinhardt . ... ... L oL, 65,250 44,125 20,122 129,497

(1} The amounts reported reflect the dollar amount recognized for financial statement reporting purposes [or the fiscal year ended December 31,

2007, in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment™ ("FAS 123R™).

without regand 1o the estimated forfeiture related to service-based vesting conditions. of awards pursuant to the Stock Incentive Plan, and thus

inchide amounts atributable to awards granted in and prior to 2007, Assumptions used in the caleulation of this amount are included in

footnote 11 to the Company's audited linancial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007, included in the Company’s Annuak
Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 3, 2008. The amounts reflect the accounting expense for these awards and do not corre-
spond 1o the actual value that may be recognized by such persons with respect to these awards. The gram date fair value of the stock awards

is $16.99 per share, and the grant date fair value of the option awards is $7.4874 per share, in each case caleulated in accordance with

FAS 123R.

-
(]
—

outstanding at the end of fiscal year 2007 for ¢ach non-employee director:

Aggregate Number of Stock

Awards Outstanding at

The table below sets forth information regarding the aggregate number of stock awards and the aggregate number of options awards

Aggregate Number of Option
Awards Outstanding at
Fiscal Year End (#)

Name Fiscal Year End (#)
Roger Burkhardt. .. ... ... .. ... ... 1,250
Stephen P. Casper. ... ... ..ol 1,250
David G. Gomach . .................... 1,250
Carlos M. Hernandez ... ... ... ... ... —
Ronald M. Hersch .. ........ ... ... ..... 1,250
Wayne D. Lyski....................... 1,250
Jerome S. Markowitz .. .............. ... 1,250
Nicolas S. Rohatyn. . .. .............. ... 1,250
John Steinhardt .. ... ... L L L L 1,250

2,500
22,500
17,500
22,500
22,500
30,834
30.834
22,500

PROPOSAL 2 - RATIFICATION OF SELECTION OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC
ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Audit Committee of our Board has appointed the firm of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (“PwC™) as
our independent regisiered public accounting firm to audit our consolidated financial statements for the year

ending December 31, 2008, and the Board is asking stockholders to ratify that selection. Although current law,
rules and regulations, as well as the charter of the Audit Committee, require our independent registered public

accounting firm to be engaged, retained and supervised by the Audit Committee, the Board considers the
selection of our independent registered public accounting firm to be an important matter of stockholder
concern and considers a proposal for stockholders to ratify such selection to be an important opportunity for
stockholders to provide direct feedback 10 the Board on an important issue of corporate governance. In the
event that stockholders fail 1o ratify the appointment, the Audit Committee will reconsider whether or not to

retain PwC, bul may ultimately determine 10 retain PwC as our independent registered public accounting {irm.
Even if the appointment is ratified, the Audit Committee, in its sole discretion, may direct the appointmeat of
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a differeat independent registered public accounting firm at any time during the year if the Audit Committee
determines that such a change would be in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders.

Your vote

Unless proxy cards are otherwise marked, the persons named as proxics will vote FOR the ratification of
PwC as the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2008.
Approval of this proposal requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares present in
person or represented by proxy and entitled to vote on the proposal.

Board recommendation

The Board recommends that you vote “FOR” ratification of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the
Company’s independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2008,

Information about our independent registered public accounting firm

PwC has audited our consolidated financial statements each year since our formation in 2000. Represen-
tatives of PwC will be present at our Annual Mecting, will have the opportunity to make a statement if they
desire to do so, and will be available to respond to appropriate questions from stockholders,

Audit and other fees

The aggregate fees billed by our independent registered public accounting [irm for professional services
rendered in connection with the audit of our annual financial statements set forth in our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 and the audit of our broker-dealer subsidiaries’
annual financial statements, as well as fees paid to PwC for tax compliance and planning and other services,
arc set forth below.

Except as set forth in the following sentence, the Audit Commitiee, or a designated member thereof, pre-
approves 100% of all audit, audited-related, tax and other services rendered by PwC to the Company or its
subsidiarics. The Audit Committee has authorized the Chiel Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer
to purchase permitted non-audit services rendered by PwC to the Company or its subsidiaries up to and
including a limit of $10,000 per service and an annual limit of $20,000,

Immediately following the completion of cach fiscal year, the Company’s independent registered public
accounting tirm shall submit to the Audit Committee (and the Audit Committee shall request from the
independent registered public accounting firm), as soon as possible, a formal written statement describing:
(i) the independent registered public accounting firm’s internal quality-control procedures; (ii) any material
issues raised by the most recent internal quality-control review or peer review of the independent registered
public accounting firm, or by any inquiry or investigation by governmental or professional authorities, within
the preceding five years, respecting one or more independent audits carried out by the independent registered
public accounting firm, and any steps taken to deal with any such issues; and (iti) all relationships between the
independent registered public accounting firm and the Company, including at least the matters set forth in
Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1 (Independence Discussion with Audit Committees), in order to
assess the independent registered public accounting firm's independence.

Immediately following the completion of cach liscal year, the independent registered public accounting
firm also shall submit to the Audit Committee (and the Audit Committec shall request from the independent
registered public accounting firm), a formal written statement of the fees billed by the independent registered
public accounting firm to the Company in cach of the last two fiscal years for each of the following categories
of services rendered by the independent registered public accounting firm: (i) the audit of the Company’s
annual financial stalements and the reviews of the financial statements included in the Company’s Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-Q or services that are normally provided by the independent registered public accounting
firm in connection with statutory and regulalory filings or engagements; (i) assurance and related services not
included in clause (i) that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of the Company’s
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financial statements, in the aggregate and by each service; (iii) 1ax compliance, tax advice and tax planning
services, in the aggregate and by cach service; and (iv) all other products and services rendered by the
independent registered public accounting firm, in the aggregate and by cach service.

Set forth below is information regarding fees paid by the Company 1o PwC during the fiscal years ended
December 31, 2007 and 2006.

Fee Category 2007 2006
Audit Fees(l) .. e e $1,358,785  $1,567,213
Tax Fees(2) . .o e e 61,800 45,220
Audit Related Fees ..o i e e — 7,000
AlLOther Fees . . oo e e e e 3,651 1,626
) $1,424.236  $1,621,059

(1) The aggregate fees incurred include amounts for the audit of the Company's consulidated financial statements (including fees for the
audit of our internal controls over financial reporting) and the audit of our broker-dealer subsidiaries” annual financial statements,

(2) The aggregate fees incurred for tax services include amounts in connection with tax compliance and tax consulting services.

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Audit Committee currently consists of Messrs, Gomach (Chair), Casper, Hersch and Markowitz. Each
member of the Audit Committee is independent, as independence is defined for purposes of Audit Commitice
membership by the listing standards of NASDAQ and the applicabie rules and regulations of the SEC. The
Board has determined that cach member of the Audit Committee is linancially literate, in other words, is able
1o read and understand fundamental financial statements, including the Company’s balance sheet, income
statement and cash flow statement, as required by NASDAQ rules. In addition, the Board has determined that
both Mr. Gomach and Mr. Casper satisly the NASDAQ rule requiring that at least one member of our Board’s
Audit Commiltee have past employment experience in finance or accounting, requisite professional certifica-
tion in accounting, or any other comparable experience or background that results in the member’s financial
sophistication, including being or having been a chief executive officer, chiefl financial officer or other senior
officer with financial oversight responsibilities. The Board has also determined that both Mr. Gomach and
Mr. Casper are “linancial experts” as defined by the SEC.

The Audit Committee appoints our independent registered public accounting firm, reviews the pian for
and the results of the independent audit, approves the fees of our independent registered public accounting
firm, reviews with management and the independent registered public accounting firm our quarterly and annual
{inancial statements and our internal accounting, financial and disclosure controls, reviews and approves
transactions between the Company and its officers, directors and affiliates and performs other dutics and
responsibilitics as set forth in a charter approved by the Board of Directors. A copy of the Audit Committee
charter is available in the Investor Relations — Corporate Governance section of the Company’s website.

During fiscal year 2007, the Audit Committec met six times and acted once by unanimous written
consent. The Company’s senior financial management and independent registered public accounting firm were
in attendance at such meetings. Following at least one meeting during cach calendar quarter during 2007, the
Audit Commitiee conducted a private session with the independent registered public accounting firm, without
the presence of management.

The management of the Company is responsible for the preparation and integrity of the financial
reporting information and related systems of internal controls. The Audit Commitice, in carrying out its role,
relies on the Company’s senior management, including particularly its senior financial management, to prepare
financial statements with integrity and objectivity and in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and relics upon the Company's independent registered public accounting {irm to review or audit, as
applicable, such financial statements in accordance with gencrally accepted auditing standards.
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We have reviewed and discussed with senior management the Company’s andited financial statements for
the year ended December 31, 2007, included in the Company’s 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Management has confirmed (o us that such financial statements (i) have been prepared with integrity and
ohjeclivity and are the responsibilily ol management and (ii) have been prepared in conformily with gencrally
accepted accounting principles.

In discharging our oversight responsibility as to the audit process, we have discussed with PwC, the
Company's independent registered public accounting firm, the matiers required to be discussed by Statement
on Auditing Standards No. 61, Communications with Audit Committees (*SAS 617). SAS 61 requires our
independent registered public accounting firm to provide us with additional information regarding the scope
and results of their audit of the Company’s financial statements, including: (i) their responsibilitics under
generally accepled auditing standards, (i} significant accounting policies, (iii) management judgments and
estimates, (iv) any significant accounting adjustments, {v) any disagreements with management and (vi) any
difficulties encountered in performing the avdit.

We have obtained from PwC a letter providing the disclosures required by Independence Standards Board
Standard No. | (Independence Discussion with Audit Committees) with respect (o any relationship between
PwC and the Company that in PwC’s professional judgment may reasonably be thought 1o bear on
independence. PwC has discussed its independence with us, and has confirmed in its letter to us that, in its
professional judgment, it is independent of the Company within the meaning of the United States securitics
laws.

Based upon the foregoing review and discussions with our independent registered public accounting {irm
and senior management of the Company, we have recommended to our Board that the financial statements
prepared by the Company’s management and audited by its independent registered public accounting firm be
included in the Company’s Anpual Repon on Form 10-K, for filing with the SEC. The Commitice also has
appointed PwC as the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm for 2008.

As specified in its Charter, it is not the duty of the Audit Committee to plan or conduct audits or to
determine that the Company’s financial statements are complete and accurate and in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. These are the responsibilities of the Company’s management and independent
registered public accounting firm. In discharging our duties as a Commitiee, we have relied on (i) manage-
ment’s representations Lo us that the financial stalements prepared by management have been prepared with
integrity and objectivity and in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles and (ii} the report of
the Company’s independent registered pubiic accounting firm with respect 1o such financial statements,

Submitied by the Audit Committee of the
Company’s Board of Direclors

David G. Gomach — Chair
Stephen P. Casper

Ronald M. Hersch

Jerome S. Markowitz
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PROPOSAL 3 - APPROVAL OF THE MARKETAXESS HOLDINGS INC,
2008 CODE SECTION 162(m) PERFORMANCE INCENTIVE PROGRAM

General

On March 28, 2008, the Compensation Committee adopted the MarketAxess Heldings Inc. 2008 Code
Section 162(m) Performance Incentive Program {the 2008 Incentive Program™), subject to approval by the
stockholders of the Company, which provides for incentive payments for performance during 2008 (o the
Company’s key executives who may be affected by Section 162(m} of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the “Code™). The 2008 Incentive Program is designed to provide a direct correspondence between
performance and compensation for certain key executives of the Company and to qualify such compensation
for the 1ax deductibility exception under Scection 162(m) of the Code {**Section 162(m)”) while maintaining a
degree of flexibility in the amount of incentive compensation paid to such individuals.

Section 162(m) generally disallows a Federal income tax deduction to any publicly held corporation for
non-performance based compensation paid in excess of $1 million in any taxable year to the chief executive
officer and any other exccutive officer (other than the chief financial officer) employed on the last day of the
taxable year whose compensation is required to be disclosed to stockholders under SEC rules. The 2008
Incentive Program has been structured so that the compensation resulting thereunder would be qualified
“performance-based compensation™ eligible for deductibility. To preserve the tax deductibility of such
compensation, the Company is secking stockholder approval of the 2008 Incentive Program.

The following summary describes the principal provisions of the 2008 Incentive Program. The summary
does not purport to be complete and is qualified in ils entirety by the full text of the 2008 Incentive Program
attached as Appendix A to this Proxy Statement.

Description of 2008 Incentive Program

Under the 2008 Incentive Program, a bonus pool will be established in an amount equal to 32.5% of 30%
of the Company’s 2008 pre-lax operating income before cash bonus expense, if any (the “Bonus Pool™). The
goal of achieving operating income is intended to be a “performance goal” under Section 162(m) and requires
the approval of the stockholders of the Company. The awards under the 2008 Incentive Program are
conditioned upon the stockholders of the Company approving the 2008 Incentive Program and in the event the
necessary stockholder approval is not received, the Participanis will not be entitled to any awards under the
2008 Incentive Program.

Subject to their continued employment from January 1, 2008 through December 31, 2008, our named
executive officers set forth below (the “Participants™) will be entitled to receive a payment from the Bonus
Pool equal 1o the maximum percentage of the Bonus Pool set forth beside their name below:

Maximum Percentage

Name of Bonus Pool
Richard McVey, Chief Executive Officer. ... .. .. .. ... ... .. ity 35%
T, Kelley Millet, President ... ... it i i e ieans 35%
Nicholas Themelis, Chief Information Offtcer . ... ... ... ... . . ... 30%

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Compensation Commitiee has the discretion to pay a Participant an
amounl from the Bonus Pool that is less than, but in no event greater than, the percentage set forth above. Any
amount of the Bonus Pool not paid to a Participant will revert to the gencral funds of the Company.

Amounts payable to the Participants under the 2008 Incentive Program, if any, will be paid in a lump
sum cash payment in calendar year 2009 prompily following the Compensation Commitiee’s writlen
certification of the amount of operating income, if any, earned by the Company. A Participant will be entitled
to a pro rata payment based on actual resuls for the full year if his employment is terminated during 2008 due
to (i) his death, (iiy a termination by the Company without cause (as defined in the employment agreement of
such named executive officer or in the case of Mr. Themelis, as defined in the MarketAxess Holdings Inc.
2004 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated as of April 28, 2006), or (iii) the Participant’s resignation
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for good rcason (as defined in the cmployment agreement of such named executive officer or in the case of
Mr. Themelis, as defined in the MarketAxess Holdings Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and
restated as of April 28, 2006).

The 2008 Incentive Program is not subject to any ol the requirements of the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, nor is it intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code.

Il the 2008 Incentive Program had been in effect during 2007, the amounts that would have been payable
1o Messrs, McVey, Millet and Themelis, before any reduction by the Compensation Commitiee, would have
heen $950.000, $950,000 and $831,000, respectively.

Your vote

Unless proxy cards are otherwise marked, the persons named as proxies will vote FOR the approval of
the 2008 Incentive Program. Approval of this proposal requires the aftfirmative vote of a majority of the votes
cast with respect 10 the proposal at the Annual Meeting.
Board recommendation

The Board recommends that you vote “FOR” approval of the MarketAxess Holdings Inc. 2008
Code Section 162{m) Performance Incentive Program.
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SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The Tollowing table sets forth certain information regarding the beneficial ownership of the Company's
Common Stock as of April 11, 2008 by (i) cach person or group of affiliated persons known by us to
beneficially own more than five percent of our Common Stock, (ii} our named executive officers, (iii) each of
our directors and nominees for director and (iv) all of our directors and exccutive officers as a group.

The following table gives effect to the shares of Common Stock issuable within 60 days of April 11,
2008 upon the exeecise of all options and other rights beneficially owned by the indicated stockholders on that
date. Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with Rule 13d-3 promulgated under Section 13 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and includes voting and investment power with respect 1o
shares. Percentage of beneficial ownership is based on 30,979,717 shares of Common Stock cutstanding at the
close of business on April 11, 2008. Except as otherwise noted helow, cach person or entity named in the
following table has sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of our Common Stock that he,
she or it beneficially owns.

Unless otherwise indicated, the address of each beneficial owner listed below is ¢/o MarketAxess
Holdings Inc., 140 Broadway, 42nd Floor, New York, New York 10005.

Number of Percentage
Shares of Common
Benceficially Stock
Owned Owned
5% Stockholders
FMR LLC(1). . ..o e e e e et 4,619,597 14.91%
JP. Morgan Pariners (23A), L.P(2) ... . ... 1,090,482 3.49%
LabMorgan Corporation{3) .......... ... ... ... ... . ..y 2,323,892 7.43%
Total for entities affiliated with J.P. Morgan Chase & Co. ... ... ... 3,123,892 9.99%
Royce & Associates, LL.C.(4). . ... ... ... .. ... o oL 2,238,900 1.23%
Kornitzer Capital Management, Inc.(5). .. ... ... ... ... ... ... ... 2,002,973 6.47%
Janus Capital Management LLC(6) .............. ... ... ... .. 1,984,207 6.40%
Named Executive Officers and Directors
Richard M. McVey(T) . . oot e e e 2,662,712 R.27%
Roger Burkhardt(8) . . .. .. ... 5,000 *
Stephen P Casper(9) ... ..o e 35,000 *
David G. Gomach(10) . . .. ... . .. . 30,000 *
Carlos ML Hernandez(11), ... ... oo i e ettt e — —
Ronald M. Hersch(9) . .. .. o e e 35,000 *
Wayne DL Lyski(9) ..o e 35,000 *
Jerome S. Markowitz(12). . ... .. e e 52.848 *
T. Kelley Millet(13) . .. ..o oo 288,660 *
Nicolas 8. Rohatyn(14) . . ... ... .. . e 43,334 *
John Steinhardi(9) . . . . o e 35,000 *
James N.B. Rucker(15) . . ... o i e e 265,048 *
Nicholas Themelis(16). . .. .. ... .. i e 268,385 *
All Executive Officers and Directors as a Group (13 persons)(17) ... ... 3,755,987 11.43%

* Less than 1%,

(1) Information regarding FMR LLC was obtained from a Schedule 13G filed by FMR LLC with the SEC. FMR LLC filed on behalf of
its dircet and indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries, Fidelity Management & Rescarch Company, Pyramis Global Advisors, LLC.
Pyramis Global Advisors Trust Company, and Fidelity Intemnational Limited. The principal address of FMR LLC is 82 Devonshire
Street. Boston, MA 02108.
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(2) Information regarding J.P. Morgan Partners (23A), L.P. was ohtained from a Schedule 13G filed by J.P. Morgan Partners (23A), L.P.
with the SEC. Consists of 800.000 shares of Common Stock and 290,482 shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of
shares of non-voling common stock that are presently convenible, Excludes 934,835 shares of non-voling common stock, because
the terms of the non-voting cominon stock contain a limitation on acquinng shares of Common Stock if the conversion would resuli
in the holder beneficially owning more than 9.99% of our outstanding Common Stock. In1otal. 1.225.317 shares of non-voling com-
mon stk are owned by the helder. The general partner of LP. Morgan Pariners (23A), L.P. is L.LP. Morgan Partners (23A Manager),
Inc., an indirccl wholly-owned subsidiary of JPMorgan Chase & Co. The principal business address of J.P. Morgan Partners (23A).
L.P. is 270 Park Avenue. New York, NY 10017,

Information regarding LabMorgan Corporation was obtained from a Schedule 13G filed by LabMorgan Corporation with the SEC.
Consists of 2,033,410 shares of Common Stock and an aggregate of 290,482 shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of
shares of non-voting commmon stock that are presently convertible. Excludes 1.069.855 shares of non-voling common stock because
the terms of the non-voting common stock contain a limitation on acquiring shares of Common Stock if the conversion would result
in the holder beneficially owning more than 9.99% of our outstanding Common Stock. In 1otal. 1,360,337 shares of non-voting com-
mon stock are owned by the holder. LabMorgan Corporation is a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of JPMorgan Chase & Co, The
principal business address of LabMorgan Corporation is 270 Park Avenue. New York, NY 10017,

3

4

Information regarding Royee & Associates. LLC was obtained from a Schedule 13G filed by Royce & Associates, LLC with the
SEC. The principal business address of Royee & Associates, LLC is 1414 Avenue of the Americas, New York, NY 10019.

(5

—

Information regarding Komitzer Capital Management, Inc. was obtained from a Schedule 13G filed by Kornitzer Capital Manage-
ment, Tnc. with the SEC, The principal business address of Komitzer Capital Management, Inc. is 5420 West 61% Place,
Shawnee Mission, KS 66205,

Information regarding Janus Capital Management LLC was obtained from a Schedule 13G liled by Janus Capital Management LLC
with the SEC. Janus Capital Management LLC has indirect ownership stakes in Enhanced Invesiment Technologies LLC and Perkins.
Woll. McDonnell and Company, LLC. Due to the above structure, holdings for Junus Capital Management LLC. Enhanced Invest-
ment Technologies LLC and Perkins. Wolf, McDonrell and Company. LLC are aggregated. The principal business address of Janus
Capital Management LLC is 151 Detroit Strect, Denver. CG 80206.

(7} Consists of (i} 709,784 shares of Common Stock owned hy Mr. McVey individually; (ii) 255,000 shares of unvested restricied stock;
(iit) 1,202,774 shares of Common Stock issuable pursuant to stock options granted to Mr. McVey that are or become exercisable
within 60 days; and (iv) 495.154 shares of Common Stock owned of record by a trust for the benefit of Mr, McVey and his family
members. Does not include 387.000 shares of Common Stock issuable pursuant to stock options or 68.600 performance shares that
are nol exercisable within 60 days.

(6

—

8

—

Consists of (i) 1,250 shares of Common Stock held individually; (ii} 1,250 shares of unvested resiricted stock: and (i) 2,500 shares
of Common Stock issuable pursuant to stock options that are or become exercisable within 60 days.

(9

—

Consists of (i) 11,250 shares of Common Stock held individualty: (i} 1,250 shares of unvested restricted stock: and (iii) 22,500 shares

of Commen Stuck issuable pursuant to stock options that are or become exercisable within 60 days.

(10) Consists of (i) 11.250 shares of Commuon Steck held individually: (i) 1,250 shares of unvested restricled stock: and (iii) 17,500 shares
of Commun Stock issuable pursuant 1o stock options thar are or become exercisable within 60 days.

(11) Does not include shares of Common Stock and other MarketAxess securitics held by J.P. Morgan Partners (23A). L.P. or LabMorgan

Corporation, each of which is a direct wholly-ownced subsidiary of JPMorgan Chase & Co. Mr. Hemandez disclaims beneficial own-

ership of such shares,

—~
"
—_

Consists of (i) 13,957 shares of Commen Stock held by Mr. Markowitz individually: (i) 1.250 shares of unvested restricted stock
held by Mr. Markowitz; (iiiy 30.834 shares of Common Stock issuable pursuant to stock options granted (o Mr. Markowitz that are or
become exercisable within 60 days; and (iv) 6,807 shares of Common Stock held by Mr. Markowitz in joint tenancy with his spouse.

{13) Consists of (i) 68.660 sharcs of Common Stock held individually: ¢Gi) 120,000 shares of unvested restricted stock: and
(i} 100,000 shares of Common Stock issuable pursuant to stock options that are or become exercisable within 60 days. Does not
include 575.000 shares of Common Stock issuable pursuant to stock oplions or 27,400 performance shares that are not exercisable
within 60 days.

(14) Consists of (i) 11,250 shares of Common Stock held individualiy; (i) 1.250 shares of unvested restricted stock: and (iii} 30,834 shares
of Common Stock issuable pursuant to stock uptions that are or become exereisable within 60 days.

(15

—

Consists of (i) 60,874 shares of Common Stock hebd in joint tenancy with his spouse: (i) 19.000 shares of unvested restricted stock:
and (iii) 185,275 shares of Common Stock issuable pursuant to stock options that are or becomne exercisable within 60 days. Does
not include 38,376 shares of Common Stock issuable pursuant to stock options or 8,920 performance shares that are not exercisable
within 60 days.

{16) Consisis of {i) 14.564 shares of Common Stock held in joint tenancy with his spouse: (i) 42.166 shares of unvested restricted stock;
and (iii) 211,655 shares of Common Stock issuable pursuant to stock options that are or become exercisable within 60 days, Does
not includc 48.345 shares of Common Stock issuable pursuant 1 stock options or 17,200 performance shares that are not exercisable
within 60 days.

(17) Consists of (i) 1.438.449 shares of Common Stock: (ii) 446,166 shares of unvested restricted stock: and (i) 1,871,372 shares of

Common Stock issuable pursuant to stock oplions thal are or become exercisable within 60 days. Does not include 1,199,571 shares

of Common Siock issuable pursuant to stock options or 122,120 performance shares that are not exercisable within 60 days.
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Set forth below is information concerning our executive officers as of April 11, 2008.

Richard M. McVey ................ 48  Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of
Directors

T Kelley Millet. . ................. 48  President

James NB.Rucker ................ 51  Chief Financial Officer

Nicholas Themelis. . .. ... .. ........ 44  Chief Information Ofiicer

Richard M. McVey has been Chicef Executive Officer and Chairman of our Board of Directors since our
inceplion. See Proposal | — Election of Directors — Director information lor a discussion of Mr. McVey's
business experience.

T. Keliey Milfet has been President since September 2006. Sce Proposul | — Election of Directors —
Director information for a discussion of Mr. Millet's business cxperience.

James N.B. Rucker has been Chief Financial Officer since June 2004. From our formation in April 2000
through June 2004, Mr. Rucker was Head of Finance and Operations, with responsibility for finance and
certain client and dealer services, From January 1995 10 April 2000, Mr. Rucker was Vice President and Head
of International Fixed Income Operations at Chase Manhattan Bank, where he was responsible for the
settlement of international securities and loan, option and structured trades. He also was a Director of the
Emerging Markets Clearing Corporation from 1999 to 2000. Mr. Rucker received a B.S. in Economics and
Politics from Bristol University, England.

Nicholas Themelis has been Chief Information Officer since March 2005. From June 2004 through
February 2005, Mr. Themelis was Head of Technology and Product Delivery. From March 2004 to June 2004,
Mr. Themelis was Head ol Product Delivery. Prior 1o joining us, Mr. Themelis was a Principal at Promontory
Group, an investment and advisory {irm focused on the financial services scctor, from November 2003 to
March 2004. From March 2001 to August 2003, Mr. Themelis was a Managing Director, Chiel Information
Officer for North America and Global Head of Fixed Income Technology at Barclays Capital. From March
2000 1o March 2001, Mr. Themelis was the Chief Technology Officer and a member of the board of directors
of AuthentiDate Holdings Corp., a start-up focused on developing leading-edge content and encryption
technology. Prior 1o his tenure at AuthentiDate, Mr. Themelis spent nine years with Lehman Brothers,
ultimately as Scnior Vice President and Global Head of the E-Commerce Technology Group.

COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Intreduction

2007 was a year of two very different halves. Building on the solid earnings momentum gencrated during
the preceding three guarters, we exited the second quarter of 2007 with record quarlerly revenue, pre-lax
income and trading volume, as well as a record 11.1% estimated share of U.S. high-grade corporate bond
trading volume (as rcported by the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority’s (“FINRA™) Trade Reporting and
Compliance Engine (“TRACE™)).

The benign credit market conditions that we experienced in the first half of the year, characierized by
tight spreads and low credit spread volatility, came to an abrupt end in July, however, as the subprime
mortgage contagion spread through the market. Yet despite the extraordinarily difficult environment for trading
credit, we grew revenuc and earnings through the second half of 2007 vs. the second half of 2006. In addition,
during the second hall of 2007 and continuing into the first quarter of 2008, we continued to exccute our
strategy of complementing our organic growth opportunitics with strategic acquisitions that expand our
technology services business, enhance our client connectivity offering and extend our client base.

2007 ended with both pre-tax operating income and carnings per share (“EPS™) ahead of our 2007
[inancial plan and double our pre-tax operating income and EPS results for calendar year 2006.
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We also delivered on a number of strategic initiatives, inctuding:

» increasing estimated share of FINRA TRACE high-grade trading volume 10 9.4% lor 2007, compared
to 8.5% for 2006, including a new record estimated quarterly share of 11.1% for the second quarter of
2007

+ cxpanding our recurring revenue base with the successiul introduction of our new European high-grade
fee plan:

» leveraging our success in client-to-dealer Emerging Markets (“EM™) trading across new trading
protacols and markets. We launched DealerAxess® inter-dealer trading in EM Credit Delault Swaps and
faunched client-to-dealer local market trading, initially in bonds denominated in the local currencics of
Mexico, Brazil and Argenlina;

« diversifying revenues and expanding our technology services capabilities through the acquisition of
Trade West Systems, LLC (*“TWS”), a financial software innovator that provides galeway adapters to
connect order management syslems ("OMS™) and trading systems to fixed-income trading venues;

* increasing client connectivity, with approximately 150 client OMS conncections established by the end
of 2007, Trades executed directly from OMS conncctions in 2007 more than doubled, to 22% of all
trades executed over the platform;

= continued to build on our atready superior liguidity pool on the platform with the addition of new
dealers, bringing our global dealer group to 30;

= ending the year with $124 million in cash, cash equivalents and securitics, just 5% below 2006 year-
end levels even after expenditures of almost $40 million in connection with the share repurchase
program approved by our Board in November of 2006; and

» generating free cash flow of $24.2 million, more than twice our reported net income for the year. The
Company's balance sheet and free cash flow continue to be sources of strength.
Overview of compensation objectives and strategy for our named executive officers

The compensation program lor our Chiet Executive Officer (“*CEQ™), our Chiel Financial Officer
{"CFO™) and our two other executive officers who were serving as exccutive officers at the end of he last
fiscal year (the “named executive officers™) is designed to aitract and retain the caliber of executives needed to
ensurce our continued growth and profitability. The primary objectives of the program are 10:

» creale long-term value for our stockholders;

» align personal performance and decision-making with stockholder value creation;

» reward our named exceutive officers for their individual performance and their contribution to our

overall financial performance;

* support our long-term growth objectives;

* encourage high potential individuals with significant and unique market e¢xperience (o build a career at

the Company;

+ provide rewards that are competitive with organizations that compete for similarly skilled

executives; and

* provide rewards that are cost-eflicient and equitable to our named executive officers and stockholders

alike.

Our ability 1o retain high-performing executives is critical to the Company’s success. As we have
recruited to fill executive and other senior level positions, we have learned that our business requires a unigue
skill-set that is not casily found. Each of our named exccutive officers has an understanding of the fixed-
income securitics market as well as the life cycle and process of developing and introducing techrology
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solutions to the market. As we have a flal organization, our named executive officers are expected 1o
effectively communicate to and lead broad 1cams of employees across all levels of the organization. Our
named executive officers must be able to (hink strategically and broadly; likewise, as we are a small firm with
little overhead in support positions, they must have the ability and desire te manage tactical details, Our high-
performing named executive officers ofien have the option 10 work at top tier broker/dealers or other financial
services firms that will pay more than we are capable of paying.

The compensation programs for our named executive officers are administered by the Compensation
Committee of the Beard of Directors. Working with management and our outside compensation advisors, the
Compensation Committee has developed a compensation and benefits strategy that rewards performance and
hehaviors to reinforce a culture that will drive long-term success.

We have a semi-annual planning and goal-seiting process that is fully integrated into the compensation
program, creating alignment between individual efferts, our results and financial rewards.

In addition, we scek to promote a long-term commitment to the Company tfrom our named executive
officers, as we believe that there is great value to the Company in having a tcam of scasoned managers. Our
tcam-locused culture and management processes are designed Lo foster this commitment. Therefore, fong-term
incentives for our named exccutive officers are only in the form of equity, predominantly in the form of stock
options. Realizing value from the equity incentive awards is dependent upon our performance and growth in
our stock price. The vesting schedules attached 1o restricted stock and stock option awards {generally a
minimum of three years) reinforce this long-lerm orientation.

Role of the Compensation Committee
General

The Compensation Committce provides overall guidance for our compensation policies and determines
the amounts and clements of compensation for our named executive officers. The Compensation Commitlec’s
function is more fully described in its charter, which has been approved by our Board of Dircctors. The charter
is available on our corporate website at www.marketaxess.com under the Investor Relations-Corporate
Governance caption.

The Board of Dircctors has determined that each member of the Compensation Commitlee is an
“independent director” in accordance with NASDAQ listing standards, a “non-cmployee director™ under the
applicable SEC rules and regulations and an “outside director” under the applicable tax rules.

When considering decisions concerning the compensation of our named executive officers other than the
CEOQ, the Compensation Commitice asks for the recommendations of both the CEO and our compensation
consultant. All compensation decisions for our named executive officers are ultimatety made in the discretion
of the Compensation Comimitice.

No named exceutive officer has a role in determining or recommending compensation for outside
directors.

Use of Outside Advisors

In making its determinations with respect to compensation of our named executive officers, the
Compensation Committee retained the services of the compensation consultant Pearl Meyer & Partners
{(“PM&P™) effective Jaauary 2007. PM&P is retained directly by the Compensation Committee and, in 2007,
provided no other services (o the Company other than the consulting services provided the Compensation
Committee with respect to compensation for our named executive officers, our other employees and our non-
cmployee dircctors. In the first quarter of 2008, PM&P conducted a Board of Directors effectiveness survey
for the Board.

The Compensation Committee annually reviews competitive compensation data and any other relevant
market daa prepared by our compensation consultant.
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The Compensation Commiltee has the authority to retain, terminate and set the terms of our relationship
with any outside advisors who assist the Compensation Committee in carrying out its responsibilities.

Pay Levels and Benchmarking

Pay levels for our named executive officers are determined based on a number of factors, including the
individual’s roles and responsibilities within the Company, the individual’s experience and expertise, the pay
levels for peers within the Company, pay levels in the marketplace for similar positions, performance of the
individual and the financial performance of the Company as a whole.

We seek to provide competitive compensation that is commensurate with performance. We benchmark
our named cxecutive officer compensation programs with a peer group of financial technology companics and
other pertinent survey data. We generally target a total direct compensation (*'TDC”) mix that includes base
salary, annual cash incentives and long-term incentive awards that meets the market median when corporate
and/or individual goals are achieved at 1arget. Likewise, we calibraie both annual and long-term incentive
opportunitics to generate less-than-median awards when corporate and/or individual goals are not fully
achieved and greater-than-median awards when corporate and/or individual goals are exceeded.

In determining pay levels, the Compensation Committee considers all forms of compensation and benefits
and uses tools such as the Black-Scholes option pricing model 1o value equity and equily expense in
determining the financial impact on the Company.

The Compensation Committee assesses “competitive markel” compensation using a number of sources.
One of the data sources used in setting competitive market levels for the executive officers is the information
publicly disclosed by a “peer group™ of companies (listed below), which is reviewed annually and may change
from year to year, While these companies may differ from us in terms of size and revenucs, they are the
closest matches in terms of business model. These companies are in the financial services technology
marketplace and curreatly include:

* ¢Speed, Inc. * Options Xpress Holdings, Inc.
* International Securitics Exchange, Inc. * SWS Group, Inc.

* Investment Technology Group, Inc. * TD Ameritrade Holding Corp.
» Knight Capital Group, Inc. * Tradestation Group, Inc.

e Labranche & Co., Inc.

As our business model is unique — we are the only publicly-traded company whose core business is
providing a muhi-dealer electronic trading platform for credit products for clien-1o-dealer rading — this peer
group data is supplemented and blended with data from different compensation surveys, including surveys
conducted by McLagan Partners, Walson Wyatt and PM&P.

Afler consideration of the data collected on cxternal competitive levels of compensation, internal
relationships within the group of named ¢xecutive officers at the Company, corporate financial performance
and individual performance, the Compensation Committee makes decisions regarding individual target total
compensation levels for cach named executive officer based on the need 10 atract, motivale and retain an
experienced and effective management team, although, as mentioned carlier, we generally target TDC around
the median of the market data for accomplishment of target performance.

The base salary for cach named cxecutive officer has historically been at or above the median salary of
the benchmarked data. However, as no salary adjustments were made from 2006 (0 2007, base salaries fell
slightly below markel median because we felt that setting greater target opportunities, above median levels,
under our annual incentive plan was important to reinforce our pay-for-performance philosophy.

The Compensation Committee also applics other factors in determining the level of incentive pay for our
named executive officers. For example, if the Company’s ratio of compensation expense 10 gross revenues is
greater than that of other companies in our peer group, the Compensation Committee may reduce the amount
of the annual incentive opportunity for our named executive officers accordingly. Likewise, the Compensation
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Committee considers total compensation and benefits cost as a multiple of operating income, If that multiple
increases year-over-year, the Committee may reduce the incentive pay structure.

As noted above, notwithstanding our overall pay positioning objectives, pay opportunitics for specific
individuals vary based on a number of [actors, such as scope of duties, tenure, institutional knowledge, market
conditions and the ability 10 retain our named cxecutive officer, and/or the difficulty in recruiting a new
executive. Actual total compensation in a given year will vary above or below the target compensation levels
based on the attainment of operating goals, the creation ol stockholder value and competitive threats.

Details of the Company’s compensation structure for our named executive officers
Pay Elements — Overview
We utilize four main components of compensation for our named executive officers:

* base salary that reflects the individual’s role and responsibilitics, experience, expertise and individual
performance;

* annual variable cash performance awards that are designed to reward attainment of annual goals, and
which allow cash compensation to fluctuate upwards or downwards, as appropriate, with corporate
financial performance;

* long-term incentives, which are equity-based awards that may include stock options, stock appreciation
rights, restricted stock, performance shares and other stock-based awards, including restricted stock
unils and deferred siock units (through 2007, only stock options and restricted stock were granted); and

* hencfits and perquisites, offered 10 all employees, including healthcare benefits, life insurance and
retirement savings plans; and disabitity plans in the U.S.

In addition to the foregoing clements, we have entered into employment agreements with our CEO and
President that provide for certain payments and benefits in the event of certain terminations of their
employment or a change in control of the Company.

The compensation consultant works with our CEQ and other managers of the Company te gather
pertinent Company information, including but not limited to employee and officer listings, corporate financial
performance, accrued bonus pool and budget for the expensing ol cquity grants. The compensation consultant
independently researches the performance and pay philosophy of our peer group and benchmarks all positions
using applicable survey data. The compensation consultant presents the recommended compensation ranges —
ranges for base pay, cash bonus and TDC — for all of our named executive officers. Corporate financial
performance (financial performance vs. plan and year-over-year growth) and the ability 1o incur the suggested
compensation expenses factor heavily into the Compensation Committee’s decision whether 1o pay below, al
or above the median benchmark data. Additionally, group and individual performance and the need for
retention are considered when making pay decisions.

Pay Elements — Details
Base Satary

The Compensation Committee annually reviews salaries for our named executive officers and makes
adjusiments as warranted based on individual responsibilitics and performance, Company performance in light
of market conditions and competitive practices. Salary increases lor performance or for cost of living are not
guaranteed each year; rather, the Compensation Committee reviews all components of remuneration and
decides which, if any, elements of compensation should be adjusted or granted based on corporate and
individual results and competitive benchmark data. This approach is in line with the Company’s intention of
offering compensation that is contingent upon individual responsibilities and performance,

There were no base pay increases given to any named exccutive officers in 2007, However, our
benchmark data show an increase in salaries over the past year. As we have not increased base salaries for our
named executive officers, their base salarics are now generally lower than the benchmark median. We believe

24




this is advantagcous to the Company, as the slightly lower base salary permits us 1o emphasize variable pay so
that our compensation is more fully aligned with performance outcomes,

Annual Variable Performance Awards Payable in Cash

Section 162(m) of the Code generally prohibits any publicly-held corporation from taking a Federal
income tax deduction for compensation paid in excess of $1 million in any taxable year to the chiel executive
officer and any other exccutive officer (other than the chief linancial officer) employed or the last day of the
taxable year whose compensation is required o be disclosed o stockholders under SEC rules, unless the plan
and awards pursuant to which any portion of the compensation is paid meet certain requirements. Certain
exceptions apply in the case of plans adopied by a private company that subsequently becomes publicly-traded.
Prior to our initial public offering in 2004, we adopted the MarkelAxess Holdings Inc. 2004 Annual
Performance Incentive Plan (the “2004 Annual Performance Plan™). The deduction limits under Code
Section 162(m) do not apply to awards under the 2004 Annual Performance Plan granted during a transition
period following our becoming public. This transition period will end at the Annual Meeting.

For annual cash compensation awarded in 2008, subject 1o stockholder approval at the Annual Meeting,
the Compensation Committee has adopted the 2008 Incentive Program. The 2008 Incentive Program has been
structured in a manner intended to qualify as “performance-based compensation™ eligible for deductibility
under Code Scction 162(m). Please see “Proposal 3 — Approval of the MarketAxess Holdings Inc, 2008 Code
Section 162(m) Performance Incentive Program™ above for more information regarding the 2008 Incentive
Program. For periods after 2008 we intend to adopt incenlive compensation programs and plans for our
executive officers that are structured in a manner that meets the requirements of Code Section 162(m) in order
to preserve our ability to take compensation expense deductions for annual cash bonuses that qualify as
performance-bhased compensation. Performance-based compensation satisfying the requirements of Code
Section 162(m) is excluded from the $t million deductibility cap.

The 2004 Annuat Performance Plan is designed 10 provide cash bonus awards to executive officers in
recognilion of their contribulion 10 corporate results, profitability and stockholder returns. Awards paid under
the 2004 Annual Performance Plan are contingem upon the attainment of certain pre-established financial
performance targels set by the Compensation Committee. The 2004 Annual Performance Plan provides for the
bonus accrual to be based on one or more financial metrics, including, but not limited to:

= pre-tax profits;

+ EPS;

* Qross revenues;

= operational cash low;

* nel income; or

* such other goals established by the Compensation Committee.

The incentive compensation program adopted under the 2004 Annual Performance Plan for 2007 was a
variable bonus pool based on a percentage of pre-tax operating income, before cash bonus expense. This
formula has two objectives: to align employee bonuses with operating income, which correlates 1o EPS, and 10
use the operating leverage of our business to motivate employees. The percentage was determined at the
heginning of the year based on our targel financial plan and the aggregate median of competitive cash honus
levels, We intend 10 conlinue to use this formula with increases year-over-year if annual operating income
growth is demonstrated. The achievement of target pre-tax operating income is moderately difficult to achicve
and requires revenue growth and prudent expense management. As we met our target financial plan and
demonstrated significant operating growth in 2007 as compared to 2006, the bonus pool for 2007 was al target
and above the bonus pool for 2006. Specifically, the bonus pool for 2007 was $13.4 million as compared 10
$10.9 million in 2006. Had the financial results been less than our financial plan, the bonus pool that would
have been paid oul would have been less than the targel.
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In determining the CEQ's cash bonus, the Compensation Committee primarily focuses on corporate
financial performance. In addition, the Compensation Committee also factors in more qualitative results, such
as implementation of strategic initiatives. In 2007, the CEO was credited with:

» year-over-year revenue growth of 12%, partially achieved through the expansion of the recurring
revenue base by leading the implementation of the European high-grade fec plan;

* ycar-over-year operating income and EPS growth of 100%;

« judicial expense management throughout the year, especially in the second half during a difficult credit
markets environment, resulting in full-year expenses lower than plan and year-over-year cxpense growth
of only 2.2%; and

« launching our lechnology services business and the subsequent acquisition of TWS.

In determining the President’s cash bonus, the Compensation Commitiee and CEO primarily focused on
corporate financial performance. In addition to the achievement of the financial and strategic initiatives
outlined above, the President:

» re-organized the U.S. revenue-generating departments, resulting in increased client and dealer coverage
al a lower cost; and

* increased our estimated share of FINRA TRACE high-grade trading volume to 9.4% for 2007,
compared to 8.5% for 2006, including a new record estimated quarterly share of 11.1% for the second
quarter ot 2007,

In determining the cash bonus compensation for the CFO, the Compensation Committee and CEO
focused on corporate financial performance, which inctudes the metrics noted above as well as free cash flow
of 2.3 times 2007 net income. In addition, the CFO was compensated for the Company’s ability to meet the
requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

In addition to aiding the financial goals of the Company through expense management, our Chief
Information Officer (“CIO") was credited with launching the technology services business, a significant
opportunity for revenue diversification that also led to the acquisition of TWS.

As stated above, retention and minimizing the impact of competitive offers of employment factored into
the compensation decisions for all executive officers.

A summary of cash bonuses awarded for 2006 and 2007, and the relationship between cash bonus growth
and stockholder value measured as carnings per share (EPS), is as follows:

Year-over-Year

2006 actual 2007 actual % Change
Operating Income before Taxes ............. ... $8.6 miltion  $17.2 million 100%
EPS . . e e e e $ 0.5 § 0.3¢ 100%
Variance over/
2007 plan 2007 actual {under) Plan
Operating Income before Taxes ... ... ... ... $i6.9 million  $17.2 million 2%
EPS . i e s $ 027 % 0.30 11%
Year-over-Year
2006 2007 % Change
Cash Bonus
CEO. . e e e e e e s $500,000  $800,000 60%
President .. e e e $600,000*  $800,000 33%
CFO . . o e e e $200,000  $275,000 38%
CIO . . e e e $475,000  $700,000 47%

* Annualized number; actual paymem was $200,000 for approximately four months of employment.
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Total cash compensation for the CEO and President was significanily below the median of the benchmark
data, and the CFO was slightly below median, as a result of the limitations set by the overall level of the 2007
bonus pool. Due to a competitive market for executive level technology leaders, the CIO was compensated
above the median for retention purposcs.

Long-term Incentives — Equiry-based Awards

The Company and the Compensation Committee believe that equity-based awards are an important factor
in aligning the long-term financial interest of our named executive officers and our stockholders. As such, on
October 24, 2007, the Board of Directors adopted stock ownership guidelines for our named executive oificers
as lollows:

¢ currerit CEO — not less than a number of shares of Common Stock equal in value to three times the
CEO’s base salary as calculated on the effective date of the policy; and

« other current named executive officers — not less than a number of shares of Common Stock equal in
value (o two times the named exceutive oflicer’s base salary as cabculated on the effective date of the
policy.

All current named executive officers must be in compliance with the policy within the later of the first
five years of the named exccutive officer’s service or five years from the effective date of the policy, and the
designated level of ownership must be maintained throughout the named exccutive officer’s employment with
the Company. Newly appointed executives will be subject 10 the same guidelines and will be required to be in
compliance within five years of commencement ol service. Only shares of Common Stock owned outright in
any form, including shares purchased and held personally and vested restricted shares, count toward the
minimum ownership requirement; vested and unvesied stock options and unvested restricted shares are
excluded. Currently, the CEO and CFO are in compliance. The President and Cl1O are expected to be in
compliance within the required timeframe.

Equity awards to our named exceutive officers are determined in the same manner as cash bonuses: the
budget for equity-related expensces, corporate, group and individual performance, benchmark data and retention
requirements are factors in determining the equity award. Additionally, total planned cash compensation vs.
benchmark data is considered when determining the size and type of equity grant. As a general matler, it is
our intention to compensate our named executive officers at median levels on a TDC basis if targets are
achieved; our long-term incentive program aims 1o bring the total compensation package for alt of our named
executive officers within that range, or above or below such range for commensurate performance.

The Compensation Committee evaluates the use of equity-based awards and intends te continue to use
such awards in the future as part of designing and administering the Company's compensation program. The
Compensation Committec may grant equity incentives under the Company’s 2004 Stock Incentive Plan
(amended and restated effective April 28, 2006) (the “*Stock Incentive Plan™) in the form of stock options
{non-qualified and incentive stock options), stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, performance shares,
performance units and other stock-based awards. Through 2007, only stock options and restricted stock have
been granted. Awards to executive officers are generally granted at the time of hire and then annually at the
end of ¢ach fiscal year for corporate, unit and individual performance.

Since 2006, our policy has been to grant all year-end equity awards on January 15" of the following year
or the preceding business day if January 15™ is not a business day. The expected value of the year-end equity
award to cach named executive officer is approved by the Compensation Commitlee prior to grant and is part
of the process in determining TDC for each named exccutive officer. The actual grant amount (i.c., number of
shares or options) awarded is approved by the Compensation Commitiee on or before the grant date. Grants to
new executive officers are made on the date of hire and are approved by the Compensation Commitiee prior to
hire. The exercise price for stock options is the closing market price per sharc of our Common Stock on The
NASDAQ Stock Market on the grant date.

As we have done in the past, for year-end 2007 performance, the Compensation Committee granted stock
options to our named executive officers that have time-based vesting over three years.
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Through 2007, the Compensation Commitice also granted shares of restricted stock (o our named
exccutive officers with performance-based vesting. In 2007 and 2008, restricted stock grants were made with
time-based vesting over three years.

In connection with commencement of his employment in 2006, our President received an incentive stock
option award and a restricted stock award. A portion of the options vest in ¢qual annual installments over a
five-ycar period beginning on October 1, 2007 and a portion vest over a three-year period beginning on
February 1, 2009 il certain performance metrics for 2008 are met. An additionat portion of the options were
subject 1o the achicvement of certain performance metrics in 2007 that were not satisfied, and therefore that
portion was forteited. The restricted stock award vests in equal annual installments over a five-year period
beginning on October 1, 2007. As discussed clsewhere in this Proxy Statement, certain portions of the stock
option award and the restricted stock award may also vest upon termination of his employment.

Beginning in 2008, the Compensation Committee will also utilize performance shares under the Stock
Incentive Plan in order 10 tie the long-term equity component of compensation more closely to stockholder
returns. Specifically, the Compensation Committee implemented the use of performance shares to:

» replace some value of “guaranteed” restricted stock awards with a variable pay instrument that aligns
with financial performance;

» manage stockholder dilution by using less shares than similar value siock option grants; and
* provide a balance between stock option upside and retention / downside protection of restricted stock.

The Compensation Committee has approved two forms of Performance Share Award Agreements. One
form is for use in connection with grants of performance share awards to the CEO and the President, and a
sccond form is for use in connection with grants of performance share awards to all other individuals,
including other named executive officers. Each Performance Share Award Agreement provides for the grant of
a target number of performance shares that will vest or be forfeited based on the level of our achievement,
during the applicable performance period, of a level of pre-tax operating income per share of our common
stock before payment of cash bonuses for performance during the performance period and expenses incurred
in connection with the grant of all performance share awards for the performance period. For each
performance share carned, a participant will be awarded an equal number of shares of restricted stock. Any
restricted stock awarded to a participant will vest and cease to be restricted stock in equal 50% installments on
cach of the second and third anniversaries of the grant of the applicable performance share award. Certain
portions of the performance shares or the restricted stock may also vest upon a participant’s termination of
employment or a change in control.

In connection with their performance in 2007, in 2008 the Compensation Committee approved and has
awarded grants of performance shares under the Stock Incentive Plan to each of our named executive officers.
The target performance metric under the awards is the Company’s achicvement during 2008 of $1.27 of pre-
tax operating income per share of the Company’s Common Stock before payment of cash bonuses for 2008
and expenses incurred in connection with the grant of all performance share awards for performance in 2008.
The target at which our named exccutive officers can receive their full grant is difficult to atiain. The actual
amount earned is based on the level of our achievement of the performance goal, as follows:

Achievememt (percentage of
target pre-tax operating income) . ... ... ... less than 80%  80% 100% 120% or more
Payout (percentage of shares) .. ... ... ... ... (% 50% 100% 150%

Payout results are interpolated on a straight-line basis between 80% and 120% achievemen of
performance goals.
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Set forth below is the target rumber of performance shares thal may be awarded to our named executive
officers {i.e., the number of performance shares that would be earned based upon achievement of 100% of the
performance goal):

Number of Performance
Shares Earned at Targel

CEO . .. e 68,600
President. . . ... o e e e e 27,400
CRO . 8,920
£ 17.200

For the remainder of the value of their 2007 year-end equity grant, all named executive officers except
the CEO were given a choice among stock options, restricted stock or a combination of 50% in stock option
value and 50% in restricted stock value. The ratio of restricted stock 1o stock options was sel at a level al
which the choices made by the named executive officers resulted in no significant variance in accounting
expense 1o the Company. As the CEO received a restricted stock award on February 1, 2006 with the intention
that no other restricted stock would be granted for a period of three calendar years, the CEQ was required o
receive stock options. Please refer to the table under the heading “Pay Mix™ below for grant details.

The Compensation Committee chose to award equity o compensate the CEQ, CFO and CIO at a level
slightly higher than the median in TRC as a result of;

« the financial resulls of the Company;
* their respective roles in the strategic initiatives achieved in 2007; and

* retention and potentially competitive offers.

In addition, the Compensation Committee wanted 1o insure that the CEO’s TDC was above median as his
cash compensation was significantly below median while his performance was above plan.

In setting the target TDC for the President, the Compensation Committee and CEO chose to compensate
the President at the 75th percentile of the benchmark data, inclusive of the annual value of time-based
restricted stock granted in prior years, for the following reasons:

« we exceeded our corporate financial goals and he exccuted the strategic initiatives as outlined above;

* (o insure that his TDC was above median, as his cash compensation was significantly below median
while his performance was above plan; and

¢ the “stretch targets” for his 2007 year-end performance stock option grant were not mel, resulting in
the cancellation of 175,000 options, and the Compensation Committee granted additional equity to
ensure retention.

The Compensation Committee will continee to evaluate the mix of stock options, restricted stock and
other stock-based awards in the future to align rewards for personal performance with stockholder value
creation.

Other Benefits

We provide our named executive officers with the same benefits offered to all other employees. The cost
of thesc benefits constitutes a small percentage of each numed executive officer’s total compensation. In the
US, key benefits include paid vacation; premiums paid for life insurance and short-term and long-term
disability policies; a maiching contribution to the named exccutive officer’s 401(k) plan; and the payment of
80% of the named executive officer’s healthcare premiums. We review these other benefits and perquisites on
an annual basis and makes adjustments as warranied based on competitive practices and our performance.
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Pay Mix

For performance year 2007, the variable compensation portion of our named cxecutive officers’ TDC was
no less than 70%. A summary of 2007 payments (comprised of 2007 hase salary, 2007 year-end cash bonus
and January 2008 cquity grants for performance year 2007), with the percentages that are variable and fixed, is

as follows:
Fixed
Compensation Variable Compensation
Equity Value
Cash
Bonus  Performance Equity
% of Cush as a % Shares Stock Restricted a5 a%
__'B‘.!i_ m& Bonus of TDC mn Options(1) Stock{l) of TDC T™DC
| CEO............... $400,000 12% $800,000 24% $749,798 $1433,651 § —  65% $3.383,449
| President . ........... $300,000 15% $B00,000 41% $299,482 § 574,460 % —  44% $1,973,942
| CFO ............... $200,000 27% $275.000 37% $ 97,496 § 93,162 § 76,510 36% $§ 742,168
l CIO................ $200,000 14% $700,000 49% $187,996 § 179,082 $147,555 36% $1.414,633

(1) Restricted stock and stock options vest over three years, Performance shares settle one year after grant, and vest over the fullowing
two years.

Compensation Committee Discretion

The Compensation Commitiee retains the discretion to decrease all forms of incentive payouts based on
significant individual or Company performance shortfalls. Likewise, the Compensation Committee retains the
discretion to increasc payouts and/for consider special awards for significant achicvements, including but not
limited 1o superior operating results, strategic accomplishments and/or consummation of partnerships, acquisi-
tions or diveslitures.

Severance and change in control arrangements

In hiring and retaining executive level talent, providing the cxecutive with a level of security in the event
of an involuntary termination of employment or a change in control is an important and competitive part of
the compensation package. We have entered into employment agreements with our CEO and President that
provide for severance payments and benefits in the event of certain terminations of their employment. In
addition, the terms of our equity grant award agreements with our CEO and President provide for accelerated
vesting of the awards in the cvent of certain terminations of their employment or upon a change in control of
the Company. The other named executive officers are entitled to severance payments and bencfits in the event
of certain terminations of their employment under the MarketAxess Severance Pay Plan. Please see “Executive
Compensation — Potential Termination or Change in Control Payments and Benefits™ below, which is
| incorporaled by reference into this Compensation Discussion and Analysis, for information regarding these
| payments and bencfits.

Impact of Tax and Accounting

| As a general matter, the Compensation Committee reviews and considers the tax and accounting
| implications of using the various forms of compensation employed by the Company.

When determining the size of grants 10 our named executive officers and other employees under the
Company’s stock incentive plans, the Compensation Commitlee examines the accounting cost associated with
the grants. Under FAS 123R, grants of stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units and other share-
based payments resull in an accounting charge for the Company. The accounting charge is equal to the fair
value of the instruments being issued. For restricted stock and restricted stock units, the cost is equal (o the
fair value of the stock on the date of grant times the number of shares or units granted. For stock options, the
cost is equal 10 the fair value determined using an option pricing model. This expense is amortized over the
requisite service or performance period.
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Code Scction 162(m} gencrally prohibits any publicly-held corporation from taking a Federal income tax
deduction for compensation paid in excess of $1 million in any taxable year to the chief executive officer and
any other executive officer {other than the chief financial officer) employed on the last day of the taxable year
whosc compensation is required Lo be disclosed 10 stockholders under SEC rules. Exceptions include qualified
performance-based compensation, among other things, 1t is the Compensation Committee’s policy 1o maximize
the effectivencess of our executive compensation plans in this regard. Nonetheless, (he Compensation Commit-
tee retains the discretion to grant awards that may not comply with the performance-based exception of
162(m) if it is deemed in the best interest of the Company to do so.

Conclusion

The level and mix of compensation that are finalty decided upon are considered within the context of
both the objective data from our competitive assessment of compensation and performance and the subjective
factors as outlined above. The Compensation Committee belicves that the compensation for each of our named
exccutive officers is within the range indicated by the objeclive comparative data.

REPORT OF THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Compensation Commitlee has reviewed and discussed with management the Compensation Discus-
sion and Analysis 1o be included in this Proxy Statement. Based on the reviews and discussions referred to
above, the Committee recommended 1o the Board of Directors that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis
be included in this Proxy Siatement.

Submitted by the Compensation Committee of the
Company’s Board of Directors

John Steinhardt — Chair
Wayne D. Lyski
Nicolas S. Rohatyn




EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Summary compensation table

The following table scts forth all compensation received during the last fiscal year by (i) our Chicef
Executive Officer, (ii) our Chicf Financial Officer and (iii) our two other executive officers who were serving
as executive officers at the end of the last fiscal year. These excecutives are referred to as our “named executive
officers™ clsewhere in this Proxy Statement.

All Other
Stock Option Compen-
Salary Bonus Awgrds Awards sation Total
Nuame ond Principal Position Year ($) {$) ($H1) $)n {$)2) $
Richard M. McVey ......... 2007 400,000 800,000 1,140,120 313,049 4,000 2,657,169
Chief Executive Officer 2006 400,000 500,000 1,139,859 83,709 1,500 2,125,068
T. Kelley Milet. . .......... 2007 300,000 800,000 307,291 388,190 4,000 1,799,481
President 2006 90,961(3) 200,000 102,470 340,838 7,500 741,766
James NB. Rucker . ........ 2007 200,000 275,000 56,766 113,254 4,000 649,020
Chief Financial Officer 2006 200,000 200,000 56,927 83,945 1,500 542,372
Nicholas Themelis. ... ... ... 2007 200,000 700,000 141,367 266,730 4,000 1,312,097
Chief Information Qfficer 20060 200,000 475,000 98,256 223,303 1,500 998,059

(1) The amounts reported reflect the dollar amount recognized for financial stalement reponting purposes for the fiscal year ended December 31.
2007 and 2006, in accordance with FAS 123R, of awands of restricted stock or stock options and thus include amounts from awards granted in
and prior 1o 2007, without regard to the estimated forfeiture refated to serviee-based vesting conditions. Assumptions used in the caleulation of
this amount are included in footnote 11 to the Company's sudited financtal statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007, included in
the Company’s Annuzl Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 3, 2008, These amounts reflect the Company's accounting expense
for these awards and do not correspond 1o the actual amounts, if any, that will be recognized by our named executive officers.

(2) These benefits represent employer matching contributions to the Company's defined contribution plan and, in the case of Mr. Millet.
reimbursement for legal fees in 2006.

(3) Mr. Millet’s employment commenced in September 2006. His annualized base salary for 2006 was $300.000.

Grants of plan-based awards

The following table summarizes the grants of restricted stock and option awards we made (o our named
executive officers in 2007 as well as future payouts pursuant to certain performance-based equity compensa-
tion arrangements. There can be no assurance that the Grant Date Fair Value of Stock and Option Awards will
ever be realized.

All Other All Other

Stock Option Grant
Awards: Awurds: Date Fair

Number of Number of Exercise or Vulue of
Shares of Securities Base Price Stock and

Stock or Underlying of Option Option

Grant Approval Units Options Awards Awards

Name Date Date #(1) #2) ($/Sh)(3) ($H4)

Richard McVey . .......... ... 141272007 1/8/2007 — 150,000 12.96 889,500
T. Kelley Millet .. ... ... ... — _ — _ — —
James N.B. Rucker . ........... 171212007 1/8/2007 —_— 30,000 12.96 177,900
Nicholas Themelis . ........... 1/12/2007  1/872007 —_ 75,000 12.96 444,750
171272007  1/8/2007 10,000 — — 129,300

(1) Restricted stock awards were made pursuant to the Stock Incentive Plan and vest in three equal annual installments beginning on the
first anniversary date of the grant.

{2) Stock option awards were made pursuant 10 the Stock Incentive Pian. Onc-third of the options vest on the first anniversary of the grant
date and the balance vest in 24 cqual monthly installments thereafier.

(3} The exercise price lor stock options pranted was equal to the closing price of the Company’s Common Stock on the date of grant.
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{4) The value of a restricted stock or stock option award is based on the fair value as of the grant date of such award determined pursuant
to FAS 123R, and disregards estimates of lorfeitures related 10 service-based vesting conditions, The proceeds to be paid to the indi-
vidual following an excreise do not include the option exercise price, and the excreise price of option awards has not been deducted
from the amounts indicated above. Regardless of the value placed on a stock oplion award on the grant date. the actual value of the
stock option will depend on the market value of Common Stock at such date in the Future when the stock option is exercised.

Outstanding equity awards at fiscal year end

The following table summarizes unexercised stock options, performance-based stock options with
performance conditions thal have not yet been satisfied and restricted stock units that have not vested and
related information for cach of our named executive officers as of December 31, 2007, The market value of
restricted stock awards is based on the closing price of the Company’s Common Stock on December 31, 2007
of $12.83.

Option Awards Stock Awards
Equity
Incentive
Plan Awards : Market
Number of Number of Number of Number of Vulue of
Securities Securities Securitics Shares or Shares or
Underiying Underlying Underlying Units of Units of
Unexercised Unexercived Unexercised Option Stock That Stock That
Options Options Unearned Excrcise Option Have Not Have Not
(L]} {h Options Price Expirution Vested Vested
Name Excrcisable(l)  Unexcrcisable(1) (#12) $) Date (#K3) %
Richard McVey. .. .. ... 127,774 — — 270 4/15/2012 18,000 230,940
1,000,000 — — 270 21712013 324,000 4,156,920
24,318 682 — 15.60 1/6/2015 — —
_ 150,000 —_— 12.96 1/12/2017 —_ —_—
T. Kelley Millet . ... ... 100,000 400,000 175.000 10.25 9/13/2016 120,000 1,539,600
James N.B. Rucker . . ... 66,667 — — 3.60  6/15/2011 4,500 57,735
13,334 _ — 270 3/31/2012 12,000 153,960
25,000 — — 270 12/30/2012 — —
25,000 _ —_ 13.95 1/2/2014 — —
24318 682 — 1560 1/6/2015 — —
12,784 7.216 — 1118 11972016 —_— —
— 30,000 — 12.96 111272017 — —
Nicholas Themelis . . . .. 100,000 — — 13.95 21252014 6,000 76,980
38,909 1,091 — 1560 1/6/2015 24,000 307920
28,764 16,236 — 11.18 11972016 10,000 128,300
— 75,000 — 12.96 111272017 — —

(1} One-third of the options vest on the first anniversary of the grant date and the balance vest in 24 equal monthly instaliments thereafier,
except for the time-based options granted to Mr. Miltet, which will vest in five equal annual installments.

(2} Mr. Millet was awarded a total of 350,000 performance-based options, The performance metrics for 2007 were not achieved and.
accordingly. options to purchase 175.000 shares of Common Stock were forfeited. If certain performance metrics for 2008 are
achicved. options to purchase 175,000 sharcs of Common Stock will vest in three equal annual instaltments on February 1, 2009,
2010 and 2011, These options will be forfeited if the performance metrics for 2008 are not achieved.

3

Restricted stock was awarded pursuant (o the Stock Incentive Plan. Each share of restricted stock represents one share of the Company s
Common Stock that is subject to forfeiture if the applicable vesting requirements are not met. Shares of restricted stock granted prior w
2007 vest in five equal annual instaliments commencing on the first anniversary of the date of grani, Shares of restricied stock granted in
2007 vest in three equal annual installments commencing on the first anniversary of the date of grant. Shares of restricted stock held by
Messrs. McVey and Millet will vest in the event of certain terminations of employment or upon a change in control of (he Company. Sce
“Executive Compensation — Potential termination or Change in Control payments and benefits™ for additional information,
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Option exercises and stock vested

The following table summarizes each vesting of restricted stock and related information lor cach of our
named executive officers on an aggregated basis during 2007, No options were exercised by our named
executive officers in 2007,

Stock Awards

Number of Shares Value Realized

Acquired on Vesting on Vesting
Name # ($)1)

Richard M. McVey ..o o e 6,000 76,080
81,000 1,027,080
T Kelley Millet .. ..o e 30,000 480,000
James N.B. Rucker . . ... o 1,500 19,020
3,000 38,040
Nicholas Themelis ... . .. i e i 2,000 25,360
6,000 76,080

(1) Value realized represents the market valuc on the date of vesting.

Employment agreements with our named executive officers
Richard M. McVey Employment Agreement

In May 2004, we entered into an employment agreement with Richard M. McVey. The employment
agreement provides that Mr. McVey will be employed by us as President, Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the Board of Directors, and his employment may be terminated by him or by us at any time,
Mr. McVey’s annual base salary under the agreement is $300,000 per year, which amount was increased in
2006 to $400,000, Mr. McVey is also eligible 1o receive an annual bonus in accordance with the 2004 Annual
Performance Plan and is entitled Lo participate in all benefit plans and programs available to our other senior
executives, at a level commensurate with his position. In connection with the hiring of Mr. Millet, Mr. McVey
agreed to waive his right to serve as President of the Company.

Mr. McVey’s employment agreement provides for severance payments and benefits if his employment is
terminated under various conditions. See “Executive Compensation — Potential Termination or
Change-in-Control Payments and Benefits” below for a description of such payments and benefits.

T. Kelley Millet Employment Agreement

In Seplember 2006, T. Kelley Millet commenced employment with us pursuant to an employment
agreement entered inlo in Avgust 2006. The agreement provides that Mr. Millet will be employed by us as
President, and his employment may be terminated by him or by us at any time. Mr. Millet's base salary under
the agreement is $300,000 per year. Mr. Millet is also eligible 1o receive an annual bonus in accordance with
the 2004 Annual Performance Plan. The agreement provides that for the calendar year ended December 31,
2007, Mr. Millet’s bonus would be no less than $500,000. He is also entitled to participate in all benefit plans
and programs available 1o our other senior executives, at a level commensurate with his position.

Mr. Millet’s employment agreement provides for severance payments and benefits if his employment is
terminated under various conditions. See “Execurive Compensation — Potential Termination or
Change-in-Control Payments and Benefits” below for a description of such payments and benefits.

Proprietary Information and Non-Competition Agreements

Each of the named cxecutive officers has entered into, and is subject to the terms of, a Proprictary
Information and Non-Competition Agreement with us that provides, among other things, (i) non-disclosure of
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our confidential information withoul our prior written consent, {ii) cerlain non-competition provisions that
restrict their engaging in certain activities that are competitive with us during their employment and for one
year thereafier, and (iii) certain non-solicitation provisions that restrict their recruiting, soliciting or hiring our
nonclerical employees or consullants, or soliciting any person or entity 1o leriminale, cease, reduce or diminish
their relationship with us, during their employment and for two years thereafier.

Loans to executive officers of the Company

Prior 1o enactment of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act in July 2002, we made two loans 1o Richard M. McVey,
our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman ol our Board of Dircctors. We entered into restricted stock purchase
agreements with Mr. McVey on June 11, 2001 and July 1, 2001, respectively, in connection with his
compensation package. Pursuant to these agreements, we sold an aggregate of 289,581 shares of cur Common
Stock 10 Mr. McVey at a purchase price of $3.60 per share. We loaned an aggregale of approximately
$1,042.,488 10 Mr. McVey to finance his purchase of these shares. Mr. MeVey executed secured promissory
notes with us to document these loans. These promissory notes bear interesl al an average rale of 5.69% per
annum. The principal and accrued interest on cach of these promissory notes is due and payable as follows:
(1) 20% of the principal and accrued interest is due on the sixth anniversary of the issuance date; (2) an equal
amount is due on each of the seventh, eighth, ninth and tenth anniversaries of the issuance date; and (3) the
balance is due on the cleventh anniversary of the issuance date. Mr. McVey may prepay all or any part of any
notc at any lime without paying a premium or penalty. A portion of the promissory noles representing 80% of
the aggregale purchase price is non-recourse and the remaining portion ol the promissory notes, representing
20% of the aggregate purchase price, is full-recourse. As security for his obligations under the promissory
notes, Mr. McVey has pledged the 289,581 shares of our Common Stock acquired by him under the restricted
stock purchase agreements described above. During 2007, Mr. McVey made principal and interest payments
aggregating $293,400.

The loans described in the preceding paragraph were entered into prior to the passage of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act. Because of the prohibitions against cenain toans under Section 402 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, we
will not modify any of these outstanding toans, nor will we enter into new louns with any of our directors or
executive oflicers, other than as permitted by applicable law at the time of the transaction.

Potential termination or Change in Control payments and benefits

Messrs. McVey and Millet are entitled to cerain payments and benefits pursuant to their employment
agrecements and other agreements entered into between us and them upon a termination of their employment in
certain circumstances or in the event of a Change in Control of the Company. Messrs. Rucker and Themelis
do not have employment agreements with us but are entitled 1o severance payments and benefits under the
MarketAxess Severance Pay Plan (the “Severance Plan™).

The following tables estimate the payments we would be obligated to make to each of our named
executive officers as a result of his termination or restgnation under the circumstances shown or, in the case of
Mr. McVey and Mr. Millet, because of a Change in Control, in each case assuming such cvent had occurred
on December 31, 2007. We have calculated these estimated payments to meet SEC disclosure requirements,
The estimated payments are not necessarily indicative of the actual amounts any of our named executive
officers would receive in such circumstances. The able excludes (i) compensation amounts accrued through
December 31, 2007 that would be paid in the normal course of continued employmeat, such as accrued but
unpaid salary, and (ii) vested account balances under our 401(k) Plan that are generally available o atl of our
salaricd employees. Where applicable, the information in the 1able uses a price per share for our Common
Stock of $12.83, the closing price on December 31, 2007, In addition, where applicable, the amounts reflected
for bonuses reflect the actual amounts paid to the named cxecutive officers for 2007, since the hypothetical
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termination or Change in Contro!l date is the last day of the fiscal year for which the bonus is to be
determined.

Pavments and Benefits for Mr. McVey

Restricted Stock
Base Health Stock Option Payment
Salary(1}) Bonus(2)  Bencfits(3) Acceleration{d) Acccleration(5) Reduction(6) Total
$ ($) ($) (%) ($) (%) ($)

Termination Without Cause Outside
a Change in Control Protection
Period ("CCPP™) and prior o a
Non-Cash Transaction . . . ... .. 400,000 700,000 11.091 866.025 — — 1977116
Termination Without Cause Outside
a CCPP and upon or following a
Non-Cash Transaction . .. ... .. 400,000 700,000 11.091 4.156.920 —_ —  5.268.011
| Termination Without Canse During
| a CCPP. but prior to a Change in
! Control .................. 800.000 1400000 16.636 866,025 — —  3.082.601
Termination Without Cause During
a CCPP and vpon or following a

Change in Control. . ... ...... 800.000 1.400.000 16.636 4.156.920 — (137.736) 6.235.820
Termination for Good Reason
Ouisidc aCCPP . ........... 400000 700000 11,091 — — —  L111,091

Termination for Good Reason

During a CCPP in connection

with a Cash Transaction (7). ... 800.000 1400000 16.636 4,156,920 — (137,736) 6.235.820
Termination for Good Reason

During a CCPP in connection

with a Non-Cash Transaction . .. 800.000 1.400.000 16,636 —_ — — 2.2l6,6306
Cash Transaction — No

Termination .. ............. — -—_ _— 4.156.920 — — 4,156,920
Death or disability .. ... ... ... 400,000 700000 11.091 4,156,920 — —  5.268.01!

(1) Mr. McVey's employment agreement provides that (i) if his employment is terminated outside ol a Change in Contro! Protection
Period (as defined below) for any reason other than his voluntary resignation without Good Reason or by us for Cause (a "Non-
Change in Control Termination™), he will receive continued payment of his hase salary for 12 months following termination, or {ii} if
he resigns for Good Reason or his employment is terminated for any reason other than his resignation without Good Reason, his death
or by us for Cause. in any case, within 3 months prior to, or, on within 18 months after, 2 Change in Centrol (such period a “Change
in Control Protection Period”™ or “CCPP” and any such termination a “Change in Control Termination™}, then he will receive continued
payment of his base salary for 24 months following termination.

{2) Mr. McVey's employment agreement provides that in the event of a Nen-Change in Control Termination, he will receive an amount
equal 1o his average annual cash bonus for the three years prior to wermination (payable in 12 equal monthly installments), or two
times such amount in the event of a Change in Control Termination (payable in 24 equal monthly installments).

(3} Mr. McVey's employment agreement provides that we will pay the cost of continuation health coverage for up 10 12 muonths following
a Non-Change in Control Termination or for up 10 §8 months following a Change in Control Termination.

(4) Pursuant to the Restricted Stock Agreement between us and Mr, MeVey made as of January 31. 2006:
« all unvested restricied shares will fully vest upor his death or disability;

« suhject 10 the last bullet below, 67,500 shares of resincted stock {or, if less, the entire unvested amount) will fully vest if we
terminate his employment without Cause;
= in the event of a Change in Control in which the holders of our Common Stock receive cash (a "Cash Transaction™). the portion of

the restricted stock that is exchanged for cash will immediately vest prior to the Change in Control: and

« in the event of & Change in Contro! in which any other consideration is paid ¢a “Non-Cash Transaction™). the portien of the
restricted stock that is exchanged for such consideration will immediately vest upon a wermination of his employment by us (or any
successor) without Cause following such Change in Control.

(5) Amounts in this column are zero because the exercise price of the stock options held by Mr. McVey is greater than the market value
of the Common Stock on December 31, 2007, Pursvant to the Stock Option Agreement between us and Mr. McVey for the incentive
stock options granted to him on January 31, 2007:

+ the option will fully vest upon his death or disability:




* subject Lo the last bullet below. options to purchase 25.000 shares of Common Stock will immediately vest if we terminate his
employment without Cause:

* in the event of an all Cash Transaciion, the option will fully vest immediately prior to such event; and

« in the event of a Non-Cash Transaction, the unvested portion of the option will immediately lully vest upon a termination of his
employment by us {or any suceessor) without Cause following such event.

(6} Mr. McVey's employment agreement provides that if any payments or benefits paid or provided 1o himn would be subject to, or result
in, the imposition of the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Intemal Revenue Code. then the amoum of such payments will be
automatically reduced to one dollar less than the amount that subjects such payment 1o the excise tax, valess he would, on a net after-
tax basis, receive less compensation than if the payment were not so reduced.

(7 For the purpose of this table we have assumed an all Cash Transaction.

For the purposes of Mr. McVey's agreements, “Cause™ generally means his:

willful misconduct or gross negligence in the performance of his duties;

conviction of, or plea of guilty or nolo contendere to, a crime relating to us or any of our affiliates or
any felony; or

malerial breach of his employment agreement or any other material written agreement with us.

For purposes of Mr. McVey's employment agreement, “Good Reason™ generally means:

his no longer holding the title of President and Chief Exceutive Officer, or the failure of the Board to
nominate him as a director or, once clected to the Board, the failure of the Board to elect him as
Chairman;

a material diminution in his dutics, authorities or responsibilities (other than as a result of his ceasing
to be a director) or the assignment of duties or responsibilities materially adversely inconsistent with
his then position;

our material breach of his employment agreement;

a relocation of his principal place of business of more than 50 miles; or

our failure to obtain a rcasonably satisfactory written agreement from any successor o all or

substantially all of our assets to assume and agree to perform our obligations under his employment
agreement.

Mr, McVey clected not to exercise his right 1o resign for Good Reason for no longer holding the title of
President in connection with Mr. Millets appointment as President.

For the purposes of Mr. McVey’s agreements, “Change in Control™ generally means:

an acquisition representing 50% or more of the combined voting power of our then outstanding
securities;

a change in the majority of the members of our Board during any two-year period, unless such
members are approved by two-thirds of the Board members who were members at the beginning of
such period or members whose nominations were so approved;

our merger or consolidation, other than {a) a transaction resulting in our voting sccurities outstanding
immediately prior thereto continuing to represent more than 50% of the combined voting power of our
voling securities or such surviving entity immediately after such transaction or (b) a transaction effected
10 implement a recapitalization (or similar transaction) in which no person acquires more than 50% of
the combined voting power of our then outstanding securities; or

our stockholders’ approval of a plan of complete liguidation or the consummation of the sale or
disposition of all or substantially all of our assets other than (a) the sale or disposition of all or
subslantially all of our asscts 10 a beneficial owner of 50% or more ol the combined voting power of
our outstanding voting sccurities at the time of the sale or (b) pursuant to a spinoff type transaction of
such assets 1o our stockholders.
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Payments and Benefits for Mr. Millet

Restricted Stock
Base Health Stock Option Pavment
Salary(I) Bonus(2) Benefits(3) Acceleration{4) Acceleration(5) Reduction(6) Total
($) % ($) ($) % ($) %

Termination Without Cause

Ousidea CCPP. . .. ....... 150,000 500.000 5.545 384,900 258.000 —  1,298.445
Termination for Good Reason

Outsidea CCPP. . ......... 150.000 500,000 3.545 384.900 — —  1.040.445
Termination Without Cause or

for Good Reason During a

CCPP in connection with a

Non-Cash and Non-

Privatization Transaction. . . . . 150.000 500,000 11.091 1.539.600 645.000 (103.688) 2.742.003
Termination Without Cause or

for Goud Reason prior to a

Cash or Privatization

Transaction . . . ........... 150,000 500,000 11.091 1.539.600 258.000 —  2.458.691]
Termination Without Causc or

for Good Reason upon a Cash

or Privatization Transaction. .. 150,000 500.000 11.091 1.539.600 258,600 —  2.458.691
Cash or Privatization

Transaction — No

Termination. . . .. ......... — — — 1.539.600 258.000 — 1.797.600

500,000 5.545 1.539.600 1,032.000 —  3.227.145

Death/ Disability . ... ........ 150.000

(1) Mr. Millet’s employment agreement provides that if his employment is terminated for any reason other than his voluntary resignation
without Good Reason or by us for Cause. he will receive continued payment of his base salary for six months following termination.

(2) Mr. Millet's employment agreement provides that if his employment is terminated for any reason other than his voluntary resignation
without Good Reason or by us for Cause, he will receive an amount equal to either (i) if such wrmination occurs prior to December 31,
2007, $500.000 (his guaranteed 2007 bonus), or (i) if such termination occurs after such date. an amount equal to his average annual
cash bonus for up to three years prior to termination (in either case, payable in 12 equal semi-monthly installments),

(3) Mr. Millet’s employment agreement provides that we will pay the cost of continuation health coverage for up to six months following

a Non-Change in Control Termination or for up to 12 months following a Change in Control Termination.

(4) Pursuant to the Resiricted Stock Agreement between us and Mr. Millet made as of September 13, 2006:

all unvesied restricted shares will fully vest upon his death or disability:

lerminate his employment without Cause or he resigns for Geod Reason;

subject to the last bullet below, 30,000 shares of restricted stock (or, if less, the eatire unvested amount) will fully vest il we

in the event of an al! Cash Transaction or a Change in Control following which our Common Stock is no longer publicly traded (a

“Privatization Transaction™), then all unvested restricted shares will fully vest immediately prior to the Change in Centrol: and

will vest upon such Change in Control if it occurs during a Change in Control Protection Period.

(5) Pursuant to the Stock Option Agreement between us and Mr. Millet dated September 13, 2006

* the option will fully vest upon his death or disability:

» subject 1o the next bullet. il we terminate his employment without Cause, or in the event of an all Cash Transaction or a

in the event of any other Change in Control {a “Non-Cash/Privatization Transaction™). then al! unvested shares of restricted stock

Privatization Trunsaction, then to the extent unvested, (i) 100,000 options subject to time vesting will immediately vest and be
exercisable, and (i) if the applicable performance metrics for 2008 were achieved on or prior to such event, 58,333 performance-
based options will immediately vest and be exercisable: and

« in the event of a Non-Cash/Privatization Transaction, then the lesser of 50% of the option award or the unvested portion of the
option award will immediately vest upon such event if it occurs during a Change in Control Protection Period.

As of December 31, 2007, the applicable performance metries for 2008 had not yet been achieved: accordingly. the restricted shares
subject thereto would not have vested upon an all Cash Transaction or a Privatization Transaction oceurring on such date. An addi-
tional portion of the options were subject 1o the achievement ol centain performance metrics in 2007 thar were not satisfied, and there-

fore that portion was forfeited.
6

—

Mr. Millet’s employment agreement provides that if any payments or benelils paid or provided to him would be subject 10, or result

in. the imposition of the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the [nlernal Revenue Code. then the amount of such paymenis will be
automatically reduced to one dollar less than the amount that subjects such payment to the excise tax. unless he would, on a net afier-
tax basis, receive less compensation than if the payment were not so reduced.
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For the purposes of Mr. Millet’s agreement, “Cause” and “Change in Control™ have the same meaning as
provided above for Mr. McVey.

For purposes of Mr. Millet’s agreement, “Good Reason™ generally means:
= any reduction in his title;

* a material diminution in his dutics, authoritics or responsibilities or the assignment of duties or
responsibilities materially adversely inconsisient with his then position;

+ our malerial breach of his employment agreement;
= a rclocation of his principal place of business of more than 50 miles; or

+ our failure 10 obtain a reasonably satisfactory written agreement from any successor to all or
substantially all of our assets to assume and agree to perform our obligations under his employment
agreement.

Payments and Benefits for Messrs. Rucker and Themelis

Messrs, Rucker and Themelis do not have employment agreements with us but are entitled to scverance
payments and benefits under the Severance Plan in the event their employment is terminated by us for any
reason other than a termination for Cause. The Sceverance Plan provides for up 10 24 weeks of continued base
salary and continue healthcare coverage based on the number of years of an employec's consecutive service
with us prior to termination.

As of December 31, 2007, Mr. Rucker hud completed seven years of consecutive service with us and
Mr. Themelis had completed three years of consecutive service with us, Had we terminated them without
Cause on December 31, 2007, they would have been eatitled 10 24 and 12 weeks of continued base salary and
continued healthcare coverage, respectively. The value ol such payments and benefits would have been as
follows:

Base Salary Health Benefits Total

($} {$) $
James N.B. Rucker .. ... .. . 92,308 5,545 97,852
Nicholas Themelis . ... oot e e e e 46,154 3,697 49,850

“Cause” is generaily defined in the Severance Plan as (i) an employee’s act or omission resulting or
intended to result in personal gain at our expense; (ii) an employee’s misconduct; (iit) performance of duties
by an employee in a manner we deem (o be materially unsatisfactory; (iv) “cause” (or words of like import) as
defined in an agreement between us and the employee; or (v) an employee’s improper disclosure of proprictary
or confidential information or trade secrets, or intellectual property that we are under a duty to protect.

Compensation plans

For information with respect 1o the securitics authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans,
please see the section captioned “Securitics Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans™ in
Ttem 12 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the ycar ended December 31, 2007, which is incorporated
herein by reference and has been delivered to you with this Proxy Statement.

Compensation Committee interlocks and insider participation

The members of our Compensation Commitice currently are Messrs. Steinhardt, Lyski and Rohatyn, None
of these individuals was (i) during the past fiscal year, an officer or employee of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, or {ii) formerly an officer of the Company or any of its subsidiarics. None of our named cxecutive
otficers currently serves, or in the past fiscal year has served, as a member of the board ol directors or
compensation committee of any entity that has one or more executive officers serving on our Board of
Directors or Compensation Committee,




CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Our related parties include our directors, director nominees, executive officers and holders of more than
five pereent of the outstanding shares of our Common Stock. Set forth in this section is inlormation
concerning transactions with our related partics.

Principal stockholder broker-dealer clients

JPMorgan, one of our broker-dealer clients, owns more than {ive percent of the outstanding shares of our
Common Stock. See Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management. For the year ended
December 31, 2007, $7.1 million, or 7.6% of our total revenues, were gencrated by JPMorgan.

We have separale agreements with each of our broker-dealer clients, including JPMorgan. These
agreements govern each such broker-dealer’s access to, and activity on, our electronic trading piatform. The
term of the agreements is generally three years, with avtomatic annual renewal thercafter uniess notice
terminale is given by a party at least 30 days prior o automatic renewal. Under cach agreement, the broker-
dealer is granted a wortdwide, non-exclusive and non-transferable license to use our electronic trading
platform. The broker-dealer agrees 1o supply us, on a non-exclusive basis, with indicative prices and quantities
of a minimum number of fixed-income instruments for our inventory pages. We may only provide the pricing
and other content provided by a broker-deater to those of our institutional investor clients approved by the
broker-dealer to receive such content. Additionally, institutional investors must be approved by a broker-dealer
before heing able 10 engage in transactions on our platiorm. These agreements also provide for the fees and
expenses 1o be paid by the broker-dealers for their use of our clectronic trading platform.

Indemnification agreements

We have entered into an indemnification agreemem with each of our outside directors. The indemnifica-
tion agreements and our certificate of incorporation and bylaws require us 1o indemnify our directors and
officers to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware taw,

Registration rights agreement

JPMorgan, along with certain other holders of our Common Stock, are party to our sixth amended and
restated regisiration rights agreement. Stockholders who are a party to this agreement are provided certain
rights to demand registration of shares of Common Stock and (o participate in a registration of our Common
Stock that we may decide to do, from time to time. Generally, we have agreed to pay all expenses of any
registration pursuant to the registration rights agreement, except for underwriters” discounts and commissions.

OTHER MATTERS

Section 16(a) beneficial ownership reporting compliance

The members of our Board of Directors, our executive officers and persons who hold more than 10% of
our outstanding Common Stock are subject to the reporting requircments of Section 16(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which requires them to file reports with respect to their ownership of our
Common Stock and their transactions in such Common Stock. Based solely upon a review of (i) the copies of
Scction 16(a) reports that MarketAxess has received from such persons for transactions in our Common Stock
and their Common Stock holdings for the 2007 fiscal year and (ii) the writien representations of such persons
that no annual Form 5 reports were required to be filed by them for the fiscal year, the Company believes that
all reporting requirements under Scction 16(a) for such fiscal year were met in a timely manner by its
directors, executive officers and bencficial owners of more than 10% of its Commeoen Stock.
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Other matters

As of the date of this Proxy Statement, the Company knows ol no other matters that will be preseated for
consideration at the Annual Meeting. 11 any olther matters properly come before the Annual Meeting, it is the
intention of the persons named in the enclosed proxy card Lo vote the shares they represent as such persons
deem advisable. Discretionary authority wilh respect o such other matters is granted by the execution of the
enclosed proxy card.

Stockholder proposals for 2009 Annual Meeting

In order to he considered for inclusion in the Company’s Proxy Stalement and proxy card relating to the
2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, any proposial by a stockholder submitted pursuant to Rule 14a-8 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, must be received by the Company ai its principal executive
offices in New York, New York, on or before December 24, 2008. In addition, under the Company’s bylaws,
any proposal for consideration at the 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders submitted by a stockholder other
than pursuant to Rule 14a-8 will be considered timely if it is received by the Secretary of the Company at its
principal executive offices between the close of business on November 24, 2008, and the close of business on
December 24, 2008, and is otherwise in compliance with the requirements set forth in the Company’s bylaws.
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Appendix A

MARKETAXESS HOLDINGS INC.
2008 CODE SECTION 162(M)
PERFORMANCE INCENTIVE PROGRAM

Set forth below are the terms and conditions of the MarketAxess Holdings Inc. (the “Company™) 2008
Code Scction 162(m) Performance Incentive Program (the “2008 Program™} established by the Company’s
Compensation Committee (the “Commitice™) lor the period commencing January 1, 2008 and ending

December 31, 2008 (the “Performance Period™).

I. Definitions.

a. Bonus Pool means an amount equal to 32.5% of 30.0% of Operating Income.

b, Operating Income means the Company’s pre-tax operating income for the Performance Period
before the Company’s payment of any cash bonuses (o ils employees for performance during the
Performance Period, as set forth in the Company’s financial statements and as calcutated in accordance
with GAAP.

1. Award.

Subject to the terms and conditions sel forth herein, the Company’s officers with the titles set forth below
on the first day of the Performance Period (vach a *“Participant’™) will be entitled to receive a percentage of the
Bonus Pooi ("Awards™) as {ollows:

Percentage of

m Bonus Pool
Chief Executive Officer. .. .. o o e e e 35%
PreSTU T L L e e e e e e 35%
Chiel Information OffICer . ... . i e e et et e 30%

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee may, in its sole discretion, elect 1o pay a Participant an
amount from the Bonus Pool that is less than, but in no event greater than, the percentage set forth above. Any
amount of the Bonus Pool not paid to the Participants will revert to the general funds of the Company.

1. Pavment of Awards. The Awards, if any, will be paid to the Participants in a lump sum cash
payment in calendar year 2009 promptly following the Committee’s writlen certification of the amount of
Operating Income, if any, carned by the Company. Notwithstanding anything herein 10 the contrary, payment
of an Award is contingent on the Participant’s continued employment with the Company through the last day
of the Performance Period; provided, that in the event a Participant’s employment with the Company is
terminated during the Performance Period by the Participant for Good Reason or other than: (a) by the
Participant voluntarily without Good Reason; {b) as a result of the Participant’s death; or (¢) by the Company
for Cause, the Participant will be entitled 1o receive a pro-rata portion of the Participant’s Award based on
actual results for the Performance Period (determined by multiplying the amount of the Award which the
Participant would have received if not for such termination by a fraction, the numerator of which is the
number of days during the Performance Period that the Participant is employed by the Company and the
denominator of which is 365), such pro-rated portion to be paid in accordance with the first sentence of this
Section II1; and provided further, that a Participant shall not be entitled 1o an Award il the Participant’s
employment is terminated by the Company for Cause at any time prior to the payment of the Award. For the
purposcs of this Section III, the term “Cause™ shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the Padticipant’s
individual employment agreement with the Company, if any, or if the Participant does not have an individual
cmployment agreement or such term is not defined therein, the meaning assigned to such term in the
MarketAxess 2004 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated as of April 28, 2006. For the purposes of
this Section I, the term “Good Reason” shall have the meaning assigned o such term in the Participant’s
individual employment agreement with the Company, if any, and if the Participant docs not bave an individual
cmployment agreement or such term is not defined therein, the Participant shall not have the right 10 a
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pro-rated portion of the Participant’s Award upon any voluntary lermination by the Participant during the
Performance Period.

IV. Code Section 162(m). The goal of achicving Opcrating Income as set forth herein is established for
purposes of the making of the Awards and is intended to be a “performance goal” under Section 162(m) of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (*Section 162(m)™). In accordance with Section 162(m), the
Company intends to submit the 2008 Program for stockholder approval at the next mecting of the Company’s
stockholders and, notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Awards shall he conditioned upon such
stockholder approval of the 2008 Program and in the event the necessary stockholder approval under
Section 162(m) for the 2008 Program is not reccived, the Participants shall not be entitled (o any Awards
hereunder.

V. Miscellancous
Notwithstanding anything 1o the contrary, the Committee shall calculate Operating Income in @ manner
that excludes the following:
(a) atl items of gain, loss or expense for the applicable fiscal year under consideration that are
related to the disposal of a business or discontinued operations of a business; and
(b) all items ol gain, loss or expense for the applicable fiscal ycar that are related to changes in
accounting principles or to changes in applicable law or regulations.

With respect to the Performance Period, to the extent any provision contained herein creates impermissi-
ble discretion under Section 162(m) of the Code, such provision will be of no force or effect.
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PART }

Forward-Looking Statements

This report contains certain “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Forward-looking statements may be identified by words such as “expects,”
“intends,” “anticipates,” “plans,” “believes,” “secks,” “estimates,” “will,” or words of similar meaning and include,
but are not limited to, statements regarding the outlook for our future business and financial perlormance. Forward-
looking statements are based on management’s current expectations and assumptions, which are subject to inherent
uncertaintics, risks and changes in circumstances that are dilficult to predict. 1t is routine for our internal projections
and expectations to change as the year or cach quarter in the year progresses, and therefore it should be clearly
understeod Lhat the internal projections and beliefs upon which we base our expectations may change prior to the
end of each quarter or the year. Although these expectations may change, we are under no obligation to revise or
update any forward-looking statements contained in this reporl. Our company policy is generally 10 provide our
expectations only once per quarter, and not to update that information unltil the next quarter. Actual future events or
results may differ, perhaps materially, from those contained in the projections or forward-looking siatements.
Factors that could cause or contribuie to such differences inchude those discussed below and elsewhere in this report,
particularly in Item 1A, “Risk Factors.”

Item 1. Business

MarkciAxess operates one of the leading platforms for the electronic trading of corporate bonds and certain
other types of fixed-income securities. Through our platform, 674 active institutional investor client firms (firms
that executed at least one trade through our clecironic trading platform between Januvary 2007 and December
2007) can access the aggregaie liguidity provided by the collective interest of our 30 broker-dealer clients in buying
or selling bonds through our platform. Our active institutional investor clients include investment advisers, mutual
funds, insurance companics, public and private pension funds, bank portfotios and bedge funds. We provide data
and analytical tools that help our clicats make trading decisions, we provide connectivity solutions that facilitae the
trading process by electronically communicating order information between trading counterparties and we provide
our clients with ancillary technology services. Our revenues are primarily generated from the trading of U.S. and
European high-grade corporate bonds.

Our multi-dealer request Tor quote (“RFEQ”) trading platform allows our institutional investor clients to simul-
taneously request competing, executable bids or offers from our broker-dealer clients and execute trades with the
broker-dealer of their choice from among those that choose to respond. We offer our broker-dealer clients a solution
that enables them to efficiemly reach our institutional investor ctients for the distribution and (mdmg: of bonds. In
addition 10 U.S. high-grade corporate honds, European high-grade corporate bonds and emerging markets bonds,
including both investment-grade and non-investment grade debt, we also ofter our clients the ability to trade crossover
and high-yicld bonds, agency bonds and credit default swaps (*CDS™). Our DealerAxess® anonymous cross-matching
trading service allows dealers 1o trade fixed-income securities and credit default swaps with cach other on our platform,

The majority of our revenues are derived from monthly distribution tees and commissions for trades executed
on our platform that are billed to our broker-dealer clients on a monthly basis. We also derive revenues from
information and user access fees, license fees, invesiment income and other income, which includes fees carned
from our 1echnology services business. Our expenses consist of employee compensation and benefits, depreciation
and amortization, technology and communication cxpenses, professional and consulting fees, occupancy, mar-
keting and advertising and general and administrative expenses.

Traditionally, bond trading has been a manual process, with product and price discovery conducted over the
telephone between two or more parties. This traditional process has a number of shortcomings resulting primarily
from the lack of a central trading facility for these securities, which creates difficully matching buyers and sellers
for particular issues. In recent years, an increasing number of corporate bond trading participants have utilized
e-mail and other electronic means of communication for trading corporate bonds. While this has addressed some of
the shortcomings associated with traditional corporale bond trading, we believe that the process is still hindered by




limited liguidity, limited price transparency, significant transaction costs. compliance and regulatory challenges,
and difficulty in executing numerous trades at one time,

Through our disclosed multi-dealer RFQ platform, our institutional investor clients can determine prices
available for a security, a process called price discovery, as well as trade securities directly with our broker-dealer
clients. The price discovery process includes the ability 1o view indicative prices from the broker-dealer clients’
inventory available on our platform, access to real-time pricing information and analytical tools (including spread-
1o-Treasury data, scarch capabilitics and independent third-party credit rescarch) available on our Corporate
BondTicker™ service and the ability 10 request executable bids and offers simultaneously from up to 22 of our
broker-dealer clients during the trade process. On average, institutional investor clients receive several bids or offers
from broker-dealer clients in response to trade inquiries. However, some trade inquirics may not receive any bids or
offers. Our services relating to trade execution include single and multiple-dealer inquiries; list trading, which is the
ability to request bids and offers on multiple bonds at the same time; and swap trading, which is the ability to request
an offer to purchase one bond and a bid to sefl another bond, in a manner such that the two trades will be executed
simultancously, with payment based on the price differential of the bonds. Once a trade is completed on our
platform, the broker-deater client and institutional investor client may settle the trade with the assistance of our
automated post-trade messaging, which facilitates the communication of trade acknowledgment and allocation
information between our institutional investor and broker-dealer clients. We are not a party to the actual trades that
occur on our platform between institutional investor clients and broker-dealer clients; rather, we serve as an
intermediary between broker-dealers and institutional investors, enabling them to meet, agree on a price and then
transact with each other.

Our DealerAxess® anonymous cross-maiching service, which we introduced in June 2006, allows our broker-
dealer clients to transact U.S. corporatc and emerging markets bond and CDS trades on our platform with other
broker-dealer clients. Our broker-dealer clienis can exceute these trades in a more efficient manner and at lower
transaction costs than in the traditional voice-brokered inter-dealer market. Although DealerAxess® is a comnpletely
segregated trading platform, it shares the same core technology as our clicnt-to-dealer platform. MarketAxess
Corporation, our U.S. subsidiary, acts as intermediary on a riskless principal basis in bond transactions between
broker-dealer clients by serving as counterparty to the two broker-dealer clients involved. CDS transactions are
conducted on the DealerAxess® platform on a name give-up basis and are directly settled between the two trading
counterparties.

Our client base includes 30 of the leading broker-dealers in global fixed-income trading and 674 active
institutional investor firms (firms that executed at least one trade through our clectronic truding platform between
January 2007 and December 2007). Our broker-dealer clients accounted for approximaiely 98% of the underwriting
of newly-issued U.S. high-grade corporate bonds and approximately 82% of the underwriting of newly issued
European high-grade corporate bonds in 2007. We believe these broker-dealers also represent the principal source
of secondary market liquidity in the other markets in which we operate. Sccondary market liquidity refers to the
ability of markel participants to buy or sell a security quickly and in large volume subsequent to the original
issuance of the security, without substantially affecting the price of the security. Our broker-dealer clients currently
trade fixed-income securities by traditional means including telephone, e-mail and proprictary single-dealer
systems in addition to our ¢lectronic trading platform and we expect them 1o continue to do so in the future. We
believe that these traditional means of trading remain the manner in which the majority of bonds are traded between
institutional investors and broker-dealers. Our volume in U.S. high-grade corporate bonds represented approx-
imately 9.4% of the total U.S. high-grade corporate bond volume, exctuding convertible bonds, for 2007 as reported
by the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA™) Trade Reporting and Compliance Engine (“TRACE™),
which includes inter-dealer and retail trading as well as trading between institutional investors and broker-dealers.
We have not identified a reliabie source of data relating to cither the total volume of client-to-deater trading or the
size of the other markets we serve and therefore are unable 1o accurately determine the total volume of secondary
trading of these bonds or the portion of such trading conducted on our platiorm.
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Company History

MarketAxess was formed in April 2000, and pilot trading on our fully disclosed multi-dealer platform began in
October 2000, We Taunched trading on our electronic platform in January 2001 with cight broker-dealer clients. In
March 2001, we acquired Trading Edge, Inc. ("Trading Edge™), the operator of an anonymous trading platform for
U.S. corporate bonds, convertible bonds, municipal bonds and emerging markets bonds. The technology platform
developed by Trading Edge and obtained by us through the acquisition is now the core of our product offerings. In
August 2001, one of our U.K. subsidiarics, MarketAxess Europe Limited, began operations with sccondary
clectronic trading in U.S. dollar-denominated and Eure-denominated corporate bonds, We launched our infor-
mation service, Corporate BondTicker ™ in July 2002. Corporate BondTicker' ™ combines FINRA TRACE data
with MarkctAxess data and analytical tools to provide trading professionals, rescarch firms, rating and news
agencics, and other market participants with a comprehensive set of corporate bond information. On November 4,
2004, we completed the initial public offering of our common stock. In November 2007, we formed a new
subsidiary, MarketAxess Technologics Inc., which acquired certain assets and assumed cenain obligations of Trade
West Systems, LLC (“"TWS™). TWS is a Utah-based linancial sofiware and technology services provider focused on
providing gateway adapters for connecting order management systems and trading systems to fixed-income trading
venues.

Industry Background

Fixed-income securities are issued by corporations, governments and other entilics, and pay a pre-set absolute
or relative rate of return. As of December 31, 2007, there were approximately $29.2 rillion of fixed-income
securities outstanding in the U.S. market, including $5.7 trillion of U.S. corporate bonds. We are primarily active in
six segments of the credit markets within the global fixed-income securities market: U.S. high-grade corporate
bonds; European high-grade corporate bonds: emerging markets bonds; crossover and high-yield bonds; agency
bonds; and CDS.

The second half of 2007 was a period of significant turmoit in the U.S. and European credit markets, especially
in shori-term funding and floating rate note instruments. A widespread retrenchment in the credit markets resulted
in increased credit spreads and significantly higher credit spread volatility across a wide range of asset classes. The
average daily trading volume of U.S. high-grade corporate bonds for the sccond haif of 2007 decreased by 14%
compared to the sccond half of 2006. We belicve the resultant lack of liquidity in the credit markets led institutional
investors to reduce overall bond trading activity and conduct a higher percentage of their trades directly with their
broker-dealer counterpartics, resulting in lower volumes on our platform. We also belicve that a stabilization in
credit market conditions, at higher overall levels of credit spreads, is likely o favorably impact the volume of trades
conducted over our platform.

U.S. High-Grade Corporate Bond Market

The total amount of U.S. corporate bonds outstanding has grown from $3.0 trillion as of December 31, 1999 10
$5.7 trillion as of December 31, 2007. The average daily trading volume of U.S. corporate bonds (investment grade
and high yield) has decreased from approximately $17.9 billion in 2002 (the first calendar year for which such data
arc available) to $13.2 biltion in 2007. We belicve that this decline in average daily trading volumes is due to
cyclical credit market conditions and the growth of debl instruments going into structured product instruments.

The U.S. corporate bond market consists of three broad categories of securities: investment-grade debt
(so-called “high-grade™), which typically refers 1o debt rated BBB- or better by Standard & Poor’s or Baa3 or belter
by Moody’s Investor Service; debt rated below invesiment-grade (so-called “*high-yicld™), which typically refers (o
debt rated lower than BBB- by Standard & Poor’s or Baa3 by Moody’s Investor Service; and debt convertible into
equity (so-called “convertible debt™).
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The U.S. high-grade corporate bond market, which represents the largest subset of the U.S. corporate bond

market, has undergone significant change over the fast several years, which has been driven by a number of factors,
including:

s Improved price transparency — In 2002, FINRA adopted TRACE reporting, which requires FINRA
members (o report secondary market transactions in certain fixed-income securitics o the FINRA. Since
February 2005, the list of TRACE-¢ligible bonds has included 23,000 unigue securities, representing 99% of
the daily trading volume of high-grade bonds,

Introduction of electronic trading platforms — Electronic trading platforms, which are in the early stages of
adoption, act as central facilities 1o bring together buyers and sellers. The actions of participants on these
platforms are facilitated by an clectronic medium that improves some of the manual processes that might
otherwise be required, such as scarching for securities with specific characteristics, the coordination of
multiple bilateral telephone calls or electronic communications, the sorting and analysis of competing bids
or offers, and the entry of orders into the trading system after verbal or e-mail trade agreement. As a result,
these platforms typically provide a lower-cost and more efficieat means of enhanced distribution ard trade
exccution than previously possible.

Introduction of credit derivatives — Credit derivatives provide increased flexibility and liquidity for
investors and lenders to diversify their credit exposures. The appeal of these products is apparent in the
growth in the total notional amount of outstanding CDS. According to the International Swaps and
Derivatives Association, Inc. (“ISDA™), the total notional amount of CDS outstanding grew from approx-
imately $900 bitlion at December 31, 2001 to approximately $46 trillion at June 30, 2007.

Growth in the total amount of debt ourstanding — The 1otal size of the U.S. high-grade corporate bond
market has increased sigmificantly since 1998, when approximately $564 billion gross amount of new bonds
were issued. By 2007, the amount of gross corporate issuance had grown 1o $1,114.4 billion, as illustrated in
the chart below:
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European High-Grade Corporate Bond Market

The European high-grade corporale bond markel consists of a broad range of products, issuers and currencies.
We deline the European high-grade corporate bond market generally to consist of bonds intended 1o be distributed
10 Europcan investors, primarily bonds issued by European corporations, excluding bonds that are issued by a
corporation domiciled in an emerging markets country and excluding most government bonds that trade in Europe.
Examples include:

* bonds issued by European corporations, denominated in any currency;

* bonds generally denominated in Euros, U.S. dollars or Pounds Sterling, excluding boads that are issued by a
corporation domiciled in an emerging market;

¢ bonds issued by supra-national organizations (entities that include a number of central banks or government
financial authorities. such as the World Bank), agencics and governments located in Europe, generally
denominated in Eures, U.S. dollars or Pounds Sterling, provided that such currency is not the currency of the
country where the bond was issued; and

+ floating-rale notes issued by European corporations.

We belicve that the European high-grade corporate bond market is impacted by many of the same factors as the
U.S. high-grade corporate bond market. In addition, we believe the following factors are unique to the European
high-grade corporate bond market:

» Adoption of the Enro — The adoption of the Euro as the common currency in most European Union
countries has reduced the importance of currency as an investment selection criterion and elevated the
importance of the credit risk of particular issuers. As a result, institutional investors have exhibited a greater
interest in investing in a broader range of bonds issued by entities domiciled outside of their home countries.

* Regulatory environment — Cerlain European Union countries have eased restrictions that required insti-
lutional nvestors 10 invest primarily in domestic securitics. This has provided European institutional
investors with increased flexibility to invest in securities issued by entitics domiciled in other countries
within the Europcan Union, On November 1, 2007, the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive
("MiFID™) came into effect. MiFID is designed to further harmonize the financial markets of the member
states of the Europcan Union and introduces new pre- and post-trade transparency requirements.

» Common liguidity peol — The larger capital pool created by the common currency and changes in the
regulaiory environment have enabled European corporations (o offer larger issues, which has resulted in
increases in the liquidity and trading volumes of these issues. This has attracied even more institutional
investors, who prefer (o invest in highty-liquid markets.

Emerging Markets Bond Market

We define the emerging markets bond market generally to include U.S. dollar, Euro or local currency
denominated bonds issued by sovereign entities or corporations domiciled in a developing country. These issuers
are typically located in Latin America, Asia, or Central and Eastern Europe. Examples of countries we classily as
emerging markets include: Brazil, Colombia, Mexico, Pery, the Philippines, Russia, Turkey and Venczuela.

The institutiona! investor base for emerging markets bonds has recently expanded to include many crossover
investors from the high-yield and high-grade invesiment arcas. Institutional investors have been drawn 10 emerging
markets bonds by their high returns and high growth potential, as well as by a general trend toward positive
economic and political reforms and improving economic performance in many emerging markets countrics,

Crossover and High-Yield Bond Market

We define the high-yield bond market generally to include all debt rated lower than BBB- by Standard &
Poor’s or Baa3 hy Moody’s Investor Service. We define the crossover market 10 include any debt issue rated below
investment grade by one agency but investment grade by the other. The total amount of high-yicld corporate bonds
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yearly issuance has grown from $130.9 billion for the year ended December 31, 2003 to approximately
$136.3 billion {or the year ended December 31, 2007,

FINRA hegan publicly disseminating real-time price inlormation on approximately 12,000 high-yield
corporite bond issues in 2005. Trades in bonds rated BB and lower are subject to immediate dissemination if
the 1rade size is less than $1 million, or greater than $1 million and trades an average of once or more a day. The
disseminated set was expanded on February 1, 2005 to include reporting of certain transactions on a delayed basis.
The average daily trading volume of high-yicld bonds reported by FINRA for the year ended December 31, 2007
was $4.2 billion.

Agency Bond Market

We define the agency bond market to tnclude debt issued by a U.S. government-sponsored agency. Some
prominent issuers of agency bonds are the Student Loan Marketing Association (“Sallic Mae™), Federal National
Mortgage Association (“Fannie Mae™) and Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (“Freddie Mac™). The total
amount of U.S. agency bonds outstanding has grown from $1.9 trillion as of December 31, 2000 to $2.9 trillion as of
December 31, 2007. The Federal Reserve Bank of New York reported average daily trading volume in federal
agency and government sponsored enterprise sccuritics (excluding mortgage-backed sccurities) for 2007 of
$17.2 billion.

Credit Default Swap Market

Credit default swaps are contracts on an underlying asset that transfer risk and return from one party to another
without transferring ownership of the underlying asset, allowing market participants to obtain credit protection or
assume credit exposure associaled with a broad range of issuers of fixed-income sccurities and other dek
obligations. They are often designed to hedge other exposures and can be tied to particular events, such as a
default, bankruptcy or ratings downgrade. CDS provide increased flexibility and liquidity for investors and lenders
10 diversify their credit risk. Approximately half of the volume traded in CDS is index products, which give
exposure to a defined basket of underlying CDS. The remainder is traded in single-name CDS. The appeal of these
products is apparent in the growth in the total notional amount of outstanding CDS, as illustrated in the chart below:
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Our Competitive Strengths

Our clectronic trading platform provides solutions to some of the shortcomings of traditional bond trading
methods. The benefits of our solution are demonsirable throughout the trading cycle:

e Pre-trade — galhering real-time and historical pricing information, ideatifying interested buyers and sellers
in a particutar seeurity, and obtaining research and analysis;

* Trade — single and multiple security trade execution; and
* Post-trade — trade detail matching, account allocation and automated audit trail.

We believe that we are well positioned to strengthen our market position in electronic trading in our existing
products and to extend our presence into new products and services by capitalizing on our competitive sirengths,
including:

Significant Trading Volumes with Participation by Leading Broker-Dealers and Institutional Investors

Our clectronic trading platform provides access to the liquidity provided through the participation on our
platform of 30 of the leading global securitics broker-dealers and 674 active institutional investor firms {firms that
cxecuted at least one trade through our clectronic trading platform between January 2007 and December 2007). We
believe these broker-dealers represent the principal source of secondary market liquidity for U.S. high-grade
corporale bonds, European high-grade corporate bonds, emerging markets bonds and the other markets in which we
operate. Our broker-dealer clients are motivated to continue to utilize our plaiform due to the presence on the
platform ol our large network of institutional investor clicnts. We believe that if we continue 1o grow the
participation of our broker-dealer and institutional investor clients on our electronic trading platform, the benefits
in liquidity on the platform to both broker-dealers and institutional investors will be amplified, further motivating
them to use our platform. The number of our active institutional investor clients for the past five years has been as
follows:
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Our total trading volume has grown over the past {ive years as indicated below:
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Our volume in U.S. high-grade corporate bonds grew from approximately 6.4% of totat U.S. high-grade
corporate bond volume, excluding convertible bonds, in 2004 as reported by FINRA TRACE, which includes inter-
dealer and retail trading as weli as trading between institutional investors and broker-dealers, to approximately
9.4% in 2007, as shown in the chart below:
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We have not identified a reliable source of data relating 1o ¢ither the total volume of client-to-dealer trading or
the size of the other markets we serve and therefore we are unabte to accurately determine the total volume of
secondary trading of these bonds or the portion of such trading conducted on our platform.




Execution Benefits to Clients
Benefits to Institutional Investor Clients

We helieve we provide numerous benefits 10 our institutional investor clients over traditional fixed-income
trading methods, including:

Competitive Prices. By enabling institutional investors 1o simultancously request bids or offers from our
broker-dealer clients, we believe our electronic trading platform creates an environment that motivates our broker-
dealer clients to provide competitive prices and gives institutional investors confidence that they are obtaining a
competitive price. For typical MarketAxess multi-dealer corporate bond inguirics, the range of competitive
spread-to-Treasury responses is, on average, approximately 10 basis points (a basis point is 17100 of 1% in yield).
As an example of the potential cost savings to institutional investors, a one basis point savings on a $1 million face
amount trade of a bond with 10 years to maturity translates to aggregate savings of approximately $750.00.

Transparent Pricing on a Runge of Securities.  ‘The commingled mutti-dealer inventory of bonds posted by
our broker-dealer clients on our platform consists of a daily average of more than $120 billion in indicative bids and
offers. Subject to applicable regulatory requirements, institutional investors can search bonds in inventory based on
any combination of issuer, issue, rating, maturity, spread-10-Treasury, size and dealer providing the listing, in a
{raction of the time it takes to do so manually. Institutional investor clients can also request executable bids and
offers on our clectronic trading platform on any debt security in a database of U.S. and European corporate bonds,
although there can be no assurance as to the number of broker-dealers who wili cheose to provide an executable
price. Our platform transmits bid and offer requesis in real-lime to broker-dealer clients, who may respond with
executable prices within a time period specified by the investor.

Improved Cost Efficiency.  We believe that we provide improved efficiency by reducing the time and labor
required to conduct broad product and price discovery. Single-security and multi-security (bid or offer lists)
inquiries can be efficiently conducted with multiple broker-dealers. In addition, our Corporate BondTicker™
eliminates the need for manually-iniensive phone calls or e-mail communication to gather, sort and analyze
information concerning historical transaction prices.

Benefits to Broker-Dealer Clients

We alse provide substantial benefits to our broker-dealer clients over traditional fixed-income trading
methods, including:

Greater Sales Efficiency.  We offer our broker-dealer clients broad connectivity with their institutionat
investor clients. Through this connectivity, our broker-dealer clients are able 10 efficiently display their indications
of interest to buy and sell various sccuritics. We also cnable broker-dealers to broaden their distribution by
participating in transactions 1o which they otherwise may not have had access. In addition, the ability to post prices
and clectronically execute on straightforward trades enables bond sales professionals at broker-dealer firms to focus
their efforts on more profitable activities, such as higher value-added trades and more complex transactions.

More Efficient Inventory Management. The posling of inventory to, and the ability to respond to inquiries
from, a broad poo! of institutional investors, creates an increased opportunity for broker-dealers to identify demand
for their inventory, particularly in less liquid sccurities. As a resuit, we believe they can achieve enhanced bond
inventory turnover, which may limit credit exposure.

Benefits to Both Institutional Investor and Broker-Dealer Clients

We offer additional benefits over traditional fixed-income trading methods that are shared by both institutional
investor and broker-dealer clients, including:

Greater Trading Accuracy. Our clectronic trading platform includes verification mechanisms at vartous
stages of the execulion process which result in greater accuracy in the processing, confirming and clearing of trades
between institational investar and broker-dealer clients, These verification mechanisms are designed (o ensure that
our broker-dealer and institutional investor clients are sending accurate trade messages by providing multiple
opportunitics to verify they are trading the correct boad, at the agreed-upon price and size. Our platform assists our
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institutional investor clients in automating the transmittal of order tickets from the portfolio manager to the trader,
and from the trader 1o back-office personnel. This automation provides more timely execution and a reduction in the
likelihood of errors that can result from information being manually entered into different systems.

Efficient Risk Monitoring and Compliance. Institutional investors and their regulators are increasingly
focused on ensuring that best exccution is achieved for fixed-income trades. Our electronic trading platform offers
both institutional investors and broker-dealers an automated audit trail for cach stage in the trading cycle. This
enables compliance personnel to review information relating 1o trades more casily and with greater reliability, Trade
information including time, price and spread-to-Treasury is slored securely and aulomatically on our electronic
trading platform. These data represent a valuable source of information for our clients’ compliance personnel.
Importantly, we believe the automated audit trail, together with the competitive pricing that is a feature of our
clecironic trading platform, gives fiduciaries the ability to demonstrate that they have achicved best execution on
behalf of their clients.

Other Service Offerings

In addition to services directly related 1o the execution of trades, we offer our clients several other services,
including:

Information Services. The informalion and analylical tools we provide to our clients help them make
investment and trading decisions. Qur Corporate BondTicker™ provides access 1o real-time and historical price,
yield and MarketAxcss estimated spread-to-Treasuries for publicly disseminated FINRA TRACE-eligible bonds.
Corporate BondTicker™ combines publicly-available TRACE data with the prices for trades executed on our
U.S. high-grade electronic trading platform, integrating the two dala sources and providing real-ime TRACE data
with associated analytical tools that are not otherwise available. Corporate BondTicker™ provides end-of-day CDS
pricing data combined with CDS analytics and screening tools that incorporate cash bond and equity market data. In
addition, Corporate BondTicker™ provides indicative prices for secondary loans, through arrangemenis with
certain of our broker-dealer clients, and independent third-party credit research. Our clectronic trading platform
allows institutional investors o compile, sort and use information to discover invesiment opportunities that might
have been difficult or impossible to identify using a manual information gathering process or other electronic
SCrvices.

In November 2006, we added a comprehensive set of reports designed to review and moniter credit trading
activity for institutional investor clients, I utilizes extensive TRACE information and has a flexible interface to run
and save reports in a variety of formats for both compliance and management reporting. For example, the best
exccution report provides a view of the savings generated by trading on our clectronic trading platform and offers a
quantitative measure of the value of price discovery from multiple dealers. The repont allows clients to monitor
performance against their own best exccution policy. Our compliance product provides a printed history of each
inquiry submitied through the MarketAxess trading platform.

Straight-Through Processing.  Straight-through processing (“STP”) refers to the integration of sysiems and
processes to automate the trade process from cend-to-cnd —- trade execution, confirmation and settlement —
without the need for manual intervention. Qur electronic trading platform provides broker-dealers and institutional
investors with the ability to automate portions of their transaclion processing requirements, improving accuracy and
efficiency. Through clectronic messaging, institutional investors can submit inquirics to, and receive clectronic
notices of execution from us, in industry standard protocols, complete with all relevant trade details. Institutional
tnvestors can download trade messages, allocate trades 1o sub-accounts on whose behalf the trades were made and
send the altocations to broker-dealers for confirmation.

Robust, Scalable Technology Platform
We have developed proprictary technelogy that is highly secure, fault-tolerant and provides adequate capacity

for our current operations, as well as for substantial growth. Our highly scalable systems are designed to
accommodate additional volume, products and clients with relatively little modification and low incremental costs.

10




Proven Innovator with an Experienced Management Team

Since our inception, we have been an innovator in the fixed-income securities markets. Our management team
is comprised ol executives with an average ol more than 20 years™ experience in the securities industry, We have
consistently sought to benefit participants in the markets we serve by attempting 1o replicate the essential {eatures of
fixed-income trading, including the existing relationships between broker-dealers and their institutional investor
clients, while applying technotogy to climinate weaknesses in traditional trading methods. In 2007, Credit
magazine recognized MarkelAxess as “Best Mualti-Dealer Credit Default Swaps Trading Platform™and ~Best
Multi-Dealer Corporate Bond Trading Platform™ in both the U.S. and Europe. The year 2007 was the {irst year that
the award for Best Muhi-Dealer Credit Default Swaps Trading Platform was included in the Credit magazine
awards, and the third consecutive year that MarketAxess has been recognized as the Best Multi-Dealer Corporate
Bond Trading Platform.

Some of the innovations we have introduced to electronic trading include:
+ the first multi-dealer disclosed trading platform for U.S. high-grade corporate bonds;
= the first electronic Treasury benchmarking for U.S. high-grade corporaie bond trades;

+ Corporate BondTicker™, our information services product, combining FINRA TRACE bond data with
MarketAxess data and analytical tools;

* bid and offer list technology for corporate bond trading, enabling institutional investors to request executable
prices for multiple securities simullaneously;

* the first disclosed client to multi-dealer trading platform for CDS indices; and

« DealerAxess®, an innovative dealer-to-dealer clectronic trading platform for U.S. high-grade corporate
bonds, emerging market bonds and CDS.

Our Strategy

Our ohjective is to provide the leading global electronic trading platform for fixed-income securities,
connecting broker-dealers and institutional investors more easily and efficienily, while offering a broad array
of services 1o market participants across the trading cycle. The key clements of our strategy are:

Enhance the Liquidity of Securities Traded on Our Platform and Broaden Our Client Base in Our
Existing Markets

We intend to further enhance the liquidity of securities traded on our leading electronic, multi-dealer 1o client
fixed-income platform. Our ability to innovate and efficiently add new functionality and product offerings to the
MarketAxess plattorm will help us deepen our market share with our existing clients, as well as expand our clicnt
base, which we believe will in turn Iead to even further increases in the liquidity of the securities provided by our
broker-dealer clients and available on our platform. We will seck 1o make our current product oiferings on our
European clectronic trading platform available to our 465 active U.S. institmional investor clients (firms that
executed at least one trade through our electronic trading platform between January 2007 and December 2007) and
lo increase the number of active European institutional investor clients (209 firms that executed at least one trade
through our electronic trading platform between January 2007 and December 2007) using our U.S. clectronic
trading platform, in each case subject 1o regulatory requirements.

Leverage our Existing Technology and Client Relationships to Expand into New Sectors of the
Fixed-Income Securities Market

We intend to leverage our technology, as well as our strong broker-dealer and institutional investor relation-
ships, 10 deploy our electronic trading platform into additional product segments within the fixed-income securities
markets and deliver fixed-income securities-related technical services and products. Due in part 1o our highly
scalable systems, we believe we will be able to enter new markets efficienly.
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Leverage our Existing Technology and Client Relationships to Expand into New Client Segments

We intend 10 leverage our technology and client relationships to deploy our clectronic trading platform into
new client segments. For example, we belicve that CDS index trading on our platform will enable us to increase
volumes from our hedge {und clients, as this client segment is an active user of CDS. As another example, in June
2006 we introduced our DealerAxess® service, which allows our broker-dealer clients to transact U.S. corporate
bond, cmerging markets bond and CDS trades on our platform with other broker-dealer clients.

Continue to Strengthen and Expand our Trade-Related Service Offerings

We plan (0 continue building our existing service offerings so that our electronic trading platform is more fully
integrated into the workflow of our broker-dealer and institutional investor clients. We also plan (o continue to add
functionality to enhance the ability of our clients to achieve a fully automated, end-to-end straight-through
processing solution (automation {rom trade initiation to scttlement). We are continually considering the intro-
duction of new trading techniques. As an example, we have the technology necessary to offer an anonymous trading
protocol that couid be exported to other markets and sectors of fixed-income securities i’ and when client demand
for such a product arises.

Expand our Data and Information Services Offerings

We regularly add new content and analytical capabilities to Corporate BondTicker™ in order to improve the
valuc of the information we provide to our clients. Examples of added content include pricing for credit derivatives
and syndicated loans, and independent third-party credit rescarch. We intend to continue to widen the user base of
our data products and to continue adding new content and analytical capabilities. In November 2006, we introduced
compliance reporting lools for our institutional investor clients that assist them in monitoring best execution
requirements for fixed-income trades. As the use of our electronic trading platform continues 1o grow, we believe
that the amount and value of our proprietary trading data will aiso increase, further enhancing the value of our
information services offerings to our clients.

Pursue Strategic Alliances and Select Acquisitions

We plan to continue to increase and supplement our internal growth by entering into strategic alliances, or
acquiring businesses or technologies, that will enable us to enter new markets, provide new products or services, or
otherwisc cnhance the value of our platform to our clients. For example, in November 2007, we acquired
substantially all the assets of TWS, a financial software and technology services provider focused on providing
gateway adapters for connecting order management systems and trading systems to fixed-income trading venues,

MarketAxess Electronic Trading Platform
Current Client-to-Dealer Markets
U.S. High-Grade Corporate Bonds

Our U.S. high-grade corporate bond business consists of U.S. dollar-denominated investment-grade dett
issued by corporations for distribution in the U.S. Both domestic and forcign institutional investors have access 1o
LS. high-grade corporate bond trading on our clectronic trading platform. We use the terms high-grade debt and
investment-grade debit interchangeably in this annual report on Form 10-K. Cur trading volume in the U.S. high-
grade corporate bond markel increased from $10.0 billion in 2001 10 $200.3 billion in 2007. The majority of trading
in U.S. high-grade corporate bonds is still conducted by telephone.

In the ULS. high-grade corporate bond market, 22 broker-dealers utilize our platform, including 18 of the 1op 20
broker-dealers as ranked by 2007 investment grade new-issue underwriting volume. We offer our institutional
investor clients access Lo a broad inventory of U.S, high-grade corporate bonds, which is provided and updated daily
by our broker-dealer clients. Our electronic trading platform is a multi-dealer disclosed counterparty model, which
allows institutional investors to view bids and offers from one or more of our broker-dealer clients while permitting
each party to know the identity of its counter-party throughout the trading process. By disclosing the counterparties,
the inquiry system on which our trading platform is based combincs the strength of existing offline client/dealer
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relationships with the efficiency and transparency of an electronic trading platform. This enables institutional
investors to instantly direct trade inquiries and negotiations 1o their traditional broker-dealer or to any of the
overwhelming majority of the world’s leading broker-dealers who provide liquidity in these securities. Institutional
investors have access 10 the commingled invemory of our broker-dealer clicnts, representing indicative bids and
offers. Each line item of inventory represents an indicative bid and/or offer on a particular bond issue by a particular
broker-dealer client. Institutional investor clients are not restricted 1o trading onty the bonds posted as inventory,
although many of the trades conducted on our platform are made from the posted inventory. To transact in a specific
bond that does not appear in inventory, institutional investors can casily scarch our database and submit an online
inquiry to their chosen broker-dealers, who can respond with live, executable prices. While, on average,
institutional investor clients receive several bids or offers from broker-dealers in response to trade inquirices, some
inquirics may not receive any bids or offers.

European High-Grade Corporate Bonds

MarketAxess Europe Limited, our wholly-owned U.K. subsidiary, commenced trading operations in Augusi
2001. MarkctAxess Europe Limited received Financial Services Authority (“FSA™) regulatory approval and began
to offer European secondary trading functionality in U.S. dollar- and Euro-denominated European corporate bonds
10 our broker-dealer and institutional investor clients in Seplember 2001. In 2003, we added trading in other
European high-grade corporate bonds, including bonds issued in Pounds Sterling and floating rate notes. As on our
U.S. electronic trading platform, all trading on our European platform is done using a multi-dealer disclosed
counterpanty model. We offered the first platform in Europe with this capability for corporate bonds.

In the European high-grade credit market, 19 broker-dealers viilize our platform, including 18 of the top 20
broker-dealers as ranked by 2007 European investment grade new-issue underwriting volume. On a typical day,
institutional investers on our European corporate bond trading platform have access o 18,000 line items of
commingled inventory, representing an aggregate of approximately $90 billion of indicative bids and offers. In a
single inquiry, tnstitutional investors can request bids or offers from up to six of the broker-dealers who participate
on the European platform. While many of the trades conducted on our platform are made from the posted inventory,
institutional investor clients are not restricied to trading only the bonds posted as inventory. To transact in a specific
bond that does not appear in inventory, institutional investors can easily search our database and submit an online
inquiry to their chosen broker-dealers, who can respond with live, execuiable prices, While, on average, insti-
tutional investor clients receive several bids or offers from broker-dealers in response to trade inguiries, some
inquirics may not receive any bids or offers. Our 2007 trading volume in the European high-grade corporate bond
market was $77.4 billion.

Emerging Markets Bonds

Twenty of our U.S. broker-dealer clients vse our platiorm to trade emerging markets bonds. 253 active
institutional investor clients (firms that executed at least one trade through our clectronic trading platform between
January 2007 and December 2007) utilize our clectronic trading platform to trade emerging markets bonds. These
institutional investor clients are located in both the U.S, and Europe. The emerging markets countries whose bonds
were most frequently traded on our platform in 2007 were Brazil, Mexico, Argentina, Russia and Venczuela.

In December 2007, we introduced local markets emerging market debt trading, which allows our institutional
investor clients to transact Ewroclear-cligible local currency denominated bonds issued by sovereign entities or
corporations in Argentina, Brazil, Colombia, Mexico and Peru.

Crossover and High-Yield Bonds

Nineteen of our U.S. broker-dealer clienis use our platform to trade crossover and high-yicld bonds. Trading in

crossover and high-yield bonds uses many of the same features available in our U.S. high-grade corporate bond

offering.
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Agency Bonds

Filteen of our U.S. broker-dealer clients use our platform to trade agency bonds. Trading in agency bonds uses
many of the same features available in our U.S. high-grade corporate bond offering.

Credit Default Swaps

We launched CDS index trading on our platform in Seplember 2005 and added the capacity to trade lists of
single-name CDS in November 2006. In addition to the trading features, the index trading platform also oifers STP
connectivity for dealers and institutional investor clients, Four of our U.S. broker-dealer clients are live on our
platform o trade CDS investment grade indices and three for CDS investment grade single-name lists.

Current Dealer-to-Dealer Markets

U.S. High-Grade Corporate Bonds

In the U.S. high-grade corporate bond market, 19 broker-dealers utilize our DealerAxess® platform to trade
with each other. These deaters include 16 of the 1op 20 broker-dealers as ranked by 2007 invesiment grade new-issue
underwriting volume. DealerAxess® provides live inter-dealer markets utilizing propriciary cross-matching tech-
nology. Although DealerAxess® is a completely segregated trading platform, it shares the same core technology as
our client-to-dealer platform. The platform provides a documented record of orders and executed trades with
reporting that enables broker-dealer clients to truck, analyze and evaluate their inter-dealer trading. Straight-
through processing is available to reduce manual tasks and lower the number of errors. We estimate that inter-dealer
trading represents approximately 25% of the reported FINRA TRACE volume in U.S. high-grade corporate bonds.
The majority of inter-dealer trading in U.S. high-grade corporate bonds is currently conducted by telephone through
voice brokers. Bond trades on DealerAxess® are conducted with MarketAxess as riskless principal. Trades are
cleared and settled by an independent clearing broker.

Emerging Markets Bonds

Thiricen of our broker-dealer clients use our DealerAxess® platform to trade emerging markets bonds with
each other. The platform is primarily utilized for transactions in U.S dollar denominated bonds issued by Latin
American governments. Many of the same features available on DealerAxess® for the trading of U.S high-grade
corporaie bonds are available for emerging markets bonds.

Credit Default Swaps

We launched CDS single-name trading for U.S. high-grade and index and single-name trading for emerging
markets on our platform in May 2007. Twelve of our U.S. broker-dealer clients are live on our platform 1o trade
U.S. high-grade single name CDS and twelve of our U.S. broker-dealer clients are live on our platform to trade
emerging markets index and single-name CDS. CDS transactions are conducted on the DealerAxess® platform ona
name give-up basis and are directly settled between the two trading counterparties.

Key Trading Functionalities

We currently offer both disclosed inquiry trading on our client-to-dealer platform and an anonymous cross-
malching style of trading on our dealer-1o-dealer platform. Our DealerAxess® dealer-to-dealer trading platform
provides anonymous live markets with executable bids and offers posted by participating dealers that are matched
using propriclary cross-matching technology. The key trading functionalitics on our client-to-dealer trading
platform are detailed below.

Single Inguiry Trading Functionality

We currently offer institutional investors the ability to request bids or offers in a single inquiry from up to 19 of
our broker-dealer clients for U.S. high-grade corporate bonds, from up 10 six of our broker-dealer clients for
European high-grade corporate bonds and from up to eight of our broker-dealer clients in emerging markets bonds,
Institutional investors can obtain bids or offers on any security posted in inventory or included in the database
available on our platform.
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ASAP and Holding Bin Trading Functionalities

We provide both ASAP (“as soon as possible™) and Holding Bin trading protocols. In the Holding Bin trading
protocol, institutional investor clients set the time when they would like all of the broker-dealers” prices or spreads
returned to them, in order to have the ability to see all executable prices available at the sume time. In the ASAP
trading protocol, institutional investor clients sec cach broker-dealer’s price or spread as soon as it is entered by the
broker-dealer.

List Trading Functionality

We currently offer institutional investors the ability to request bids or offers on a list of bonds, with the number
of different bonds on each list varying between 8 and 40 items depending on the market. This faciliates efficient
trading for institutional investors such as investment advisors, mutual funds and hedge funds. Institutional investors
are able to have multiple lists executable throughout the trading day, enabling them to manage their daily cash
Nows, portfolio duration, and credit and sector exposure.

Swap Trading Functionaliry

We currently offer institutional investors the ability to request an ofler to purchase one bond and a bid to sell
another bond, in a manner such that the two trades will be executed simultancously, with payment based on the price
or yicld differential of the securities.

Information and Analytical Tools
Corporate BondTicker™

Corporate BondTicker'™ provides real-time FINRA TRACE data and enhances it with MarketAxess trade
data and analytical tools to provide professional market participants with a comprehensive set of corporate bond
price information. The data include trade time and sales information, including exccution prices, as well as
MarkctAxess-estimated spread-to-Treasuries, for trades disseminated by the FINRA TRACE system. The data also
include actual execution prices and spread-to-Treasury levels for U.S. high-grade corporate bond trades executed on
the MarketAxess platform. Corporate BondTicker™ allows institutional investors to scarch for and sort bonds
based upon specific criteria, such as volume, time/date of transaction, spread change, issuer or security. This search
function allows institutional investors 10 compile information relating to potential securities trades in a fraction of
the time that it 1akes to manually compile this information from disparate sources or other electronic databases,
including direct TRACE feeds. In addition, Corporate BondTicker™ provides independent third-party credit
research as well as indicative prices for secondary markets in loans and CDS.

TRACE facilitates the mandatory reporting of over-the-counter secondary market transactions in cligible
fixed-income securitics. All broker-dealers that are FINRA member firms have an obligation to report transactions
in corporate bonds to TRACE under a set of rules approved by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”). FINRA then publicly disseminates a portion of this data, which is available free of charge on a delayed
basis through the FINRA website or available immediately for a set fee.

Corporate BondTicker™ is integrated directly into the MarketAxess electronic trading platform and can be
scamlessly accessed, either when viewing securities inventory or when launching an inquiry. Corporate BondTicker’ ™
is also available through the Internet for non-trading professional market participants, including, among others,
research analysts and rating agencics, who can log in and access the information via an casy-to-use browser-based
interface,

We provide Corporate BondTicker™ as an ancillary service o our trading clients and also to other industry
participants. We derive revenues from our Corporate BondTicker' ™ service by charging for scat licenses per user at
our broker-dealer and institutional investor clients, through distribution agreements with other information service
providers and through butk data sales 1o third parties. Seat license fees from institutional investor clients are waived
for clients that transact a sufficient volume of trades through MarketAxess.
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Additional analytical capabilitics of our information services oflerings aim to provide clients with more
information regarding bond prices and market activity, including asset swap spreads, turnover percentage and
liquidity ratios. These statistics measure a security’s trading activity relative to its amount outstanding and relative
10 the overall market, respectively, providing an additional perspective on relative liguidity. In addition, we provide
pricing measures to help institutional investors better assess the relative value of a corporate bond, providing more
consistent relative pricing information for institutional investors, such as offering spread data versus the inlerest rate
swap curve and versus the U.S, Treasury curve. Users are also able to download a variety of MarketAxess-compiled
trade reports containing a comprehensive review of trading aclivity. Corporate BondTicker™ is currently the
source of corporate bond 1rading information for The Wall Streer Journal.

In November 2006, we added a comprehensive set of reports designed to review and monitor credit trading
activity for institutional investor clients. It utilizes exiensive TRACE information and has a flexible interface 10 run
and save reports in a variety of formats for both compliance and management reporting. For cxample, the best
execution report provides a view of the savings generated by trading on our electronic trading platform and offers a
quantitative measure of the value of price discovery from multiple dealers. The report allows clients to monitor
performance against their own best execution policy. Qur compliance product provides a printed history of each
inguiry submitted through the MarketAxess trading platform.

In November 2007, we added end-of-day CDS pricing data to Corporate BondTicker ™ that is provided by
Credit Market Analysis Ltd. End-of-day screening tools combine the CIXS data with market data from cash bonds
and equities 1o provide relative value analysis to our clients,

My Portfolio

Institutional investors are able 10 upload their corporate bond portfolio to our electronic trading plaiform
utilizing the “My Porifolio” trading feature. Institutional investors who utilize “My Portfolio™ benefit from the
ability to automatically matich inventory on our platform to bonds held in their portfolio, allowing them to more
efficiently Jaunch an inquiry and transact in these securities. Users of this feature can also directly access Corporate
BondTicker™ to obtain the trading history of the securities in their portfolio.

Straight-Through Processing

Straight-through processing refers to the integration of systems and processes 10 automate the trade process
from end-to-end — trade execution, confirmation and settiement — without the need for manual intervention.
There are two elements of straight-through processing: internal straight-through processing and cxternal straight-
through processing. Internal straight-through processing relates (o the trade and settlement processes that are
internal to an industry participant. For example, in the case of an institutional investor, this includes authorization of
orders, placement of orders with hroker-dealers, receipt of execution details and ailocation of trades. External
straight-through processing refers 10 connecting seamlessly o all external counterparts in the trading and settlement
process.

Automation by way of straight-through processing improves efficiency throughout the trade cycle. We provide
broker-dealers and institutional investors with a range of tools that facilitate straight-through processing, including
order upload, easy-lo-use online atlocation tools and pre- and post-trade messaging [eatures that enable institutional
investors 10 communicate clectronically between front- and back-office systems, thereby integrating the order,
portfolio management and accounting systems of our broker-dealer and institutional investor clicnts in real time.
Our straight-through processing tools can be customized to meet specitic needs of clients. We continue to build
industry partnerships 1o assist our clients in creating connectivity throughout the trade cycle. Through these
partnerships, we are increasingly providing solutions that can quickly be deployed within our clients’ trading
operations.

Usage of our straight-through processing tools increased significantly during 2007. In our U.S. high-grade
corporate bond business between 2005 and 2007, the number of orders uploaded clectronically increased from
5,459 to 72,517. The number of online allocations increased from 58,847 1o 94,187 and the number of completed
trades delivered to institutional investor cticnis through our post-trade messaging functionality increased from 18%
10 56% of total volume between 2005 and 2007,
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Dealer API

We offer Application Programming Intertace (“API”) services to our broker-dealer clients for pre-trade, trade
ncgotiation and post-trade services. This allows for straight-through processing, which improves efficiency and
reduces errors in processing.

Technology Services

In 2007, we began providing technology consulting services. Fees for such services are charged based upon the
complexity and extent of the services provided.

In Nevember 2007, we formed a new subsidiary company. MarketAxess Technologies Inc., which acquired
substantially all the assets of TWS, a financial sofiware and technology services provider focused on providing
gateway adapters for connecting order management systems and trading sysiems to fixed-income trading venues,

Dependence on Our Broker-Dealer Clients Who Are Also OQur Stockholders
Revenues

We have historically earned a substantial portion of our commissions and overall revenues from broker-dealer
clients that are (or whose affiliates are) also our stockholders (“Stockholder Broker-Dealer Clients™). For 2007, a
total of seven dealers, and for 2006 and 2005, a total of nine dealers, were considered 10 be Stockholder
Broker-Dealer Clients. Affiliates of most of our broker-dealer clients are also among our institutional investor
clients. Information relating 1o the percentage of our commissions and total revenues generated by the Stockholder
Broker-Dealer Clients is provided in the chan below:

Year Ended
December 31,
007 2006 2005

Percentage of commiSsIons. ... ... i e 39.2% 499% 54.7%
Percentage of total revenues . . .. .. ... e 37.1% 46.0% 49.7%
Number of Stockholder Broker-Dealer Clients ... ... ... ... ... .. ... 7 9 9

As of January 1, 2007, we believe these seven broker-dealer clients owned 12,979,397 shares or 37.4% of our
common stock on a diluted basis, assuming conversion of our non-voling common stock and exercise of warrants
into common stock. To the extent that some or all of these broker-dealer clicnts or their affiliates vote similarly, they
are likely to be able 1o influence decisions requiring approval by our stockholders.

Our broker-dealer clients are not restricted {from buying and selling fixed-income securities, directly or through
their own proprictary or third-panty platforms, with institutional investors. For more information, see “lItem 1A,
Risk Factors — Risks Related to the Potential Conflicts of Interest With Our Broker-Dealer Clients Who Are Also
Our Stockheolders — We are dependent on our broker-deater clients, seven of which were also our stockholders as
of January 1, 2007, who are not restnicted from buying and selling fixed-income securities, directly or through their
own proprietary or third-party platforms, with institutional investors.”

Board of Directors

We currently have 11 directors, nine of whom are not our employees. Of the nine non-employee directors, two
arc employees of entities that are affiliates of broker-dealer clients and stockholders of MarketAxess, although these
enltities do not have the contractual right to designate members of our Board of Directors.

Other Businesses

Our broker-dealer clients currently trade fixed-income securitics by means other than our clectronic trading
platform and we expect them o continue to do o0 in the future. Our broker-dealer clients buy and sell fixed-income
securities directly with their clients through traditional bond trading methods, including the telephone, c-mail
messaging and other electronic means of communication, including proprictary, single-dealer systems.
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We cannot be assured that such broker-dealers’ primary commitments will not be to one of our competitors.
Other companies, including some in which certain of our broker-dealer clients or their afftliates have invested, have
developed electronic trading platforms or have announced their intention to explore the development of clectronic
trading platforms that compete or will compete with us. Furthermore, our broker-dealer clients or their affiliates
have made, or may in the future make investments in or enter into agreemenis with other businesses that direetly or
indircctly compete with us.

Conflicts of Interest

For information concerning the potential conflicts ol interest that may arisc as a result of the various roles
(broker-dealer client and stockholder) played by certain of our broker-dealer clients, please see “liem 1A, Risk
Factors — Risks Related 1o the Potential Conflicts of Imerest With Our Broker-Dealer Clients Who Are Also Our
Stockholders.”

Sales and Marketing

We promolte our products and services using a variety of direct and indirect sales and marketing strategies. Qur
sales force is responsible for client acquisition activity and for increasing use of our platform by our cxisting clients.
Their goal is to train and support existing and new clients on how to use the system and to educate them as 1o the
benefits of ulilizing an clectronic fixed-income trading platform. We cmploy various strategics, including adver-
tising, dircct marketing, promotional mailings and participation in industry conferences, to increase awareness of
our brand and our electronic trading platform. For example, we have worked with The Wall Street Journal (10
establish Corporate BondTicker ™ as the source of information for its daily corporate bond and high-yield tables.

Competition

The electronic trading industry is highly competitive and we expect competition to intensify in the future. We
face four main areas of competition:

+ Telephone — We compete with bond trading business conducted over the telephone between broker-dealers
and their institutional investor clients. Institutional investors have historically purchased fixed-income
securities by telephoning bond sales professionals at one or more broker-dealers and inquiring about the
price and availability of individual bonds. This remains the manner in which the majority of corporate bonds
are stili traded betwecen institutional investors and broker-dealers.

*» E-mail — We compete with bond trading business conducted via e-mail between broker-dealers and their
institutional investor clients. E-mail provides an efficient means of initiasting product and price discovery
with a large universe of potential trading partners.

s Other electronic trading platforms — There are numerous other electronic trading platforms currently in
existence. These include: Thomson TradeWeb, a multi-dealer to institutional investor trading platform that
has historically focused on government bond trading; Bloomberg, which provides electronic trading
functionatity; and the New York Stock Exchange, which launched a retail corporate bond trading platform
in April 2007. In 2002, Thomson TradeWeb launched an electronic corporate bond trading platform. In
addition, some broker-dealers operate proprietary electronic trading systems that enable institutional
investors 1o trade directly with a broker-dealer over an clectronic medium. We believe that we are currently
the only platform primarily focused on multi-party disclosed trading of credit products between broker-
dealers and institutional investors, though others have or may seck to expand their product offerings to
compete in this markel. Additionally, as we expand our business into new products, we will likely come into
more direct competition with other electronic trading platforms or firms offering traditional services. For
instance, our DealerAxcss® platform competes with services offered by imer-dealer brokerage firms
including BGC Partners L.P., Creditex, GFI Group Inc., ICAP plc and Tullet Prebon plc.

* Market data and information vendors — Several large market data and information providers currently have
a data and analytics relationship with virtually every institutional firm. Some of these entities currently offer
varying forms of electronic trading of fixed-income securitics, mostly on a single-dealer basis. Some of these
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entities have announced their intention to expand their electronic trading platforms or to develop new
platforms. These entilies are currently direct competilors to our information services business and may in the
future become direet competitors 1o our electronic trading platform.

Competitors, including companies in which some of our broker-dealer clients have invested, have developed
electronic trading platforms or have announced their intention to explore the development of electronic irading
platforms that compete or will compete with us. Furthermore, our broker-dealer clients have made, or may in the
future make investments in or enter into agreements with other businesses that directly or indirectly compete with
us.

In general, we compete on the basis of a number ol key factors, including:

» broad network of broker-dealer and institutional investor clients using our electronic trading platform;
= liquidity provided by the participating broker-dealers;

* magnitude and frequency of price improvement;

» facilitating the quality and speed of execution;

» compliance benefits;

¢ total transaction Costs;

* technology capabilities, including the reliability and case of vse of our electronic trading platform; and
» range of products and services offered.

We helieve that we compete favorably with respect 10 these factors. Our trading volume has grown over the
past five years and we continue to proactively build technology solutions thar serve the needs of the credit markets.

Our competitive position is also enhanced by the lamiliarity and integration of our broker-dealer and
institutional investor clients with our clectronic trading platform and other systems. We have focused on the
unique aspects of the credit markets we serve in the development of our platform, working closely with our clients to
provide a system that is suited to their needs.

Our broker-dealer clients have invested in building API’s with us for inventory contributions, clectronic
trading, government bond benchmark pricing and post-trade messaging. We believe that we have success{ully built
decp roots with our broker-dealer clienis, increasing our levet of service to them while at the same time increasing
their commitment to our services.

Furthermore, approximately 150 of our institutional investor clients have built interfaces 1o ¢nable them to
communicate electronically belween our platform and their order, portfolio management and accounting systems,
We believe that this increases the reliance of these institutional investor clients on our services and creates
significant competitive barriers (o entry.

Technology

The design and quality ol our technology are critical to our growth and our ability to execute our business
strategy. Our electronic trading platform has been designed with secure, scalable client-server architecture that
makes broad use of distribuied computing 10 achieve speed, reliability and fault tolerance. The platform is built on
industry-standard technologies and has been designed (o handle many multiples of our current trading volume.

All critical server-side components, primarily our networks, application servers and databases, have backup
cquipment running in case the main equipment fails. This offers lully redundant system capacity to maximize
uptime and minimize the potential for loss of transaction data in the event of an internal failure. We also seck 1o
minimize the impact of external failures by automatically recovering connections in the cvent of a communications
failure. The majority of our broker-dealer clients have dedicated high-speed T-1 communication lines to our
network in order 1o provide fast data transfer. Qur security measures include industry-standard communications
encryplion.
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We have designed our application with an easy-10-use, Windows-based interface. Through a secure, single
sign-on, our clients are able 10 access our electronic trading platform. Clients are also able to execule transactions
over our platform dircedy from their order management systems. We provide users an automatic software update
{cature that does not require manual intervention,

Intellectual Property

We rely upon a combination of copyright, patent, trade secret and trademark laws, writlen agreements and
common law to protect our proprietary technology, processes and other intellectual property. Our software code,
elements of our clectronic trading platform, Web site and other proprietary materials are protected by copyright
laws. We currentty have six patent applications pending, covering certain aspects of our business.

The written agreements upon which we rely (o protect our proprictary technology, processes and intellectual
property include agrecments designed to protect our trade secrets. Examples of these written agreements include
third party nondisclosure agreements, cmployee nondisclosure and inventions assignment agreements, and
agreements with customers, contractors and strategic partners. Other writien agreements upon which we rely to
protect our proprictary technology, processes and intelicctual property take many forms and contain provisions
refated 10 patent, copyright, trademark or trade secret rights.

We have obtained U.S. federal registration of the MarketAxess® name and logo, and the same mark and logo
have been registered in several foreign jurisdictions. We have pending registrations for the MarketAxess® name and
logo in several other forcign jurisdictions. In addition, we have obtained U.S. federal registration for the marks
AutoSpotting®, BondLink®, FrontPage®, Actives®, DealerAxess® and associated designs. Corporate BondTicker ™ is
a trademark we use, but it has not been registercd.

In addition to our efforts to register our intellectual propeny, we believe that lactors such as the technological
and creative skills of our personnel, new product and service developments, frequent enhancements and reliability
with respect to our services are cssential to establishing and maintaining a technology and market Icadership
position.

Government Regulation

The securities industry and [inancial markets in the U.S. and elsewhere are subject to exiensive regulation. Asa
matter of public policy, regulatory bodics in the U.S. and the rest of the world are charged with safeguarding the
integrity of the securities and other financial markets and with protecting the interests of investors participating in
those markets. Our active broker-dealer subsidiaries fall within the scope of their regulations.

Regulation of the U.S. Securities Industry and Broker-Dealers

In the U.S., the SEC is the governmental agency responsible for the administration of the federal securities
laws. Our U.S. subsidiary, MarkeiAxess Corporation, is registered with the SEC as a broker-dealer. It is also a
member of FINRA, a self-regulatory organization to which most broker-dealers belong. In addition, MarketAxess
Corporation is a member of the Securities Investor Protection Corporation, which provides certain protection for
clicnts” accounts in the event of a liquidation of a broker-dealer o the extent any such accounis are held by the
broker-dealer,

Additionally, MarketAxess Corporation is registered with certain stales and the District of Columbia as a
broker-dealer. The states and the District of Columbia are responsible for the administration of their respective
“blue sky” laws, rules and regulations.

Regulation of the Non-U.S. Securities Industries and Investment Service Providers
The securities industry and {inancial markets in the UK., the European Union and elsewhere are subject 1o
extensive regulation. MarketAxess Europe Limited may fall within the scope of those regulations depending upon

the cxtent to which it is characterized as providing a regolated investment service.

20




Our principal regulator in the U.K. is the FSA. Our subsidiary, MarketAxess Europe Limited, is registered as a
Multilateral Trading Facility (*MTF™) with the FSA.

The securities industry in the member states ol the European Union is regulated by agencies in each member
state. European Union measures provide for the mutual recognition ol regulatory agencics and of prudential
supervision making possible the grant of a single authorization for providers of investment services, which, in
general, is valid throughout the European Union. As an FSA-approved MTF, MarketAxess Europe Limited receives
the benefit of this authorization.

In May 2003, we incorporated a Canadian subsidiary, MarketAxess Canada Limited. It has applied for
registration as an Alternative Trading System under the Sccurities Act of Ontario and is in the process of seeking
approval for membership with the Investment Dealers Assoctation of Canada.

Employees

As of December 31, 2007, we had 182 employees, 149 of whom were based in the U.S. and 33 of whom were
based in the U.K. None of our employees is represented by a labor union. We consider our relationships with our
employees to be good and have not experienced any interruptions of operations due 10 labor disagreemenis.

Company Information

Our Internet website address is www.marketaxess.com. Through our Internet website, we will make available,
free of charge, the following reports as soon as reasonably practicable after electronically filing them with, or
furnishing them to, the SEC: our annual report on Form 10-K; our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q; our current
reports on Form 8-K; and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Securitics
Exchange Act of 1934, Our Proxy Statements for our Annuai Meelings are also available through our Internet
website. Our Internet website and the information contained therein or connected thereto are not intended to be
incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K. You may also obtain copies of our reports without charge by
writing to:

MarketAxess Holdings Inc.
140 Broadway

New York, NY 10005
Aun; Investor Relations

Our Board of Directors has standing Audit, Compensation and Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committees. Each of these committees has a written charter approved by our Board of Directors. Our Board of
Directors has also adopted a set of Corporate Governance Guidelines. Copies of cach committee charter, along with
the Corporate Governance Guidelines, are also posted on our website.

You may read and copy any document we file with the SEC at the SEC’s public reference room at 108 F Street,
NE, Room 1580, Washington, DC 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for information on the public
reference room. The SEC maintains an Internet website that contains annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy
and information statements and other information that issuers {including the Company) file clectronically with the
SEC. The SEC'’s internet website is www.scc.gov.

We have obtained federal registration ol the MarketAxess® name and logo, as well as for the marks
Auto-Spotting®, BondLink®, Actives®, FrontPage® and DealerAxess®. Other trademarks and service marks
appearing in this annual report on Form F0-K are the property of their respective holders.




Item 1A. Risk Factors

Risks Related to the Potential Conflicts of Interest With Our Broker-Dealer Clients
Who Are Also Our Stockholders

We are dependent on our broker-dealer clients, seven of which were also our stockholders as of January 1,
2007, who are not restricted from buying and selling fixed-income securities, directly or through their own
proprietary or third-party platforms, with institutional investors.

We rely on our broker-dealer clicnts to provide product and liquidity on our electronic trading platform by
posting bond prices on our platform for honds in their inventory and responding (o institutional investor clieni
inquiries. Although cach broker-dealer client is currently a party to an agreement with us, the obligations of each
broker-dealer under these agreements are minimal. None of these agreements is exclusive and broker-dealers may
lerminate such agreements and/or enter into, and in some cases have entered into, similar agreements with our
competitors. For example, some of our broker-dealer clients are also clicnis of Thomson TradeWeb, a multi-dealer
to institutional investor trading platform that operates an online corporate bond trading platform.

Our broker-dealer clients buy and sell fixed-income securitics dircetly with their clients through traditional
bond trading methods, including telephone conversations, c-mail messaging and other clectronic means of
communication. Currently, the preponderance of trading of U.S. high-grade corporate bonds still occurs using
traditional bond trading methods. Most of our broker-deater and institutional investor clients are involved in other
ventures, including other electronic trading platforms or other distribution channels, as trading participants and/or
as cquity holders, and such ventures or newly created ventures may compete with us and our electronic trading
platform now and in the future.

Some of our broker-dealer clients have developed clectronic trading networks or have announced their
intention to explore the development of electronic trading networks. These competing trading platforms may offer
some features that we do not currenty offer. Furthermore, our broker-dealer clients have made, and may in the
future continue o make, investments in businesses that directly or indirectly compete with us, including, either
individually or collectively, organizing or investing in a separatc company similar to us for the purpose of
competing with us or pursuing corporate opportunitics thal might be attractive to us. Accordingly, there can be no
assurance that such broker-dealers’ primary commitments will not be to one of our competitors.

Any reduction in the use of our electronic trading platform by our broker-dealer clients would reduce the
number of different bond issues and the volume of trading in those bond issues on our platform, which could, in turn,
reduce the use of our platform by our institutional investor clients. The occurrence of any of the foregoing may have
a material adverse effect on our business, linancial condition and results of operations.

We derive a significant percentage of our total revenues, and an even greater percentage of our commissions,
Jrom broker-dealer clients who are also our stockholders.

We have historically carncd a substantial portion of our commissions from broker-dealer clients that were our
stockholders. For the year ended December 31, 2007, $31.4 million or 39.2% of our commissions, for the ycar
ended December 31, 2006, $35.6 million or 49.9% of our commissions and for the year ended December 31, 2005,
$36.6 million or 54.7% of our commissions were generated by these stockholder broker-dealer clients. None of our
broker-dealer clients is contractually or otherwise obligated to continue to use our clectronic trading platform.
Reduced involvement of these broker-dealer clients due to the reduction in the tevel of their equity ownership may
cause them to reduce or discontinue their use of our electronic trading platform and other services, which could
negatively impact the use of our platform by our institutional investor clients. The loss of, or a significant reduction
of, participation on our platform by these broker-dealer clients may have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.
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Several of our broker-dealer clients or their affiliates beneficially own a significant percentage of our vut-
standing common stock. These broker-dealer clients have strategic interests that differ from those of our
other stockholders.

As of January 1, 2007, seven ol our broker-dealer clients or their alfiliates owned, in the aggregate, a
significant percentage of our outstanding common stock. These broker-dealer clients have strategic interests that
may be different from ours and those ol our other stockholders. For example, in their capacity as broker-dealer
clients, they would presumably favor lower commissions and/or commission caps. Furthermore, as stockholders in
other consortia that have developed competitive electronic trading networks or have announced their intention o
cxplore the development of competitive electronic trading networks, they may decide to direct some or all of their
clectronic trading business to one or more of our competitors. While these actions, if taken, would presumably
reduce our revenues and our market capitalization and, therefore, the value of their ownership position in us, there
can be no assurance that they will not decide to take such actions for their own strategic reasons.

We are not a party to any voting agreement with any of our stockholders and are not aware of any voting
agreements among our broker-dealer clients; however, they may enter into a voting agreement in the future or
otherwise vote in g similar manner. To the extent that all of these broker-dealer clients or their affiliates vote
similarly, they will be able to determine decisions requiring approval by our stockholders. As a result, they or their
affiliates may be able to;

¢ control the composition of our Board of Directors through their ability to nominate directors and vote their
shares to clect them;

« control our management and policies; and

¢ determine the outcome of significant corporate transactions, including changes in control that may be
beneficial to other stockholders.

As a result of these factors, we may be less likely to pursue relationships with strategic partners who are not
stockholders of ours, which could impede our ability to expand our business and strengthen our competilive position.
Furthermore, these factors could also limit stockholder value by preventing a change in control or sale of MarkctAxess.

We may be limited in our use of our U.S. net operating loss carryforwards.

As of December 31, 2007, we had U.S. net operating loss carryforwards of $100.8 million that will begin to
expire in 2019. A net operating loss carryforward cnables a company (o apply net operating losses incurred during a
current period against future periods’ profits in order Lo reduce tax liability in those future periods.

Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code provides that when a company undergoes an “ownership change”,
that company’s use of its net operating losses is limited annually in each subsequent year. An “ownership change”
occurs when, as of any testing date, the sum of the increases in ownership of each sharcholder that owns five percent
or more of the value of a company’s stock as compared 1o that sharcholder’s lowest percentage ownership during the
preceding three-year period exceeds 50 pereentage points. For purposes of this rule, certain sharcholders who own
less than five percent of a company’s stock are aggregated and treated as a single five-percent shareholder.

In 2000 and 2001, MarketAxess Holdings Inc. and MarketAxess Corporation had an “ownership change.” Net
operating loss carrylorwards of $39.2 million existed as of the date of ownership change. However, only $6.8 million
are deemed utilizable and recognized in the net operating loss carryforward figure. In 2007, MarketAxess Holdings
Inc. experienced an ownership change. We do not believe that this ownership change significantly impacts our
ability to wtilize existing net operating loss carryforwards.

The issuance or repurchase of a significant number of shares of stock or purchuases or sales of stock by
significant sharcholders could result in an additional *ownership change.” For, example, we may issue a substantial
number of shares of our stock in connection with olferings, acquisitions and other transactions in the future and we
could repurchase a significant number of shares in connection with a stock repurchase program, although no
assurance can be given that any such offering, acquisiion, other transaction or repurchase program will be
undertaken. In addition, the exercise of outstanding options to purchase shares of our common stock may require us
to issuc additional shares of our common stock. The extent of the actual future use of our U.S. net operating loss
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carryforwards is subject to inherent uncertainty because it depends on the amount of otherwise taxable income we
may earn. We cannot give any assurance that we will have sutficient taxable income in future years to use any of our
federat net operating loss carryforwards before they would otherwise expire.

Risks Related to Our Business

We face substantial competition that could reduce our market share and harm our financial performance.

The fixed-income securities industry generally, and the clectronic financial services markets in which we
operate in particular, are highly competitive, and we expect competition 10 intensify in the future. We will continue
1o compete with bond trading conducted directly between broker-dealers and their institutional investor clients over
the lelephone or electronically. In addition, our current and prospective competitors are numerous and include:

* other multi-dealer trading companics;
« market data and information vendors;
* securities and futures exchanges;

+ inter-dealer brokerage firms;

* clectronic communications networks;

* technology, seftware, information and media or other companics that have exisling commercial relation-
ships with broker-dealers or institutional investors; and

* other electronic marketplaces that are not currently in the securities business.

Many of our current and potential competitors are more established and substantially larger than we are and
have substantially greater market presence, as well as greater financial, engincering, technical, marketing and other
resources. These competitors may aggressively reduce their pricing to enter into market segments in which we have
a leadership position today, potentially subsidizing any losses with profits from trading in other fixed-income or
equity securities. In addition, many of our competitors offer a wider range of services, have broader name
recognition and have larger customer bases than we do. Some of them may be able to respond more quickly 1o new
or evolving opportunities, technologics und customer requirements than we can and may be able to undertake more
extensive promotional activities.

Any combination of our competitors may enter into joint ventures or consortia to provide services similar to
those provided by us. Current and new competitors can launch new platforms at a relatively low cost. Others may
acquire the capabilities necessary to compete with us through acguisitions. We expect thal we will potentiatly
compele with a variety of companies with respect Lo each product or service we offer. If we are not able 1o compete
successfully in the future, our business, financial condition and results of operations would be adversely affected.

Neither the sustainability of our current level of business nor our historical growth can be assured. Even if
we do experience growth, we cannot assure you that we will grow profitably.

The use of our electronic trading platform is relatively new. The success of our business strategy depends, in
part, on our ability to maintain and expand the network of broker-dealer and institutional investor clients that use our
electronic trading platform. Our business strategy also depends on increasing the vse of our platform by these
clients. Individuals at broker-dealers or institutional investors may have conflicting interests, which may discourage
their use of our platform.

Our growth is also dependent on our ability to diversify our revenue base. We currently derive a majority of our
revenues from secondary trading in U.S. high-grade corporate bonds. The percentage of our commissions from such
trading remained relatively constant for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005. Our long-term business
strategy is dependent on expanding our service offerings and increasing our revenues from other fixed-income
products and other sources. We cannot assure you that our eifons will be successful or result in increased revenues or
continucd profitability.
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Our plans 1o pursue other opportunitics for revenue growih are at an early stage, and we cannot assure you that
our plans will be successful or that we will actually proceed with them as described.

Because we operate in a rapidly evolving industry, it is difficult to evaluate our business and prospects.

We expect to encounter tisks and difficulties frequently expericnced by companies operating in rapidly
evolving industries, such as the electronic financial services industry, These risks and difficulties include, but are
not limited to, our ability to:

« attract and retain broker-deaters and institutional investors on a cost-effective basis;

= expand and enhance reliable and cosi-cfTective product and service offerings to our clicnts;

» respond cffectively to competitive pressures;

* diversify our sources of revenues;

« maintain adequate conirol of our expensces;

* operale, support, expand and develop our operations, website, sofiware, communications and other systems;

* manage growth in personnel and operations;

* increase awareness ol our brand or market positioning;

» cxpand our sales and marketing programs; and

* respond to regulatory changes or demands.

If we are unsuccessful in addressing these risks or in executling our business strategy, our business, financial
condition and results of operations may suffer.

Decreases in trading volumes in the fived-income markets generally or on our platform could harm our
business and profitability.

We have experienced decreases in overall trading volume in certain periods, and may experience decreases in
trading volume in the future. Declines in the overall volume of fixed-income securities trading and in market
liquidity generally, as well as declines in interest rate volatility, result in lower revenues {rom commissions [or
trades executed on our clectronic trading platform and fees generated from related activities.

Likewise, decreases in our share of the segments of the fixed-income trading markets in which we operale, or
shifis in trading volume to segments of clieats which we have not penetrated, could result in lower trading volume
on our platform and, consequently, lower commissions and other revenue. During periods of increased volatility in
credit markets, the use of electronic trading platforms by market participants may decrease dramatically as
institutional investors may seck to oblain additional information during the trade process through conversations
with broker-dealers. In addition, during rapidly moving markets, broker-dealers may be less likely 1o post prices
clectronically.

A decline in trading volumes on our platform for any reason may have a material adverse effect on our
business, {inancial condition and results of operations.

We may enter into new fee plans, the impact of which may be difficult to evaluate.

On June 1, 2005, we introduced a new fee plan primarily for secondary market transactions in U.S. high-grade
corporate bonds executed on our electronic trading platform. On June 1, 2007, we introduced a new fee plan for
European high-grade corporate bonds for the majority of our European dealers. The European dealers signed new
one-ycar agreements. In addition, we anticipate that from time (o time we will introduce new fee plans for the other
market segments in which we operate. Any new fee plan may include different fee structures or provide volume
incentives.
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We cannot assure you that any new fee plans will result in an increase in the volume of transactions effected on
our platform or that our revenues will increase as a result of the implementation of any such fee plans. Furithermore,
resistance to the new fee plans by our broker-dealer or institutional investor clients could have a material adverse
elfect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are exposed to risks resulting from non-performance by counterparties to transactions executed between
our broker-dealer clients in which we act as an intermediary in matching back-te back bond trades.

In June 2006, we began executing riskless principal bond transactions between our broker-dealer clients
through our subsidiary, MarketAxess Corporation. We act as an intermediary in these transactions by serving as
counterparty to both the buyer and the selter in matching back-to-back tracles, which are then settled through a third-
party clearing organization. Scttlement typically occurs within one to three trading days after the trade date. Cash
settlement of the transaction occurs upon receipt or delivery of the underlying instrument that was traded.

We are exposed 1o credit risk in our role as trading counterparty to our broker-dealer clients executing bond
trades on the DealerAxess® platform. We are exposed Lo the risk that third parties that owe us money, securities or
other assets will not perform their obligations. These partics may default on their obligations 10 us due to
bankruptcy, lack of liquidity, operational failure or other reasons. Adverse movements in the prices of securitics that
are the subject of these transactions can increase our risk. Where the unmatched position or failure to deliver is
prolonged there may atso be regulatory capital charges required 1o be taken by us. The policics and procedures we
use to manage this credit risk are new and uniested. There can be no assurance that these policies and procedures
will effectively mitigate our exposure to credit risk.

If we experience significant fluctuations in our operating results or fail to meet revenues and earnings
expectations, our stock price may fall rapidly and without advance notice.

Due 1o our limited operating history, our evolving business model and the unpredictability of our industry, we
may experience significant fluctuations in our operating results. We base our current and future expense levels and
our investment plans on estimates of future revenues and future rate of growth. Our expenses and investments are, to
a large extent, fixed and we expect that these expenses will increase in the future. We may not be able to adjust our
spending quickly enough if our revenues fall short of our expectations.

Our revenues and operating results may also fluctuate duce to other factors, including:

» our ability 1o retain existing broker-dealer and institutional investor clients and attract new broker-dealer and
institutional investor clients;

« our ability to drive an increase in use of our clectronic trading platform by new and existing broker-dealer
and institutional investor clients;

» changes in our pricing policies;

+ the introduction of new features on our clectronic trading platform;
« the effectiveness of our sales force;

+ new product and service introductions by our compelitors;

+ fluctuations in overall market trading volume;

» technical difficultics or interruptions in our service,

+ general economic conditions in our geographic markets;

= additional investment in our services or operations; and

 regulatory compliance costs.

As u result, our operating results may (uctuate significantly on a quarterly basis, which could result
decreases in our stock price.

n
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We may not be able to introduce enhanced versions of our electronic trading platform, new services and/or
service enhancements in a timely or acceptable manner, which could harm our competitive position.

Our business environment is characterized by rapid technological change, changing and increasingly sophis-
ticated client demands and evolving industry standards. Our future will depend on our ability 10 develop and
introduce new features 10, and new versions of, our electronic trading platform. The success of new features and
versions depends on several factors, including the timely completion, introduction and market acceptance of the
feature or version. In addition, the market for our electronic trading platform may be limited if prospective clients
require customized features or functions thal we are unable or unwilling to provide. If we arc unable lo anlicipate
and respond 10 the demand for new services, products and technologies and develop new features and enhanced
verstons of our clectronic trading platform that achieve widespread levels of market acceptance on a timely and
cost-¢ffective basis, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and resulis of
opcrations.

As we enter new markets, we may not be able to successfully attract clients and adapt our technology and
marketing strategy for use in those markets.

Owr strategy includes leveraging our electronic trading platform to enter new markets. We cannot assure you
that we will be able 10 successiully adapt our proprictary software and technology for use in other markets. Even il
we do adapt our software and technology, we cannot assure you that we will be able Lo attract clients and compete
successfully in any such new markets. We cannot assure you that our marketing efforts or our pursuit of any of these
opportunities will be successful. I these efforts are not successful, we may ccalize less than expected earnings,
which in turn could result in a decrease in the market value of our common stock. Furthermore, these efforts may
divert management attention or inefficientdy utilize our resources.

Rapid technological changes may render our technology obsolete or decrease the attractiveness of our
producis and services to our broker-dealer and institutional investor clients.

We must continue to enhance and improve our clectronic trading platform. The electronic financial services
industry is characterized by increasingly complex systems and infrasiructures and new business models. If new
industry standards and practices emerge, our existing technology, systems and electronic trading platform may
become obsolete or our existing business may be harmed. Our fulere success will depend on our ability to:

¢ cnhance our existing products and services;

*» develop and/or license new products and technologies that address the increasingly sophisticated and varied
needs of our broker-dealer and institutional investor clients and prospective clients; and

+ respond to technological advances and emerging industry standards and practices on a cost-elfective and
timely basis.

Developing our electronic trading platform and other technology entails significant technical and business
risks. We may usc new technotogics ineffectively or we may fail 10 adapt our clectronic trading platform,
information databases and network infrastructure to broker-dealer or institutional investor client requirements or
emerging industry standards, For example, our ¢lectronic trading platform functionality that allows scarches and
inquiries on bond pricing and availability is a critical part of our service, and it may become out-of-date or
insufficient from our broker-dealer clients’ or institutional investor clients” perspective and in relation 1o the inquiry
functionality of our competitors” systems. If we face material delays in introducing new services, products and
cnhancements, our broker-dealer and institutional investor clients may forego the use of our products and use those
of our competitors.

Further, the adoption of new Internet, networking or lelecommunications technologies may require us o
devote substantial resources o modify and adapt our services. We cannot assure you that we will be able o
successfully implement new technologics or adapt our proprictary technology and transaction-processing systems
1o client requirements or emerging industry standards. We cannot assure you that we will be able to respond in a
timely manner to changing market conditions or client requirements.
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We depend on third-party suppliers for key products and services.

We rely on a number of third partics to supply elements of our trading, information and other systems, as well
as computers and other equipment, and related support and maintenance. We cannot assure you that any of these
providers will be able to continue to provide these services in an efficient, cost-¢ffective manner, if at all, or that they
will be able to adequatcly cxpand their services to meet our needs. 1 we are unable o make aliernative
arrangements for the supply of critical products or services in the event of a malfunction of a product or an
interruption in or the cessation of service by an existing service provider, our business, financial condition and
results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

In particular, we depend on a third-party vendor for our corporate bond reference database. Disruptions in the
services provided by that third party to us, including as a resull of their inability or unwillingness to continue to
license products that are critical Lo the success of our business, could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

We also rely, and expect in the future to continue to rely, on third partics for various computer and
communications systems, such as telephone companies, online service providers, data processors, and software
and hardware vendors. Other third parties provide, for instance, our data center, telecommunications access lines
and significant compuier systems and software licensing, support and maintenance services. Any interruption in
these or other third-party services or deterioration in their performance could impair the quality of our service. We
cannot be certain of the financial viability of all of the third parties on which we rely.

We license software from third partics, much of which is integral to our electronic trading platform and our
business. We also hire contractors 1o assist in the development, quality assurance testing and maintenance of our
electronic trading platform and other systems. Continued access to these licensors and contractors on favorable
contract terms or access to allernative sofiware and information technology contractors is important (o our
operations. Adverse changes in any of these relationships could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

We attempt lo negotiate favorable pricing, service, confidentiality and intcllectual property ownership or
licensing and other terms in our contracts with our service providers. These contracts usually have multi-year terms.
However, there is no guaraniee that these contracts will not terminate and that we will be able 10 negotiate successor
agreements or agreements with alternate service providers on competitive terms. Further, the existing agreements
may bind us for a period of time 1o terms and technology that become obsolete as our industry and our competitors
advance their own operations and contracts.

Our success depends on maintaining the integrity of our electronic trading platform, systems and
infrastructure; our computer systems may suffer failures, capacity constraints and business interruptions
that could increase our operating costs and cause us to lose clients.

In order to be successful, we must provide reliable, real-time access to our electronic trading platform for our
broker-dealer and institutional investor clicnts. 1f our electronic trading platform is hampered by slow delivery
times, vnreliable service or insufficient capacity, our broker-dealer and institutional investor clients may decide to
stop using our platform, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results
of operations.

As our operations grow in both size and scope, we will need Lo improve and upgrade our electronic rading
platform and infrastructure to accommodate potential increases in order message volume and trading volume, the
trading practices of new and existing clients, regulatory changes and the development of new and enhanced trading
platform features, functionalitics and ancillary products and services. The expansion of our electronic trading
platform and infrastructure has required, and will continue 10 require, substantial financial, operational and
technical resources. These resources will typically need to be committed well in advance of any actual increase in
trading volumes and order messages. We cannot assure you that our estimates of future trading volumes and order
messages will be accurate or that our systems will always be able to accommodate actual trading volumes and order
messages without failure or degradation of performance. Furthermore, we use new technologies to upgrade our
established systems, and the development of these new technologies also entails technical, financial and business
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risks. We cannot assure you that we will success{ully implement new technotogies or adapt our existing electronic
trading platform, technology and systems 1o the requirements ol our broker-dealer and institutional investor clients
or to emerging industry standards. The inability of our clectronic trading platform to accommodate increasing
trading volume and order messages would also constrain our ability to expand our business.

We cannot assure you that we will not experience systems Tailures. Qur electronic trading platform, computer
and communication systems and other operations are vulnerable 1o damage, interruption or failure as a result of,

among other things:

* irregular or heavy use of our electronic trading platform during peak trading times or at times of unusual
market volatility;

= power or telecommunications lailures, hardware failures or software errors;
* human ¢rror;

= compuler viruses, acts of vandalism or sabotage (and resulting potential lapses in security), both internal and
external;

s natural disasters, fires, floods or other acts of God;
* acts of war or terrorism or other armed hostility; and

* loss of support services from third partics, including those to whom we outsource aspects of our compulter
infrastructure critical 10 our business.

in the event that any of our systems, or those of our third-party providers, fail or operate slowly, it may cause
any one or more of the following to occur:

* unanticipated disruptions in service to our clients;

» slower response limes or delays in our clients’ trade execution;

* incomplete or inaccurate accounting, recording or processing of trades;

« financial losses and liabilities 1o clients;

« litigation or other claims against us, including formal complaints to industry regulatory organizations; and
* repulatory inquirics, proceedings or sanclions.

Any system [lailure that causes an interruption in service or decreases the responsiveness of our service,
including tailures caused by client error or misuse of our systems, could damage our reputation, business and brand
name and fcad our broker-dealer and institutional investor clients to decrease or cease their use of our electronic
trading platform.

In these circumstances, our redundant systems or disaster recovery plans may not be adequate. Similarly,
atthough many of our contracts with our service providers require them to have disaster recovery plans, we cannot
be certain thal these will be adequate or implemented properly. In addition, our business inlerruption insurance may
not adequately compensate us for losses that may occur.

We also cannot assure you that we have sufficient personnel 1o properly respond o system problems. We
internally support and mainain many of ocur computer systems and networks, including those underlying our
electronic trading platform. Our [aiture 1o moaitor or maintain these systems and networks or, il necessary, to find a
replacement for this technology in a timely and cost-effective manner would have a material adverse effect on our
business, linancial condition and results of operations.




If our security measures are breached and unauthorized access is obtained to our electronic trading
platform, broker-dealers and institutional investors may become hesitant to use, or reduce or stop their use
of, our trading platform.

Qur clectronic trading platform involves (he storage and transmission of our clients” proprietary information.
The secure transmission of confidential information over public networks is a critical clement of our operations.
Sceurity breaches could expose us to a risk of loss of this information, litigation and possible liability. IT our security
measures are breached as a resubt of third-party action, employee error, malteasance or otherwise, and, as a result,
someone oblains unauthorized access to trading or other confidential information, our reputation could be damaged,
our business may suffer and we could incur significant liability. Because techniques used to obtain unauthorized
access or 1o sabotage computer systems change frequently and generally are not recognized until launched against a
target, we may be unable 10 anticipale these techniques or to implement adequate preventive measures. 1f an actual,
threatened or perceived breach of our security occurs, the market perception ol the effectiveness of our security
measures could be harmed and could cause our broker-dealer and institutional investor clients to reduce or stop their
use of our electronic trading platform. We may be required to expend significant resources to protect against the
threat of security breaches or to alleviate problems, including reputational harmn and litigation, caused by any
breaches. Aithough we intend to continue to implement industry-standard security measures, we cannot assure you
that those measures will be sufficient.

We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights or technology effectively, which would allow
competitors to duplicate or replicate our electronic trading platform. This could adversely affect our ability
to compete.

Intellectual property is critical to our success and ability to compeie, and it we fail 1o protect our intellectual
property rights adequately, our competitors might gain access to our technology. We rely primarily on a com-
bination of patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws in the United States and other jurisdictions, as well as
license agreements, third-party non-disclosure and other agreements and other contractual provisions and technical
measures to protect our intellectual property rights. We attempt to negotiate beneficial intellectual propenty
ownership provisions in our contracts and also require employecs, consultants, advisors and collaborators to enter
into confidentiality agreements in order to protect the confidentiality of our proprietary information. We have {iled
six patent applications covering aspects of our technology and/or business, but can make no assurances that any
such patents will be issued or, if issued, witl protect our business and processes [rom competition. Additionally, laws
and our contractual terms may not be sufficient to protect our technology from use or theft by third partics. For
instance, a third party might reverse engincer or otherwise obtain and use our technology without our permission
and without our knowledge, thereby infringing our rights and allowing competitors to duplicate or replicate our
products. Furthermore, we cannot assure you that these protections will be adequate to prevent our competitors from
independently developing technologies that are substantially equivalent or superior to our technology.

We may have legal or contractual rights that we could assert against illegal use of our intellectual property
rights, but lawsuits claiming infringement or misappropriation arc complex and expensive, and the outcome would
not be certain. In addition, the laws of some countries in which we now or in the future provide our services may not
protect software and intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States.

Defending against intellectual property infringement or other claims could be expensive and disruptive to
our business. If we are found to infringe the proprietary rights of others, we could be required to redesign
our products, pay royalties or enter into license agreements with third parties.

In the technotogy industry, there is frequent litigation based on allegations of infringement or other violations
of intellectual property rights. As the number of participants in our market increases and the number of patents and
other intclleciual property registrations increases, the possibility of an intellectual property claim against us grows.
Although we have never been the subject of a material intellectual property dispute, we cannot assure you that a
third party will not assert in the future that our technology or the manner in which we operate our business violales
its intellectual property rights. From time to time, in the ordinary course of our business, we may become subject to
legal proceedings and claims relating 10 the inteltectual property rights of others, and we expect that third parties
may assert intellectual property claims against us, particularly as we expand the complexity and scope of our
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business, the number of clectronic trading platforms increases and the functionality of these platforms further
overlaps. Any claims, whether with or without merit, could:
« be expensive and time-consuming o defend,
* prevent us {rom operating our business, or portions of our business;
* cause us to cease developing, licensing or using all or any partl ol our electronic trading platform that
incorporates the challenged intellectual property;
* require us to redesign our products or services, which may not be feasible;
= result in significant monetary liability;
= divert management’s attention and resources; and
* require us to pay royalties or enter into licensing agreements in order 1o obtain the right o use necessary
technologies, which may not be possible on commercially reasonabie terms.
We cannot assure you that third parties will not assert infringement claims against us in the future with respect
to our clectronic trading platform or any of our other current or future products or services or that any such assertion
will not require us to cease providing such services or products, try to redesign our products or services, enter into

royalty arrangements, if available, or engage in litigation that could be cosily 10 us, Any of these events could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations,

If we acquire or invest in other businesses, products or technologies, we may be unable to integrate them
with our business, our financial performance may be impaired or we may not realize the anticipated
Sfinancial and strategic goals for any such transactions.

[f appropriate opportunitics present themselves, we may acquire or make investments in businesses, products
or technologies that we belicve are sirategic. We may not be able o identify, negotiate or finance any luture
acquisition or investment successfully. Even if we do succeed in acquiring or investing in a business, product or
technology, such acquisitions and investments involve a number of risks, including:

» we may find that the acquired company or assets do not further our business strategy, or that we overpaid for

the company or assets, or the economic condittons underlying our acquisition decision may change;

* we may have dilficully integrating the acquired technologics or products with our existing electronic trading

platform, products and services;

» we may have difficulty integrating the operations and personnel of the acquired business, or retaining the key

personnel of the acquired business;

* there may be client confusion il our services overlap with those of the acquired company;

» our ongoing business and management’s attention may be disrupted or diverted by transition or inlegration

issues and the complexity of managing geographically or culturally diverse eaterprises;

= we may have difficulty maintaining uniform standards, controls, procedures and policies across locations;

* an acquisition may result in litigation from terminated employces or third parties; and

= we may experience significant problems or liabilities associated with product quality, technology and legal

contingencics.

These factors could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows, particularly in the case of a larger acquisition or multiple acquisitions in a short period of time. From
time to time, we may enter into negotiations for acquisitions or investments that are not ultimately consummated.
Such negotiations could result in significant diversion of management time, as well as out-of-pocket costs.

The consideration paid in connection with an investmend or acquisition also affects our financial results. 1f we
were 10 proceed with one or more significant acquisitions in which the consideration included cash, we could be
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required to use a substantial portion of our available cash to consummate any acquisition. To the extent we issue
shares of capital stock or other rights to purchase capital stock, including options or other rights, existing
stockholders may be diluted and earnings per share may decrease. In addition, acquisitions may result in the
incurrence of debt, large one-time write-offs, such as of acquired in-process research and development costs, and
restructuring charges. They may also result in goodwill and other intangible assets that are subject to impairment
tests, which could result in future impairment charges.

We are dependent on our management team, and the loss of any key member of this team may prevent us
from implementing our business plan in a timely manner.

Our success depends largely upon the continued services of our executive officers and other key personnel,
particularly Richard M. McVey, Chief Exccutive Officer and Chairman of our Board of Directors. The terms of
Mr. McVey's employment agreement with us do not require him 10 continue to work for us and allow him 1o
terminate his employment at any time, subject to certain notice requirements and forfeiture of non-vested equity
options, performance shares and restricted stock. Any loss or interruption of Mr. McVey’s services or that of one or
more of our other executive officers or key personnel could result in our inability to manage our operalions
effectively and/or pursue our business strategy.

Because competition for our employees is intense, we may not be able to attract and retain the highly skilled
employees we need to support our business.

We strive to provide high-quality services that will allow us 1o establish and maintain long-term relationships
with our broker-dealer and institutional investor clients. Our ability to provide these services and maintain these
relationships, as well as our ability 1o execute our business plan generally, depends in large part upon our
employces. We must attract and retain highly qualified personnel. Competition for these personnel is intense,
especially for software engincers with extensive expericnce in designing and developing software and Internet-
related services, hardware engineers, technicians, product managers and senior sales executives.,

The market for qualified personnel has grown more compelitive in recent periods as electronic commerce has
experienced growth. Many of the companies with which we compete for experienced personnel have greater
resources than we have and are longer established in the marketptace. In addition, in making employment decisions,
particularly in the Internct, high-technology and financial services industries, job candidates often consider the total
compensation package offered, including the value of the stock- based compensation they are (o receive in
connection with their employment. Significant volatility in the price of our common stock may adversely affect our
ability to attract or retain key employees. The expensing of stock-based compensation may discourage us from
granting the size or type of stock-based compensation that job candidates may require 10 join our company.

We cannot assure you that we will be successful in our efforts to recruit and retain the required personnel. The
failure 10 attract new personnel or 10 retain and motivate our current personnel may have a material adversc etfect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Termination of employees may result in additional costs

We are currently involved in arbitration claims filed by two former employees. We believe that both cases are
without merit and we intend to vigorously defend them. However, an adverse settlement or judgment refated to those
or similar types of claims may have an adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations. Regardless of
the outcome of these claims, we may incur significant expense and management time dealing with such claims.

Our business is subject to increasingly extensive government and other regulation and our relationships
with our broker-dealer clients may subject us to increasing regulatory scrutiny,

The financial industry is extensively regulated by many governmental agencics and self-regulatory organi-
zations, inciuding the SEC and FINRA. As a matter of public policy, these regulatory bodies are responsible for
safeguarding the integrity of the securitics and other financial markets and protecting the interests of investors in
those markets. These regulatory bodics have broad powers to promulgate and interpret, investigate and sanction
non-compliance with their laws, rules and regulations.
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Most aspects of our broker-dealer subsidiaries are highly regulated, including:
* the way we deal with our clients;

= our capital requirements;

= our linancial and regulatory reporling practices;

* required record-keeping and record retention procedures;

* the licensing of our employees; and

* the conduct of our directors, officers, employees and affiliates.

We cannot assure you that we and/or our directors, officers and employces will be able o fully comply with
these laws, rules and regulations. If we tail to comply with any of these laws, rules or regulations, we may be subject
Lo censure, fines, cease-and-desist orders, suspension of our business, suspensions of personnel or other sanctions,
including revocation of our membership in FINRA and registration as a broker-dealer.

We have two major operating subsidiaries, MarketAxess Corporation and MarketAxess Europe Limited.
MarketAxess Corporation and MarketAxess Europe Limited are subject to U.S. and U K. regulations as aregistered
broker-dealer and as a multilateral rading facility, respectively, which prohibit repayment of borrowings from the
Company or affiliates, paying cash dividends, making loans to the Company or affiliates or otherwise entering into
transactions that result in a significant reduction in regulatory net capital or financial resources, without prior
notification o or approval from such subsidiary’s principal regulator.

Changes in laws or regulations or in governmental policies, including the rules relating to the maintenance of
specific levels of net capital applicable to our broker-deaier subsidiaries, could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations. Our inctustry has been and is subject (o continuous regulatory
changes and may become subject to new regulations or changes in the interpretation or enforcement of existing
regulations, which could require us to incur significant compliance costs or cause the development of affected
markets o become impractical. In addition, as we expand our business into new markets, it is likely that we will be
subject 10 additional laws, rules and regulations. We cannot predict the extent to which any fulure regulatory
changes may adversely affect our business and operations.

Our disclosed trading system has not been subjected to regulation as an alternative trading system under
Regulation ATS. A determination by the SEC to treat our trading platform as an alternative trading system subject to
Regulation ATS would subject us 1o additional reporting obligations and other limitations on the conduct of our
business, many of which could be material. Our anonymous dealer-to-dealer trading service, DealerAxess®, is
regulated as an allernative trading system subject to Regulation ATS.

As an enterprise founded and historically controlled by broker-dealer competitors, we may be subject to
ongoing regulatory scrutiny of our business to a degree that is not likely to be experienced by some of our
competitors. In November 2000, we received a Civil Investigative Demand from the U.S. Department of Justice in
connection with the Antitrust Division’s investigation of electronic bond and other consortia trading systems. Afler
compliance with all information requests, we received notice from the U.S. Depariment of Justice in 2004 that the
investigation had been officially closed. As the use of our electronic trading platform grows and represents a greater
share of the trading volume of fixed-income sccurities, the risk that other regulatory investigations could commence
in the future increases. Additionally, the involvement of individuals affiliated with certain of our broker-dealer
clients on our Board of Directors and as stockholders may subject us to increased regulatory scrutiny of our
business. At any time, the outcome of investigations and other regulatory scrutiny could lead 1o compulsory changes
to our bhusiness model, conduct or practices, or our relationships with our broker-dealer clients, or additional
governmental scrutiny or private lawsuits against us, any of which could materially harm our revenues, impair our
ability to provide access (o the broadest range of fixed-income securities and impact our ability to grow and compete
effectively, particularly as we implement new initiatives designed to enhance our competitive position.

The activitics and consequences described above may result in significant distractions 10 our managemenlt and
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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We expect to continue to expand our operations outside of the United States; however, we may face special
economic and regulatory challenges that we may not be able to meet.

We operate an electronic trading platform in Europe and we plan to further expand our operations throughout
Europe and other regions. There are certain risks inherent in doing business in international markets, particularly in
the financial services industry, which is heavily regulated in many jurisdictions outside the United States. These
risks include:

+ less developed technological infrastructures and generally higher costs, which could result in Tower client
acceptance of our services or clients having difficulty accessing our trading platform;

« difficulty in obtaining the necessary regulatory approvals for planned expansion, if at all, and the possibility
that any approvals that arc obtained may impose restrictions on the operation of our business;

» the inability 1o manage and coordinate the various regulatory requirements of mulliple jurisdictions that are
constantly evolving and subject to unexpected change;

» difficultics in staffing and managing foreign operations;
» fluctuations in cxchange rates;

+ reduced or no protection for intellectual propenty rights,
» seasonal reductions in business activity; and

+ potentially adverse tax conseguences.

Our inability to manage these risks effectively could adversely aifect our business and limit our ability to
expand our international operations, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

We cannot predict our future capital needs or our ability to obtain additional financing if we need it.

Our business is dependent upon the availability of adequate funding and regulatory capital under applicable
regulatory requirements. Historically, we have satisfied thesc needs primarily through equity financing from cerlain
of our broker-dealer clients, our acquisition of Trading Edge, Inc., internally generated funds and our initial public
offering. Although we belicve that our available cash resources are sufficient 10 meet our presently anticipated
liquidity needs and capital expenditure requirements for at least the next 12 months, we may in the future need to
raise additional funds to, among other things:

* support more rapid growth of our business;

* develop new or enhanced services and products;

« respond 1o compeltitive pressures;

» acquire complementary companies or technologies;

«+ cnter into strategic alliances;

» increase the regulatory net capital necessary o support our operations; or
« respond to unanticipated capital requirements.

We may not be able to obtain additional financing, it needed, in amounts or on terms acceptable to us, if at alt.
Our ¢xisting investors, including our broker-dealer clients and their affiliates, have no obligation to make further
investments in us, and we do not anticipate that they will do so. If sufficient funds are not available or are not
available on terms acceptable 1o us, our ability to fund our expansion, take advantage of acquisition opportunitics,
develop or enhance our services or products, or otherwise respond to competitive pressures would be significantly
limited. These limitations could have a material adverse cifect on our business, financial conditien and results of
operations.




The requirements of being a public company may strain our resources, divert management’s attention and
affect our ability to attract and retain gualified board members.

As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934, the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and NASDAQ rules promulgaled in response to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. The
requirements of these rules and regulations have increased our legal and financial compliance costs, made some
activities more difficult, time-consuming or costly and may place undue strain on our sysiems and resources. The
Securitics Exchange Act of 1934 requires, among other things, that we file annual, quarterly and current reports
with respect to our business and financial condition. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we
maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls for financial reporting. In order to
maintain and improve the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial
reporting, significant resources and management oversight are required. As a result, management’s attention may
be diverted from other business concerns, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

These rules and regulations could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified independent
members of our Board of Directors. Additionally, we expect these rules and regulations to make it more difficult and
more expensive for us to obtain director and officer lability insurance. We may be required to accept reduced
coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain coverage. NASDAQ rules also require that a majority of our
Board of Directors and all of certain sub-committees of the Board of Directors consist of independent directors. We
cannot assure you that our Board of Directors will continue to include a majority of independent directors to comply
with the requirements of these rules.

We are subject to the risks of litigation and securities laws lability.

Many aspects of our business, and the businesses of our clients, involve subsiantial risks of liability.
Dissatisfied cliems may make claims regarding quality of trade execution, improperly settled trades, misman-
agement or even fraud against their service providers. We and our clients may become subject to these claims as the
result of failures or malfunctions of our clectronic trading platform and services provided by us. We could incur
significant legal expenses defending claims, even those without merit. An adverse resolution of any lawsuits or
claims agains( us could have a material adverse effect on our business, tinancial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Industry
If the use of electronic trading platforms does not confinue to increase, we will not be able to achieve our
business objectives.

The success ol our business plan depends on our ability to create an electronic trading platform for a wide
range of fixed-income products. Historically, fixed-income securities markets operated through telephone com-
munications between institutional investors and broker-dealers. The utilization of our products and services
depends on the acceptance, adeption and growth of electronic means of trading securitics. We cannot assure you that
the growth and acceptance of clectronic means of trading securitics will continue.

Economic, political and market factors beyond our control could reduce demand for our services and harm
our business, and our profitability could suffer.

The global financial services business is, by its nature, risky and volatile and is directly affected by many
national and international factors that are beyond our control. Any one of these factors may cause a substantial
decline in the U.S. and global financial services markets, resulting in reduced trading volume. These events could
have a material adverse effect on our business, linancial condition and results of operations. These factors include:

» ¢conomic and potitical conditions in the United States and elsewhere;
» adversc market conditions, incleding unforeseen market closures or other disruptions in trading;

« actual or threatened acts of war or terrorism or other armed hostilities;
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» concerns over inflation and weakening consumer confidence levels;

» the availability of cash for investment by mutual funds and other wholesale and retail investors;
+ the level and volatility of interest and foreign currency exchange rates; and

s legislative and regulatory changes.

Any one or more of these factors may contribute to reduced activity and prices in the securities markets
generally. Qur revenues and profitability are likely 1o decline significantly during periods of stagnant economic
conditions or low trading volume in the U.S. and global financial markets.

Item IB. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

Our corporate headguarters and principal U.S. offices are located at 140 Broadway, New York, New York,
where we lease 29,300 square feet under a lease expiring in February 2010. MarketAxess Europe Limited’s
headguarters and principal offices are located at 71 Fenchurch Street, London, England, where we lease
9,400 square feet under a lease expiring in November 2015. MarketAxess Technologies Inc. has offices in Salt
Lake City, Utah, where we lcase 2,100 square feet under a lease expiring in May 2008. In addition, we lease another
17,000 square feet a1 350 Madison Avenue, New York, New York, which we currenily sublet. The lease and sublease
expire in April 201 1.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

In January 2007, tiwo former employees commenced arbitration proceedings against MarketAxess Corporation
before FINRA arising oul of the expiration of certain vested and unvested stock options and unvested restricted
shares issued to them. In April 2007, one of those former employees brought a separatc FINRA arbitration against
MarketAxess Holdings Inc. based on the same claim he had filed against MarketAxess Corporation. The
arbitrations brought by that employee against both MarketAxess Corporation and MarketAxess Holdings Inc.
have been consolidated before FINRA. The claims made by these two former emptoyees total $4.5 million plus
mterest,

One former employee has alleged that we wrongfully prevented him from exercising his vested options when
he sought to de so and thal we wrongfully claimed that such options had expired on the previous day.

The other former employec has atleged that we wrongfully failed to accelerate the vesting of his then unvested
options and restricted shares upon his termination and to waive the 90-day time period within which he was required
to exercise his vested options. He further alleges that he is entitled to a bonus for the approximately five months that
he worked for us during 2006.

MarketAxess Corporation answered both arbitration claims brought against it. We have vigorously defended
the claims brought against both MarketAxess Corporation and MarketAxess Holdings Inc. Based on currently
available information, we believe that the likelihood of a material loss is not probable. Accordingly, no amounts
have been provided in the accompanying financial statements. However, arbitration is subject to inherent
uncertainties and unfavorable rulings could occur.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to security holders for a vote during the fourth guarter of our fiscal year ended
December 31, 2007,
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PART 11
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities
Price Range

Our common stock trades on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol *“MKTX”. The range of
closing price information for our common stock, as reported by NASDAQ, was as {ollows:

January I, 2007 to March 31, 2007 . . . ... .. e $16.95  $1241
April 1, 2007 10 June 30, 2007 . ... . e $18.20  $16.00
July 1, 2007 to September 30, 2007 . . ..o e $19.32  $14.00
October 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007 . e $16.34 $11.70
2006: Migh_Low

January 1, 2006 to March 31,2006 . . .. ... ... ... .. $13.68 S$11.07
April 1, 2006 t0 June 30, 2006 . ... ... $1247 3% 996
July 1, 2006 10 September 30, 2006, . ... ..o $i1.25 3 890
Qctober 1, 2006 10 December 31,2006 ... ..o e $14.95  $10.10

On February 29, 2008, the last reported closing price of our common stock on the NASDAQ Global Select
Market was $9.37.
Holders

There were 79 holders of record of our common stock as of February 29, 2008.

Dividend Policy

We have not declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock since our inception and do not anticipate
paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

In the event we decide to declare dividends on our common stock in the future, such declaration will be subject
1o the discretion of our Board of Direclors. Our Board may take into account such matters as general business
conditions, our financial results, capilal requirements, contractual, legal, and regulatory restrictions on the payment
of dividends by us 1o our stockholders or by our subsidiaries to us and any such other factors as our Board may deem
relevant.

Use of Proceeds

Nonc.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

Cn November 9, 2007, we issued 64,642 shares of our common stock to TWS in connection with our
acquisition of certain assets and assumption of certain liabilitics of TWS. Oae-half of these shares vest on January 1,
2009 and the balance vests on January 1, 2010.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

Please sec the section entitled “Equity Compensation Plan Information” in ltem 12.
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

During the quarter ended December 31, 2007, we repurchased the following shares of common stock:

Total Number of  Dollar Value of
Shares Purchased  Shares That May
Total Number of Average Price Paid  as Part of Publicly Yet Be Purchased

| Period Shares Purchased per Shure Announced Plans  Under the Plans
{In thousand)
October 1, 2007 — Gcetober 31,2007 .. ... .. 75,345 $14.14 59.006 $9.086
November |, 2007 — November 30, 2007 . .. 54,296 14.84 54.296 8,280
December } , 2007 — December 31, 2007 . .. 417,215 ﬂg 417,215 2,11
546,856 $13.49 530.517

On Ociober 26, 2006, our Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program for up to $40 million of
our common stock. Shares repurchased under the program will be held in treasury for future use. A total of
2,642,714 sharcs were repurchased at an aggregate cost of $37.2 million from the inception of the repurchase
program through December 31, 2007, The stock repurchase program was completed in Janvary 2008.




STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following graph shows a comparison from November 5, 2004 (the date our common slock commenced
trading on the NASDAQ Glohal Sclect Market) through December 31, 2007 of (i) the cumulative total return for our
common stock, (11} the NASDAQ Composite Index, (iii) the NASDAQ Global Select Market Composite Index,
(iv) the Dow Jones US Financial Services Index and (v) a peer group that we previousty used. We believe that the
Dow Jones US Financial Services Index provides a more meaningful peer group comparison of our stock
performance. The peer group we are replacing consisted oft eSpeed, Inc., GFl Group Inc. and Investment
Technology Group, Inc.

The NASDAGQ Global Sclect Market Composite Index, introduced in July 2006, is a market capitalization
weighted index that measures all NASDAQ domestic and international based common type stocks listed in the
Global Select tier of the NASDAQ Stock Market. The index carries the index history of the NASDA(Q) National
Market Composite Index.

The figures in this graph assume an initial investment of $100 in our common stock at the closing price of
$17.49 on November 5, 2004, the date our common stock commenced trading on the NASDAQ National Market
(now the NASDAQ Giobal Select Market), an initial investment of $100 on October 31, 2004 in cach of the three
indexes and an initial investment of $100 in each of the companies in the peer group at their respective closing prices
on November 5, 2004,

The returns illustrated below are based on historical resuhis during the period indicated and should not be
considered indicative of future stockholder returns. Data for the NASDAQ Composite Index, the NASDAQ Global
Sclect Market Composite Index, the Dow Jones US Financial Services Index and the peer group assume
reinvestment of dividends. We have never paid dividends on our common stock and have no present plans to
do so. All performance data have been provided by Research Data Group, Inc.

COMPARISON OF 38 MONTH CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*

$350
$300 1
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$200 -
$150 A

$100

$50 1

11/04 12/04 12105 12/06 1207

—H&— MarketAxess Holdings Inc. - A — NASDAQ Composite
++ O - -NASDAQ Global Select —%— Dow Jones US Financial Services
—&— Peer Group

*(On November 2, 2004, the registration statement relating to our initial public offering at a price of $11.00 per share
was declared effective. Qur common stock begin trading on the NASDAQ National Market (now the NASDAQ
Global Sctect Market) on November 5, 2004 and, as required by SEC regulations, the above graph begins with the
closing price of our common stock on that date of $17.49.

39




Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The selecied siatement of operations data for cach of the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 and
the selected balance sheet data as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 have been derived from our audited financial
statements inciuded elsewhere in this Form 10-K. The sclected statement of operations data [or the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the balance sheet data as of December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 have been
derived from our audited financial statements not included in this Form 10-K,

Year Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Statement of Operations Data:

Revenues
Commissions
U.S. high-grade() .. ... ... .. .. 3 32541 % 47752 % 45615 $ 45465 0§ 40310
European high-grade . ... ... ... .. .. 18.828 15.368 14.078 15.142 7.126
Other(2) ... 8.845 8310 7.225 7,565 5.364
Total commissions. . . ............ 80.214 71430 66.918 68.172 52.800
Information and user access fees .. ... ... 5.877 5477 4,435 2.713 1,144
Licensc fees . ... ... ... . . . . ... 688 866 2988 3.143 4,145
Interest InCOME . .. ... .ot i e n s 5242 4.595 3,160 882 371
Other(3) ... ..o e e s 1.622 948 1,059 887 —
Towat revenues. .. ... . ... ..., 93.643 83.316 78.560 75797 58.460
Expenses
Employee compensation and benefits(4) . . . 43,051 42,078 35,445 33,146 26.860
Depreciation and amonization . . . ... ... . 7,170 6.728 5.649 3.468 4.688
Technology and communications . . ... ... 7463 7.704 7.401 6.402 4.755
Professional and consulling fees. . ... . ... 7.639 8.072 9.355 4.908 4,180
Warrant-related expense(S) .. ... ... ... — —_ —_ 2524 5.400
OCCUPUNCY. -« e e e et 3.275 3.033 2.365 1.842 1.843
Marketing and advertising . . .. ... ... ... 1.905 1.769 2,581 2.530 2292
Moneyline revenue share. .. ...... ... .. — — — 1.240 1.806
Generat and administrative ..., .. .. ... 5.889 5.328 4,203 2421 2232
Total expenses . ... ........ ... ... 76,392 74,712 66.999 58.481 54.058
Income before income taxes .. ... ... ... .. 17.251 8.604 11,561 17.316 4.402
Provision (benefit) for income taxes{(6). . .. .. 6,931 3,183 3419 (40.271) 190
Netincome. ... ... 3 10320 % 5421 % 8142 § 57587 $§ 4212
Net income (loss) per common share(7):
Basic . ... ... . ... . $ 032 §$ 018 % 029 $ 676 % (2.20}
Diluted . ......... ... $ 030 $ 015 % 023 § 188 §% (2.20)

Weighted average number of shares of
common stock outstanding:
Basic . ... .. 32.293.036 30,563,437 28.156.505 7.097.682 3.288.464

2
Diluted .. .......... o 34.453.195 35.077.348 35.512.346 30.633.644 3.288.464
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As of December 31,
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
{In thousands)

Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments

and sccuritics-available-for-sale . ... ... .. ...... $124.290 $131,015 $118,145 $103,449 $ 36,182
Working capital(8) . ........ ... .. ... ... ..., 120,656 135268 120,016 103,996 31,884
Tl BS80S . « v v vt et e e e e 198,366 204,278 190,462 175,646 57,183
Total redecemable convertible preferred stock . ... ... — — — — 159,664

(1) Commissions include commissions {rom monthly distribution fees and transaclions between institutional

investor clients and broker-deater clients as well as transactions between broker-dealer clients.

(2) Other commissions consist primarily of commissions (rom the trading of emerging markets, crossover and

high-yicld, new issue, agency and treasury bonds as well as credit default swap indices.

) Other revenues consist primarily of telecommunications line charges 1o broker-dealer clients and other

miscellancous revenues.

(4) We adopied SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R”) using the modified

prospective transition method effective January 1, 2006. In accordance with the modified prospective transition
method, our Consolidated Financial Statements for prior periods have not been restated to reflect, and do not
include, the impact of SFAS 123R. Incremental stock-based compensation expense related to employee stock
options recognized under SFAS 123R for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 was $3.0 mitlion and
$3.2 million, respectively.

(5) Warrant-related expense is the cxpense associated with the allocation of warrants to purchase shares of our

common stock issuable pursuant to a warrant issued to six of our broker-deaier clients at the time they made an
cquity investment in us. While the warrant was expensed cach quarter, this was a non-cash expense that varied
with the underlying fair market value of our common stock. The final share allocations under the warvant
program occurred on March 1, 2004. Accordingly, we no longer record any expense related to this warrant.

(6) During the year ended December 31, 2004, we reduced the valuation altowance relating to our deferred tax

assets by $46.1 million, from $64.3 million 10 $18.1 million. Due 1o the fact that we had achieved multiple
quarters of profitability, it became more likely than not that we would be able to utilize our net operating loss
carryforwards. We also determined that it was more likely than not that all of the temporary differences relating
to the deductibility of certain expenses for book and tax purposes, including the warrant-related expense, would
be utilized prior to expiration. We also recognized $2.1 million in tax credits and an additional tax benefis for
operating losses of $1.5 million. Without giving effect to the reduction of the valuation allowance, tax credits
and the additional benefit for operating losses, our net income for the year ended December 31, 2004 would
have been $7.9 million.

(7) Includes the effect of dividends accrued on our redeemable convertible preferred stock. Upon completion of our

initial public offering, all outstanding shares of redecmable convertible preferred stock and convertible
preferred stock were converted into 14,484,493 shares of commeon stock and 4,266,310 shares of non-voting
common slock.

(8) Working capital is defined as current assets minus currealt liabilities. Current assets consist of cash and cash

equivalents, short-term investments, securities and cash provided as collateral, accounts receivable, and prepaid
cxpenses. Current liabilities consist of accrued employee compensation, deferred revenue, and accounts
payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations in
conjunction with “Selected Financial Data" and our consolidated financial statements and related notes included
elsewhere in this Form 10-K. In addition to historical information, this discussion and analysis contains forward-
looking statements relating to future events and the future performance of MarketAxess that are based on our
current expectations, assumptions, estimates and projections about us and our industry. These forward-looking
statements involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results and timing of various events could differ materially
fromt those anticipated in such forward-looking statements as a result of a variety of factors, as more fully described
in this section, in “ltem IA. — Risk Factors™ and elsewhere in this Form 10-K. We undertake no obligation to
update publicly any forward-looking statements for any reason, even if new information becomes available or other
events vccur in the future.

Executive Summary

MarketAxess operates one of the leading platforms for the electronic trading of corporate honds and certain
other types of fixed-income securities. Through our platform, 674 active institutional investor client firms (firms
that cxecuted at least one trade through cur clectronic trading platform between January 2007 and December
2007) can access the aggregate liquidity provided by the collective interest of our 30 broker-dealer clients in buying
or selling bonds through our platform. Qur active institutional investor clicats include investment advisers, mutual
funds, insurance companics, public and private pension funds, bank portfolios and hedge funds. We provide data
and analytical tools that help our clients make trading decisions, we provide connectivity solutions that facilitate the
trading process by electronically communicating order information between trading counierpartics and we provide
our clients with ancillary technology services. Our revenues are primarily generated from the trading of U.S. and
Eurcpean high-grade corporate bonds.

Our multi-dealer trading platform allows our institutional investor clients to simultaneously request com-
peting, executable bids or offers from our broker-dealer clients and ¢xecute trades with the broker-dealer of their
choice from among those that choose to respond. We offer our broker-dealer clients a solution that enables them to
efficiently reach our institutional investor clients for the distribution and trading of bonds. In addition to U.S. high-
grade corporate bonds, Europcan high-grade corporate bonds and emerging markets bonds, including both
investment-grade and non-investment grade debt, we also offer our clients the ability to trade crossover and
high-yield bonds, agency bonds, new issues and credit default swap indices. Our DealerAxess® trading service
allows dealers to trade fixed-income securitics and credit default swaps with each other on our platform.

The majority of our revenues are derived from monthly distribution fees and commissions for trades exccuted
on our platform that are billed to our broker-dealer clients on a monthly basis. We also derive revenucs from
information and user access fees, license fees, investment income and other income, which includes fees earned
from our technology services business. Our expenses consist of employee compensation and benefits, depreciation
and amertization, technology and communication expenses, professional and consulting fees, occupancy, mar-
keting and advertising and other general and administrative expenses.

We seek to grow and diversify our revenues by capitalizing on our status as the operator of a leading platform
for the electronic trading of corporate bonds and certain other types of fixed-income sccurities. The key elements of
our stralegy are:

« toinnovate and efficiently add new functionality and product offerings to the MarketAxess platform that we
believe will help to increase our market share with existing clients, as well as expand our client base;

» 10 leverage our technology, as well as our strong broker-dealer and institutional investor relationships, 10:
deploy our clectronic trading platform into additional product segments within the fixed-income securities
markets; deliver fixed-income securities-related technical services and products; and deploy our electronic
trading platform into new client segments;

« tocontinue building our existing service offerings so that our electronic trading platform is fully integrated into
the workflow of our broker-dealer and instinstional investor clients and to continue 1o add fuactionality o allow
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our clients to achicve a fully automated end-to-end straight-through processing solution (automation from
trade initiation to scttlement);

+ toadd new content and analytical capabilities 1o Corporate BondTicker™ in order to improve the value of the
information we provide to our clicnts; and

* tocontinue 1o supplement our internal growth by entering into strategic alliances, or acquiring husingsses or
technologies that will enable us to enter new markets, provide new products or services, or otherwise
enhance the value of our platform to our clients.

Critical Factors Affecting Our Industry and Our Company
Economic, Political and Market Factors

The global fixed-income securitics industry is risky and volatile and is directly alfected by a number of
cconomic, political and market factors that may result in declining trading volume. These factors could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. These factors include, among
others, credit market conditions, the current interest rate environment, including the volatility of interest rates and
investors” forecasts of future interest rates, and economic and political conditions in the United States, Europe and
elsewhere.

Compelitive Landscape

The global fixed-income securitics industry generally, and the electronic financial services markets in which
we engage in particular, are highly competitive, and we expect competition to intensify in the future. Sources of
competition lor us will continue 10 include, among others, bond trading conducted directly between broker-dealers
and their institutional investor clients over the tetephone or electronically and other multi-dealer trading companies.
Competitors, including companics in which some of our broker-dealer clients have invested, have developed
clectronic trading platforms or have announced their intention to explore the development of electronic platforms
that may compete with us,

In general, we compete on the basis of a number of key factors, including, among others, the liquidity provided
on our platform, the magnitude and frequency of price improvement enabled by our platform and the quality and
speed of execution. We believe that we compete favorably with respect to these factors. Our trading volume and
client aceeptance have grown significantly over the past five years and we continue to proactively build technology
solutions that serve the needs of the credit markets.

Our competitive position is also enhanced by the familiarity and integration of our broker-dealer and
institutional investor clients with our electronic trading platform and other systems. We have focused on the
unique aspects of the credit markets we serve in the development of our platform, working closely with our clicnts 1o
provide a system that is suited 10 their needs.

Regulatory Environment

Our industry has been and is subject to continuous regulatory changes and may become subject 10 new
regulations or changes in the interpretation or enforcement of existing regulations, which could require us 1o incur
significant costs.

Our U.S. subsidiary, MarketAxess Corporation, is a registered broker-dealer with the SEC and is a member of
FINRA, Our U.K. subsidiary, MarketAxess Europe Limited, is registered as a multilateral trading facility dealer
with the FSA in the UK. Both U.S. and U.K. regulations prohibit repayment of borrowings from these subsidiarics
or their affiliates, paying cash dividends, making loans to us or our affiliates or otherwise entering into transactions
that result in a significant reduetion in regulatory net capital or financial resources, without prior notification to or
approval from such regulated entity’s principal regulator, MarketAxess Canada Limited, a Canadian subsidiary that
we incorporated in May 2003, has applicd for registration as an Allcrnative Trading Sysiem dealer under the
Securities Act of Ontario and is in the process of secking approval for membership with the Invesiment Dealers
Association of Canada.
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As 4 public company, we are subject 10 the reporting requirements of the Sccurities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Sarbanes-Oxley Aci of 2002 and NASDAQ rules promulgated in response to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. The
requirements of these rules and regulastions have increased our legal and financial compliance costs, made some
activities more difficult, time-consuming or costly and may also place undue strain on our systems and resources. In
order to maintaia and improve the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over
financial reporting, significant resources and management oversight are required.

Rapid Technological Changes

We must continue to enhance and improve our electronic trading platform. The electronic linencial services
industry is characterized by increasingly complex systems and infrastructures and new business models. Qur future
success will depend on our ability to enhance our existing products and services, develop and/or license new
products and technologies that address the increasingly sophisticated and varied needs of our broker-dealer and
institutional investor clients and prospective clients and respond to technologicat advances and emerging industry
standards and practices on a cost-ctfective and timely basis.

Trends in Qur Business

The majority of our revenues are derived from monthly distribution fees and commissions for transactions
exccuted on our platform between our institutional investor and broker-dealer clients. We believe that there are five
key variables that impact the notional value of such transactions on our platform and the amount of commissions
earned by us:

» the number of institutional investor clients that participate on the platform and their willingness to originate
transactions through the platform;

» the number of broker-dealer clients on the platform and the competitiveness of the prices they provide to the
institutional investor clicnts;

+ the number of markets for which we make trading available to our clients;
» the overall level of activity in these markets; and
* the level of commissions that we collect for trades executed through the platform.

We belicve that overall corporate bond market trading volume is affected by various factors including the
absolute levels of interest rates, the direction of interest rale movements, the level of new issues of corporate bonds
and the volatility of corporalc bond spreads versus U.S. Treasury sccurities. Becavse a significant percentage of our
revenue is tied directly to the volume of securities traded on our platform, it is likely that a general decline in trading
volumes, regardless of the cause of such decline, would reduce our revenues and have a significant negative impact
on profitability.

The second half of 2007 was a period of significant turmoil in the U.S. and European credit markets, cspecially
in short-term funding and floating rate note instruments. A widespread retrenchment in the credit markets resulted
in increased credit spreads and significantly higher credit spread volatility across a wide range of asset classes. The
average daily trading volume of U.S. high-grade corporate bonds for the second half of 2007 decreased by 14%
compared to the second hall of 2006. We believe the resuliant lack of liquidity in the credit markets led institutional
investors to reduce overall bond trading activity and conduct a higher percentage of their trades directly with their
broker-dealer counterparlics, resulting in lower volumes on our platform. We also believe that a stabilization in
credit market conditions, at higher overall levels of credit spreads, is likely to favorably impact the volume of trades
conducted over our platform.

We have historically carned a substantial portion of our commisstons and overall revenues from broker-dealer
clients that are (or whose affiliates are) our stockholders, For 2007, a total of seven dealers, and for 2006 ind 2005, a
total of nine dealers, were considered to be Stockholder Broker-Dealer Clients. The percentage of our revenues
derived from our Stockholder Broker-Dealer Clients has been declining due to the sale of shares of our common
stock since our initial public offering in November 2004 by several of our founding dealers. For the year ended
December 31, 2007, the percentage decreased 1o 37.1% from 46.0% for the year ended December 31, 2006,
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Affiliates of most of our broker-dealer clients are also among our institutional investor clients. A table detatling the
amount of our revenues generaled by the Stockhelder Broker-Dealer Clients and their respective affiliates, as well
as the corresponding percentage of the respective revenue tine item, is provided below for the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 und 2005:
Year Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005
($ in thousands)

Revenues generated by Stockholder-Broker Dealer Clients and their

affiliates
oMM T OMS « o . o et e et et e e e e e e e e e $31,442 335,626  $36,588
Information and user access fees ... ... ... L. .. 798 L1177 1,052
Investment INCOME . . .. et e e 2,062 1,007 796
L0 T 452 510 607
Total ..o $34,754  $38,320  $39,043
Percentage of revenues
Commissions . . ... ... ... e e e e 39.2% 49.9% 54.7%
Information and user access fees ... ... . oot 13.6% 21.5% 23.7%
INVestmnent inCOME . - - - . . .o e e 39.3% 21.9% 25.2%
Other. . . 27.9% 53.8% 57.3%
Total .. e e e 37.10% 46.0% 49.7%
Number of Stockholder Broker-Dealer Clients ... ............. 7 9 9

Commission Revenue Trends

Commissions are generally calculated as a percentage of the notional dollar volume of bonds traded on our
platform and vary based on the type, size, yield and maturity of the bond traded. The commission rates are based on
4 number of factors, including fees charged by inter-dealer brokers in the respective markets, average bid-offer
spreads in the products we offer and transaction costs through allernative channels including the telephone. Under
our transaction fee plans. bonds that are more actively traded or that have shorter maturities are generally charged
lower commissions, while bends that are less actively traded or that have longer maturitics gencerally command
higher commissions.

U.5. High-Grade Corporate Bond Commissions.  On June 1, 2005, we introduced a new fee plan primarily for
sccondary market transactions in U.S. high-grade corporate bonds exccuted on our institutional client to multi-
dealer electronic trading platform. The fee plan incorporates higher fixed monthly fees and lower variable fees for
our broker-dealer clients than the previous U.S. high-grade corporate transaction fee plans and incorporates volume
incentives to our broker-dealer clients that are designed to increase the volume of transactions effected on our
platform. Under the fec pian, we clectronically add the variable {ee 10 the spread quoted by the broker-dealer client
but do not charge for inquiries that an institutional investor client sends 10 a single broker-dealer client. The
combination of higher lixed and tower variable fecs in the plan results in higher total revenuve to us at current or
lower volume levels. If volume grows, total revenues could be less under the new plan than the previous plan due to
the lower variable fees. For trades on our DealerAxess® dealer-1o-dealer electronic trading platform, we typically
charge a fee to the broker-dealer client involved in the transaction that is based on the size of the transaction and the
malurity of the bond traded. Monthly minimum fees applied 1o certain dealers participating on the DealerAxess®
platform in their first year of trading. The majority of the DealerAxess® monthly minimum commitments expired as
of June 30, 2007.

European High-Grade Corporate Bond Commissions.  On June 1, 2007, we introduced a new fee plan for
European high-grade corporate bond trades for the majority of our European dealers. Similar to the U.S. high-grade
plan, the new European high-grade corporate bond fee plan incorporates fixed monthly fees and a variable fee that is
lower than the transaction {ec under the previous European high-grade plan and incorporates incentives (o our
broker-dealer clients that are designed to increase the volume of transactions effected on our platform. The variable
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fee under the new plan is dependent on the type of bond traded and the maturity of the issue. The combination of the
fixed and variable fees in the new plan results in higher total revenue to us at current or lower volume levels. If
volume grows, 1otal revenues could be less under the new plan than the previous plan due o the lower variable fees,
Under the fee plan in effect prior to June 1, 2007, broker-dealer transaction fees varied based on the type of bond
traded and the maturity of the issue. This fee schedule applied aticred fee structure, which reduced the fee per trade
upon the attainment of certain specilied amounts of monthly commissions generated by a particular broker-dealer
and did not carry a fixed monthly fee.

Other Commissions.  Commissions for other bond and credit delault swap trades gencrally vary based on the
type and the maturity of the instrument raded. We generally operate using standard tee schedules that may include
both variable transaction fees and fixed monthly fees that are charged to the participating dealers.

We anticipate that some reduction in average fees per million may occur in the future. Consequently, past
trends in commissions are not necessarily indicative of future commissions.

Other Revenue Trends

In addition to the commissions discussed above, we earn revenue from information services lees paid by
institutional investor and broker-dealer clients, license fees, income on investments and other services.

Information and User Access Fees. We charge information services fees for Corporate BondTicker ™ to our
broker-deater clicnts, institutional investor clients and data-only subscribers. The information services fee is a flat
monthly fec, based on the level of service. We also generate information services fees from the sale of bulk data to
cerlain institutional investor clients and data-only subscribers. Institutional investor ¢lients trading U.S. high-grade
corporate bonds are charged a monthly user access fee for the use of our platform. The fee, billed quarterly, is
charged to the client based on the number of the clicnt’s users. To encourage institutional investor clients (o execute
trades on our U.S. high-grade corporate bond platform, we reduce these information and user access lees for such
clients once minimum quarterly trading volumes are attained.

License Fees. License fees consist of fees received from broker-dealer clients for access to our trading
ptatform through a non-exclusive and non-transferable license. Broker-dealer clients gencrally pay an initial license
fee, which is typically due and payable upon exccution of the broker-dealer agreement. The initial license fee varies
by agreement and at a minimum is intended to cover the initial set-up costs incurred to enable a broker-dealer to
begin using our electronic trading platform. The license fee is recognized in the first three months of the agreement
in the estimated amount of the set-up costs that we incur and the remaining amount is amortized over the initial term
ol the agreement, which is generally three years. We anticipate that license fees will be an insignificant source of
revenues for us on a going-forward basis.

Investment Income.  Investment income consists of income carned on our investments.

Other.  Other revenues consist of telecommunications line charges to broker-dealer clients and other
miscellaneous sevenues. In 2007, we also began providing technology consulting services and, through our
acquisition of TWS in November 2007, certain connectivity solutions.

Expense Trends
In the normal course of business, we incur the following expenses:

Employee Compensation and Benefits. Employee compensation and benefits is our most significant expense
and includes employee salaries, stock compensation costs, other inceative compensation, employee benefits and
payroll taxes. Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS 123R, which requires the measurement and
recognition of compensation expense for all share-based payment awards made to employees based on estimated
fair values.

Depreciation and Amortization.  We depreciate our compulter hardware and related software, office hardware
and furniture and fixweres and amortize our capitalized software development costs on a siraight-line basis over a
three-year period. We amortize leaschold improvements on a straight-line basis over the lesser of the life of the
improvement or the remaining term of the lease.
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Technology and Communications. Technology and communications expense consists primarily of costs
relating to maintenance on software and hardware, our internal network connections, data center hosting costs and
data feeds provided by outside vendors or service providers. The majority of our broker-dealer clients have
dedicated high-speed communication lines 10 our network in order 1o provide fast data transfer. We charge our
broker-dealer clients a monthly fee for these connections, which is recovered against the relevant expenses we incur,

Professional and Consulting Fees.  Professional and consulling fees consist primarily of accounting fees,
legal fees and fees paid 10 information technology and non-information technology consultants for services
provided for the maintenance of our trading platform and information services products.

Occupancy.  Occupancy costs consist primarily of office and equipment rent, utilities and commercial rent
tax.

Marketing and Advertising. Marketing and advertising expense consists primarily of print and other
advertising expenses we incur to promote our products and services. This expense also includes costs associated
with attending or exhibiting at industry-sponsored seminars, conferences and conventions, and travel and enter-
tainment cxpenses incurred by our sales force to promote our trading platform and information services.

General and Administrative.  General and administrative expense consists primarily of general travel and
entertainment, board of directors expenses, charitable contributions, provision for doubtful accounts, and various
state franchise and U.K. value-added 1axes.

We anticipate expense growth in the future, primarily due to investment in new products, notably in employee
compensation and benefits, professional and consuliing fees, and general and administrative expense, but we
believe that operating leverage can be achieved by increasing volumes in existing products and adding new products
without substantial additions to our infrastructure.

Critical Accounting Policies

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations discusses our
Consolidated Financial Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States, also referred 10 as U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires
management (o make estimates and assumptions that affect the reporied amounts of assets and liabilities and the
reported amounts of income and expenses during the reporting periods. We base our estimates and judgments on
historical experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. Actugl
resuits may differ from these estimates under varying assumptions or conditions. Note 2 of the Notes 1o our
Consolidated Financial Statements includes a summary of the significant accounting policics and methods used in
the preparation of our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Use of Estimates

On an ongoing basis, management evaluates its estimates and judgments, particularly as they relate to
accounting policies that management believes are critical. That is, these accounting policies are most important to
the portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations and they require management’s most difficult,
subjective or complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that ase
inherently uncertain.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We continually monitor collections and payments from our customers and maintain an altowance for doubtful
accounis. The sllowance for doubtful accounts is based upon the historical collection experience and specilic
collection issues that have been identilied.

Software Development Costs
We capitalize certain costs associated with the development of internal use seftware at the point at which the

conceplual formulation, design and testing of possible software project allernatives have been completed. We
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capitalize employee compensation and relaled benefits and third party consulting costs incurred during the
prefiminary software project stage. Once the product is ready for its intended use, such cosls are amortized on
astraight-line basis over three years. We review the amounts capitalized for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of the assels may nol be recoverable.

Revenue Recognition

The majority of our revenues are derived from monthly distribution fees and commissions for trades executed
on our platform that are billed 1o our broker-dealer clients on a monthly basis. We also derive revenues from
information and user access fees, license fees, investment income and other services. Other income includes
revenues from technology licenses, maintenance and consulting services. Commissions are generally calculated as
a percentage of the notional dollar volume of bonds traded on the platform and vary based on the type and maturity
of the bond traded. Under our transaction fee plans, bonds that are more actively traded or that have shorter
maturities are generally charged lower commissions, while bonds that are less actively traded or that have longer
maturitics generally command higher commissions.

We enter into agreements with our broker-dealer clients pursuant 10 which we provide aceess to our platform
through a non-exclusive and non-transferable license. Broker-dealer clients generally pay an initial license fee,
which is typically due and payable upon execution of the broker-dealer agreement. The initial license fee varics by
agreement and at a minimum is intended to cover the initial set-up costs incurred to enable a broker-dealer to begin
using our electronic trading platform. Revenue is recognized in the first three menths of the agreement in the
estimated amount of the set-up costs incurred (50% in the first month, 40% in the second month and 10% in the third
month), and the remaining amount is deferred and recognized ratably over the initial term of the agreement, which
is generally three years. We anticipate that license fees will be an insignificant source of revenues on a going-
forward basis.

Revenues from contracts for technology integration consulting services are recognized on the percentage-of-
completion method in accordance with Statement of Position 81-1, “Accounting for Performance of Construction-
Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts.”” Percentage-of-completion accounting involves calculating the
percentage of services provided during the reporting period compared to the total estimated services Lo be provided
over the duration of the contract. If estimates indicate that a contract loss will occur, a loss provision is recorded in
the period in which the loss first becomes probable and reasonably estimable. Contract losses are determined to be
the amount by which the estimated direct and indirect costs of the contract exceed the estimated total revenues that
will be generated by the contract. There were no contract loss provisions recorded as of December 31, 2007.
Revenues recognized in excess of billings are recorded as unbilled services. Biilings in excess of revenues
recognized are recorded as deferred revenues until revenue recognition criteria are met.

Stock-Based Compensation

We measure and recognize compensation expense for all share-based payment awards in accordince with
SFAS 123R. This statement requires that compensation expense for all share-based awards be recognized based on
their estimated fair values measured as of the grant date. These costs are recognized as an expense in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations over the requisite service peried, which is typically the vesting period, with
an offsetting increase to additional paid-in capital. We adopied SFAS 23R using the modified prospective
transition method effective January 1, 2006.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for using the asset and liability method in accordance with SFAS No. 109,
“Accounting for Income Taxes” (“SFAS 109™). Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary
differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the cnacted
tax ratcs and laws that will be in effect when such differences are expected to reverse. The effect on deferred 1ax
assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the cnactment date. A
valuation allowance is recognized against deferred tax assets i it is more likely than not that such assets will not be
realized in future years.
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In June 2006, the FASB issucd FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxcs — an
Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109” (“FIN 48), which applies to all tax positions accounted for under
SFAS 109. A “1ax position™ includes current or future reductions in taxable income reported or expected to be reported
on a tax return. FIN 48 supplements SFAS 109 by defining the confidence level that a tax position must meet in order
10 be recognized in the financial statements. The interpretation requires that the lax elfects of a position be recognized
only il it is “more-likely-than-not™ (i.c., greater than 50% likelihood) 1o be sustained based solely on its technical
merits as of the reporting date. In making this assessment, a company must assume that the taxing authorities will
examine the position. As aresult of the implementation of FIN 48 effective January [, 2007, we recognized an increase
in deferred 1ax assets of $3.0 million related 10 previously unrecognized 1ax benefits, which was accounted for as an
increase Lo additional paid-in capital of $0.3 million and an increase in accrued expenses of $2.7 millien. Unrec-
ognized tax benefits as of January 1, 2007 and December 31, 2007 were $2.7 million. If recognized, this entire amount
would impact the cffective tax rate. In accordance with FIN 48, certain deferred tax assets aggregating $14.1 million
were no longer recognized and the related valuation allowance was reversed.

Business Combinations, Goodwill and Intangibles Assets

We account for busingss acquisitions under the purchase method of accounting in accordance with
SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations.” The total cost of an acquisition is allocated 10 the underlying net assets
based on their respective estimated fair values. The excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of the
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. Determining the fair value of certain assets acquired and liabilities
assumed is judgmental in nature and often involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions, including
assumptions with respect to future cash flows, discount rates, growth rates and asset lives.

In accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” we no longer amortize goodwill
and other intangibles with indefinite lives. We perform an impairment review of goodwill on an annual basis and
more frequently if circumstances change. Intangible assets with definite lives, including purchased technotogy and
other intangible assetls, arc amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of five years,
Intangible asscts are assessed for impairment when events or circumstances indicate a possible impairment pursuant
10 the provisions of SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for Long Lived Assets and for Long Lived Assets to be Disposed
Of”

Segment Results

As an clectronic, mulii-dealer platform for trading fixed-income securities, our operations constitute a single
busincss scgmeni pursuant to SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Infor-
mation.” Because of the highly integrated nature of 1he financial markets in which we compete and the integration of
our worldwide business activities, we believe that resulis by geographic region, products or types of clicnts are not
necessarily meaningful in understanding our business.

49




Results of Operations
Financial Results
The following table presents our consolidated operating results expressed in U.S. dollars and as a percentage of
total revenues Tor cach ol the years presented:
Year Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005

$ % of Revenues $ % of Revenues $ % of Revenues
($ in thousands)

Revenues
Commissions
U.S. high-grade .......... 352,541 56.1%  $47,752 57.3%  $45.615 58.1%
European high-grade.. . ... .. 18,828 20.1 15,368 184 14,078 17.9
Other .. ... .. ........... 8,845 9.4 8,310 10.0 7,225 9.2
Total commissions. . ... .. 80,214 85.7 71,430 85.7 66,918 85.2
Information and user access
fees ... 5,877 6.3 5471 6.6 4,435 5.6
License fees. .. ............ 688 0.7 866 1.0 2,988 38
Interest income. .. ... .. 5,242 5.6 4,595 535 3,160 4.0
Other. ................... 1,622 1.7 948 1.1 1,059 1.3
Total revenues .. ....... .. 93,643 100.0 83,316 100.0 18,560 100.0
Expenses
Employee compensation and
benefits .. .......... . ... 43,051 46.0 42,078 50.5 35,445 45.1
Depreciation and amortization. . 7,170 1.7 6,728 8.1 5,649 1.2
Technology and
communications .. ........ 7,463 8.0 7,704 9.2 7.401 94
Professional and consulling
fees ... 7,639 8.2 8,072 9.7 9,355 119
Occupancy .. .............. 3,275 35 3,033 3.6 2,365 3.0
Marketing and advertising . . .. 1,905 2.0 1,769 2.1 2,581 a3
General and administrative . . . . 5,889 6.3 5,328 6.4 4,203 54
Total expenses .. ......... 76,392 81.6 74,712 89.7 66,999 85.3
Income before taxes. . . ........ 17,251 18.4 8,604 10.3 11,561 14.7
Provision for income taxes . . . . 6.931 7.4 3,183 3.8 3,419 44
Netincome ................. $10,320 1L.0%  § 5421 6.5% 3 8,142 10.4%
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Statistical Information
Our trading volume for each of the years presented was as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Trading Volume Data (in billions)
U.S. high-grade — multi dealer ... ... . i $194.1  $1764  $170.1
U.S. high-grade —ssingle dealer. ... ... oo ool 15.1 19.0 7.5
Tota! US. high-grade. . ... ... o o o 209.2 195.4 177.6
European high-grade ... ... . .. .. oo 77.4 87.6 734
Other . .. e e 73.3 56.6 48.2
Tolal o $359.9  $3396 $299.2
Number of US. Trading Days . . . .. .. ... oo, 250 249 250
Number of UK. Trading Days. .. ... .. ...t 253 251 253

For volume reporting purposes, transactions in {oreign currencies are converted 1o U.S. dollars at average
monthly rates. Single-dealer inquirics represent U.S. high-grade trades on which no fees were charged in
accordance with the U.S. high-grade corporate bond fee plan that went into effect on June 1, 2005. Credit default
swap trading volume data are included in Other. Trading volume data related to DealerAxess® hond trading between
broker-dealer clients are included in either U.S. high-grade or Other trading volumes, as appropriate.

Our active institutional investor clients (firms that executed at least one trade through our electronic platform
during the applicable year) and our broker-dealer clients as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 were as follows:

December 31,
2007 2006 2005

Institutional Investor Clients:

1200 465 460 432
BUrOpC. . e 209 229 225
Ol Lo e e e e e 674 689 657
Broker-Dealer CHentS .. ... oo e et e e e e e e 30 25 25

Year Ended December 31, 2007 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2006
Overview

Total revenues increased by $10.3 million or 12.4% to $93.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2007
from $83.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. This increase in total revenues was primarily due to
increases in total commissions of $8.8 miltion, other income of $0.7 million and investment income of $0.6 million.

Total expenses increased by $1.7 million or 2.2% to $76.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 from
$74.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. This increase was primarily due to higher employee
compensation and benefits of $1.0 million.

Income before taxes increased by $8.6 million or 100.5% 10 $17.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2007, from $8.6 million for the year ended December 34, 2006. Net income increased by $4.9 million or 90.4% 1o
$10.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2007, from $5.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2006.
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Revenues

Our revenues lor the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the resulting dollar and percentage
changes, were as [ollows:

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006
% of % of
$ Revenues $ Revenues Change % Change
($ in thousands)
Revenues
Commissions
U.S. high-grade . ... ............ $52,541 56.1% $47.752 57.3% $ 4,789 10.0%
European high-grade . ........... 18,828 20.1 15,368 18.4 3,460 225
Other. ... ... e 8,845 94 8,310 10.0 535 6.4
Total commissions . .. ......... 80,214 85.7 71,430 85.7 8,784 12.3
Information and user access lees ... .. 5877 6.3 5477 6.6 400 1.3
License fees ... .. ... 6BR 0.7 866 1.0 (178) (20.6)
Investment income ... ... ... ... ... 5,242 5.6 4,595 5.5 647 14.1
Other .......... ... ... ... 1,622 1.7 948 1.1 674 71.1
Total revenues . . ... ... $93.643 100.0% $83.316 100.0% $10,327 12.4%

Commissions. Total commissions increased by $8.8 million or 12.3% to $80.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2007 from $71.4 million for 2006. The following table shows the extent to which the increase in
commissions for the year ended December 31, 2007 was attributable to changes in transaction volumes, variable
fees per million, fixed monthly distribution and DealerAxess® minimum fees:

Change from Year Ended
December 31, 2006

0.8, European
High-Grade High-Grade Other Total
(In thousands}
Volume increase (decrease) ... ... . $1,069 $(1,789) $2452 $1,731
Variable fee per million increase (decrease) .. ... .. 1,399 (2,899) (1,e1n (3,416)
Fixed monthly distribution fecs increase ......... 1,675 8,148 — 9,823
DealerAxess® minimum fees increase ... ... ... .. 646 — _ 646
Tolal commissions iNCTEase . ... ... vuwennnn.n $4,789 $ 3,460 $ 535 $8,784

Our average fee per million for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 were as follows:

Year Ended
December 31,

2007 2006
Average Fee Per Million
U.S. high-grade

TOtal e 3251 $244
Variable . .. e 84 77

Europecan high-grade
Tt L e e 243 175
VAl L e e 138 175
0 1 11 121 147
Al Products . ..o oo e 223 210
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U.S. high-grade volume increased by 7.1% for the year ended December 31, 2007, compared to the year ended
December 31, 2006. The increase in U.S. high-grade volume was due primarily to an improvement in the
Company’s estimated market share of totat U.S. high-grade corporate bond volume as reported by FINRATRACE
from 8.5% for the year ended December 31, 2006 10 9.4% for the year ended December 31, 2007, offset by a decline
in overall market volume as measured by FINRA TRACE. Estimated FINRA TRACE U.S. high-grade volume
decreased by 3.09% from $2,295 billion for the year ended December 31, 2006 10 $2,227 biilion for the year ended
December 31, 2007. We believe that the credit market wurmoil experienced in the second hall of 2007 negatively
impacted overall FINRA TRACE volume. The fixed monthly U.S. high-grade distribution fees were $31.5 million
for the year ended December, 2007, compared to $29.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. The
DealerAxcss® monthly minimum fees were $3.5 miltion and $2.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2007
and 20006, respectively. The majority of the DealerAxess® minimum fee commitments expired as of June 30, 2007.
The total U.S. high-grade average fee per million is calculated for cach period presented using both the variable
transaction fees and the fixed monthly distribution fees, including the DeaterAxess® monthly minimum fees, paid
by our broker-dealer clients. The variable U.S. high-grade average fee per million increased due 1o the longer
maturity of trades exccuted on the platform, for which we charge higher commissions.

Europcan high-grade volume decreased by 11.6%, net of the favorable effect of foreign currency changes, for
the year ended December 31, 2007, compared to the year ended December 31, 2006. During the second half of 2007,
we belicve that the European credit markets experienced market conditions similar to the U.S. On June 1, 2007, we
introduced a new fee plan for European high-grade corporate bond trades. Similar to the U.S. high-grade plan, the
new Europcan high-grade corporate bond fece plan incorporaies a {ixed monthly fee and a variable fee that is
dependent on the type of bond traded and the maturity of the issue. The fixed monthly European high-grade
distribution fee was $8.1 million for year ended December 31, 2007, The (o1al European high-grade average fee per
million is calculated for each period presented using both the variable transaction fees and the fixed monthly
distribution fees paid by our broker-dealer clients. The decrease in the variable European high-grade average fee per
million for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the year ended December 31, 2006 resulted principally
{rom the introduction of the new European high-grade fee plan,

Other volume increased by 29.5% for the year ended December 31, 2007, compared to the year ended
December 31, 2006. The increase was primarily due to higher credit default swap, high-yield and agencies volume,
Other average fee per million declined primarily due to higher volume in products which carry lower fees per
million, including credit default swap indexes and agencics.

Information and User Access Fees. Information and user access fees increased by $0.4 milliosn or 7.3% to
$5.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 from $5.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. This
increase was primarily due 1o an increase in the number of data sales and higher pricing for our Corporate
BondTicker™ service.

License Fees. License lees decreased by $0.2 million or 20.6% 1o $0.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2007 from $0.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. This decrease was attributable
10 a decline in the amortization of previously received license fees. We anticipate that Ficense fees will be an
insignificant source of revenues for us on a going-forward basis.

Investment Income.  Investment income increased by $0.6 million or 14.1% to $5.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2007 from $4.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. This increase was primarily due 10
higher cash and cash equivalents and securities available-for-sale balances and a rise in interest rates during the year
ended December 31, 2007,

Other.  Other revenues increased by $0.7 million or 71.1% to $1.6 million for the year ended December 31,
2007 from $0.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. Other revenues in 2007 included $0.6 million in
revenue recognized under a technology development contract with a broker-dealer client,
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Expenses
Our expenses for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the resulting dollar and percentage
changes, were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006
Y% of % of
$ Revenues $ Revenues $ Change % Change
($ in thousands)
Expenses
Employee compensation and benefits. ... $43,051 46.0% 342,078 505% $ 973 2.3%
Depreciation and amortization. . .. ... .. 7,170 7.7 6,728 8.1 442 6.6
Technology and communications . . . .. .. 7,463 8.0 7,704 9.2 (241) (3.1
Professional and consulting fees .. ... .. 7,639 8.2 8,072 9.7 (433) (5.4)
Occupancy . ....coiiiiiinenanann 3275 35 3,033 306 242 8.0
Marketing and advertising. ... ...... .. 1,905 2.0 1,769 2.1 136 7.7
General and administrative ... .. .. .. .. 5,889 6.3 5,328 6.4 __561 10.5
Total expenses. .. .. ..., $76,392 B8l.6% §$74,712 89.7%  $1,680 2.2%

Employee Compensation and Benefits. Employce compensation and benefits increased by $1.0 million or
2.3% 10 $43.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 from $42.1 million for the year ended December 31,
2006. This increase was primarily attributable to higher incentive compensation costs of $2.6 million and employee
benefits and payroll taxes of $1.0 million, offsct by a reduction in employee severance costs of $1.3 million, salary
expense of $1.1 million and stock compensation costs of $0.7 million. The total number of employees increased to
182 as of December 31, 2007 from 176 as of December 31, 2006. As a percentage ol total revenues, employee
compensation and benefits expense decreased 10 46.0% for the year ended December 31, 2007 from 50.5% for the
year ended December 31, 2006,

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization expensc increased by $0.4 million or 6.6% to
$7.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 from $6.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. This
increase was aliributable to increased amortization of capitalized software development costs for our credit default
swap and DealerAxess® products. For the year ended December 31, 2007, we capitalized $3.4 million of software
development costs and $1.5 mitlion of computer and related equipment purchases.

Technology and Communications. Technology and communications expense decreased by $0.2 million or
3.1% to $7.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 from $7.7 million for the year ended December 31,
2006. This decrease was attributable to lower maintenance and office hardware costs.

Professional and Consulting Fees.  Professional and consulting fees decreased by $0.4 million or 5.4% 10
$7.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 from $8.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. This
decrease was primarily due to a reduction in audit and tax fees of $0.9 million and technology and non-technology
consulling costs of $0.6 million, offsct by higher recruiting fees of $0.7 million and legal costs of $0.6 million.

Occupancy. Occupancy costs increased by $0.2 million or 8.0% to $3.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2007 from $3.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2006, primarily due 1o rent expense
for additional leased space in New York City.

Marketing and Advertising. Marketing and advertising expense increased by $0.1 million or 7.7% 10
$1.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 from $1.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. This
increase was primarily due to higher promotion and public relations costs.

General and Administrative.  General and administrative expense increased by $0.6 million or 10.5% 10
$5.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 from $5.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. This
increase was primarily due to higher travel and entertainment expenses of $0.5 million and relocation expensces of
$0.4 million, offset by reduced sales tax of $0.4 million and provision for bad debts of $0.2 million,
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Provision for Income Tax

We recorded an income tax provision of $6.9 million and $3.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2007
and 2006, respectively. The increase in the tax provision was primarily attributable (o the $8.6 million increase in
pre-tax income. With the exception of the payment ol certain state and local 1axes, the provision for income 1axes
was a non-cash expense since we had available net operating loss carryforwards and tax credits 10 offset the cash
payment of laxes.

Our consolidated effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2007 was 40.2% compared to 37.0% for
the year ended December 31, 2006. The 2007 provision includes an adjusiment to the deferred 1ax asset balance of
$0.5 million to reflect the tax rate anticipated to be in effect when the temporary differences are expected to reverse,
as well as changes in enacted state and foreign 1ax rates. Due to our net deferred tax asset balance, a decrease in tax
rates results in a reduction in our deferred tax balance and an increase in tax expense. Our consolidated effective lax
rate can vary from period to period depending on, among other factors, the geographic and business mix ol our
earnings and changes in tax legislation and tax rates.

As of December 31, 2007, we had net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards for income tax purposes of
$109.1 million. We have recorded a valuation allowance of $0.6 million against the gross deferred tax asscts of
$40.3 million arising from tax loss and credit carryforwards and temporary differences relating 1o the deductibility
of certain expenses for book and tax purposes. This valuation allowance was deemed appropriate due to available
evidence indicating that some of the deferred tax assets might not be realized in future years.

Year Ended December 31, 2006 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2005
Overview

Total revenues increased by $4.8 million or 6.1% to $83.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 from
$78.6 miilion for the year ended December 31, 2005. This increase in total revenues was primarily due to increases
in total commissions of $4.5 million, investment income of $1.4 million and information and user access fees of
$1.0 million, offsct in part by a decrease of $2.1 mitlion in license fees.

Total expenses increased by $7.7 million or 11.5% to $74.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 from
$67.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, This increase was primarily due to increases of $6.6 million in
employee compensation and benefits, $1.1 million in geacral and administrative cxpense, $1.1 million in depreciation
and amortization and $0.7 million in occupancy costs. These increases were oflset by decreases in professional and
consulting fees of $1.3 million and in marketing and advertising of $0.8 million. Excluding the impact of non-cash
SFAS 123R stock option expense of $3.2 mitlion, total expenses for the year ended December 31, 2006 increased by
$4.5 miliion or 6.7%, 10 $71.5 million from $67.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2005.

Income before 1axes, which includes the incremenal non-cash impact of SFAS 123R stock option expense,
decreased by $3.0 million, or 25.6% to $8.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2006, from $11.6 million for

the year ended December 31, 2005, Net income decreased by $2.7 million or 33.4% to $5.4 million for the year
cnded December 31, 2007, from $8.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2005.
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Revenues

Our revenues for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the resulting dollar and percentage
changes, were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005
% of % of
$ Revenues $ Revenues  $ Change % Change
(3 in thousands)
Revenues
Commissions
US. high-grade . .. ... .......... $47,752 57.3% $45,615 58.1% $ 2,137 4.7%
European high-grade .. ... .. ... .. 15,368 184 14,078 17.9 1,290 9.2
Other. . ... ... ... 3,310 10.0 7,225 9.2 1,085 15.0
Total commissions . . .......... 71,430 85.7 60,918 §5.2 4,512 6.7
Information and user access fees . . . .. 5477 6.6 4,435 5.6 1,042 235
License fees .. ... oo 866 1.0 2,988 38 (2,122) {71.0)
Investment income .. ............. 4,595 5.5 3,160 4.0 1,435 454
Other . ... ... .. ... 948 1.1 1,059 1.3 (Lil) (10.5)
Total revenues ..o oo i i el $83,316 100.0% $78.560 100.0% § 4,756 6.1%

Commissions. Tolal commissions increased by $4.5 million or 6.7% to $71.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006 from $66.9 million for 2005. The following table shows the exlent to which the increase in
commissions for the vear ended December 31, 2006 was atiributable (o changes in transaclion volumes, variable
fees per million, fixed monthly distribution fees and DealerAxess® minimum fees:

Change from Year Ended
December 31, 2005

U.s, European
High-Grade High-Grade Other Total
(in thousands)
Volume iNCreases . - . v ot i i e e e e e e $ 2,106 $2,724 $1,259 $ 6,089
Variable fec per million decrease .. ... ... ... ... (7,987 {1,434) {174) (9,595)
Fixed monthly distribution fees increase .. ... ... .. 5,185 — — 5,185
DealerAxess® minimum fees increase ... ... ... ... 2,833 — — 2,833
Total commissions INCrease. . . oo v oo e e $ 2,137 $ 1,290 $1,085 $4,512

Our average fee per million for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 were as lollows:

Year Ended
December 31,

2006 2005
Average Fee Per Million
U.S. high-grade

TOlLl o e e e e e $244  $257
Vi able L e e e e e e T 118

European high-grade
Tolal o e e e 175 192
Variable .« e e e e e 175 192
10 14T N 147 150
All Products . . .. o i 210 224
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LLS, high-grade volume increased by 10.0% for the year ended December 31, 2006. compared 10 the year
ended December 31, 2005, The increase in U.S. high-grade volume was due primarily to an improvement in the
Company's estimated market share of total U.S. high-grade corporate bond volume as reported by FINRATRACE
from 7.6% for the year ended December 31, 2005 (o 8.5% lor the year ended December 31, 2006, oilset by a decline
in overall market volume as measured by FINRA TRACE. Estimated FINRA TRACE U.S. high-grade volume
decreased by 1.8% from $2.337 billion for the ycar ended December 31, 2005 10 $2,295 billion lor the year ended
December 31, 2006. The fixed monthly U.S. high-grade distribution fees were $29.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006, compared 10 $24.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. The DealerAxess® monthly
minimum fees were $2.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. The total U.S. high-grade average fee per
million is calculated for cach period presented using both the variable transaction fees and the fixed monthly
distribution fees, including the DealerAxess® monthly mintmum fees, paid by our broker-dealer clients. The
average U.S. high-grade fee per million decreased due to the introduction in June 2005 of our new fee plan, which
has higher fixed monthly distribution fees and lower transaction lees, resulting in lower average fees per million at
higher trading volumes, as well as the shorter maturity of trades executed on the ptatform. This was partially offset
by the introduction of bond trading between broker-dealer clients through our DealerAxess® product in June 2006.

European high-grade volume increased by 19.4%, including the favorable effeet of foreign currency changes,
for the year ended December 31, 2006, compared to the year ended December 31, 2005. The decrease in the average
European high-grade (ee per million from 2005 to 2006 resulted from higher trading volumes in {loating-raic notes,
which have lower fees per million.

Other volume increased by 17.5% for the year ended December 31, 2006, compared to the year ended
December 31, 2005. The increase was primarily due 1o agencics volume. Other average fee per million declined
primarily due to higher volume in products which carry lower fees per mitlion.

Information and User Access Fees.  Information and user access fees increased by $1.0 million or 23.5% to
$5.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 from $4.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, This
increase was primarily due to an increase in the number of subscribers to our Corporate BondTicker ™ service from
2,942 for the year ended December 31, 2005 1o 4,629 for the year ended December 31, 2006.

License Fees. License fees decreased by $2.1 million or 71.0% to $0.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006 from $3.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. This decrease was attributable
to a decline in the amortization of previously received license fees. We anticipate that license fees will be an
insignificant source of revenues for us on a going-forward basis.

Investment Income.  Investment income increased by $1.4 million or 45.4% 10 $4.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006 from $3.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. This increase was primarily due to

higher cash and cash equivalents and securitics available-for-sale batances and a rise in interest rates during the year
cended December 31, 2006.

Other.  Other revenues decreased by $0.1 million or 10.5% 10 $0.9 million {or the year ended December 31,
2006 from $1.1 million for the comparable period in 2005.
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Expenses

Our expenses for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the resulling dollar and percentage
changes, were as follows;

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005
% of % of
$ Revenues $ Revenunes  $ Change % Change
($ in thousands)
Expenses
Employee compensation and benefits. ... $42,078 50.5%  $35.445 45.1%  $ 6,633 18.7%
Depreciation and amortization . .. ... ... 6,728 8.1 5,649 7.2 1,079 19.1
Technology and communications . . ... .. 7.704 9.2 7,401 94 303 4.1
Professional and consulting fees . ... ... 8,072 9.7 9,355 11.9 (1,283) (13.7)
Occupancy . ... 3,033 3.6 2,365 3.0 668 282
Marketing and advertising. . . ......... §,769 2.1 2.581 33 (812) GLS
General and administrative ... ... .. .. 5,328 6.4 4,203 54 1,125 26.8
Total expenses. .. ... ... ... $74.712 89.7% 366,999 853% $7,713 11.5%

Employee Compensation and Benefits. Employee compensation and benefits increased by $6.6 million or
18.7% 1o $42.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 from $35.4 million for the year ended December 31,
2005. This increase was primarily attributable 1o incremental stock option compensation costs of $3.2 million due to
the adoption of SFAS 123R effective January 1, 2006, higher salary expense of $2.0 million, employee severance
costs of $1.7 million and other stock compensaltion costs of $0.6 million, offset by a reduction in employee benefits
and payroll taxes of $0.5 million and lower incentive compensation costs of $0.4 miilion. The total number of
cmployees decreased 10 176 as of December 31, 2006 from 182 as of December 31, 2005. As a percentage of total
revenues, employee compensation and benefits expense increased to 50.5% for the year ended December 31, 2006
from 45.1% for the year ended December 31, 2005.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization expensc increased by $1.1 million or 19.1%
to $6.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 from $5.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. This
increase was attributable to increased amortization of capitalized software development costs for our credit default
swap and DealerAxcss® products. For the year ended December 31, 2006, we capitalized $4.1 million of software
development costs and $2.7 million of computer and related equipment purchases.

Technology and Communications.  Technology and communications expense increased by $0.3 million or
4,1% to $7.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 from $7.4 million for the year ended December 31,
2005, This increase was attributable (o increased cost relating to the purchase of market data.

Professional and Consulting Fees.  Professional and consulting fees decreased by $1.3 million or 13.7% 10
$8.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 from $9.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, This
decrease was primarily due to $0.9 million in recruiting fecs and $0.8 million in information technology consulting
COSts.

Occupancy. Qccupancy costs increased by $0.7 million or 28.2% to $3.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006 from $2.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. The increase was primarily due to rent
expense for additional leased space in New York City and London.

Marketing and Advertising. Marketing and advertising cxpense decrcased by $0.8 million or 31.5% to
$1.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 from $2.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. This

decrcase was primarily due (o a reduction in advertising expenditures of $0.7 million,
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General and Administrative.  General and administrative expense increased by $1.1 million or 26.8% 1o
$5.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 from $4.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. This
increase was primarily due to increases in [ranchise and sales taxes of $0.7 million, provision for bad debts of
$0.2 million and foreign currency transaction losses of $0.2 million.

Provision for Income Tax

For the years eaded December 31, 2006 and 2005, we recorded an income tax provision of $3.2 million and
$3.4 million, respectively, With the exception of the payment of certain state and local taxes, the provision for
income laxes was a non-cash expense since we had available net operating loss carryforwards and tax credits o
offset the cash payment of taxes.

Our consolidated effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2006 was 37.0%, compared to 29.6% lor
the year ended December 31, 2005. The 2005 tax provision included a $2.9 million reduction in ocur valuation
allowance against the deferred tax asset. Our consolidated effective tax rate can vary from period to period
depending on, among other factors, the geographic and business mix of our carnings and changes in tax legislation
and tax rates.

Quarterly Results of Operations
Our quarterly results have varied significantly as a result of:

= changes in trading volume due to market conditions, a decrease in the number of trading days in certain
quarters, and seasonality effecis caused by slow-downs in trading activity during certain periods;

* increases in the number of broker-dealers and institutional investors using our rading platform as well as
increased usage by existing clients;

= ¢xpansion of the products we offer 1o our clients; and

* variance in our expenscs.
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The following table sets forth certain consolidated quarterly income statement data for the eight quarters ended
December 31, 2007. in our opinion, this unaudiled information has been prepared on a basis consistent with our
annual financial statements and includes all adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring adjusiments)
necessary for a fair statement of the unaudiled quarterly data. This information should be read in conjunction
with our Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The
results of operations for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of resulis that we may achieve for any subsequent
periods.

Three Months Ended

Moar 31, Jun 30, Sep 30, Dee 31, Mar 31, Jun 36, Sep 30, Dec 31,
2006 2006 2 2006 2007 2007 2007 2007

(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

Revenues
Commissions
U.S. high-grade(t) ... .. $11,029 $10,975 $12,250 $13,498 513,682 $14,532 $11,982 $12,345
European high-grade(2). . 4,338 4,089 3,290 3,651 4,754 4,456 4,889 4,729
Other(3) .. ........... 2,120 2,194 2,057 1,939 2,257 2,468 2,107 2013
Total commissions. ... 17,487 17,258 17,597 19,088 20,693 2145 18978 19,087
Information and user access
fees(dy ... ... ... 1,359 1,323 1,426 1,369 1,354 1,468 1,535 1,520
Licenscfees............ 281 214 247 124 239 329 90 30
Interest income(5) .. ... .. 962 1,084 1,266 1,283 1,222 1,258 1,332 1,430
Other(6). . ............. 251 243 238 216 257 793 263 309
Total revenues. . . .. .. 20,340 20,122 20,774 22,080 23,765 25304 22,198 22,376
Expenses
Employee compensation
and benefits .. ........ 10,283 10498 10,483 10,814 11,503 11,010 10,258 10,280
Depreciation and
amortization . .. ....... 1,685 1,637 1,703 1,703 1,911 1,879 1,686 1,694
Technology and
comrunications . ...... 2,052 1,791 1,956 1,905 1,763 1,935 1,897 1,868
Professional and consulting
fees ... ... oL 2,551 2,488 1,883 1,150 1,836 1,786 1,883 2,134
Occupancy . ... ......... 830 663 777 763 749 805 869 852
Marketing and advertising . . 378 477 338 576 353 530 481 541
General and
administrative . . .. ..... 1,162 1,182 1,404 1,580 1,181 1,320 1,481 1,907
Total expenses. . ... .. 18,941 18,736 18544 18491 19296 19265 18,555 19,276
Income belore income
axes ... 1,399 1,386 2,230 3,589 4,469 6,039 3,643 3,100
Provision for income
taxes ............... 313 586 933 1,351 2,019 2,487 1,233 1,192
Netincome ............ $ 108 $ 800 § 1297 § 2238 $ 2450 $ 3552 $ 2410 $ 1,908

(1) Of these amounts, $5,553, $5,417, $6,064, $6,667, $5,964, $6,177, $4,756 and $4,944, respectively, were from
related parties,

(2) Of these amounts, $1,878, $1,778, 51,401, $1,573, $1,355, $1,180, $1,235 and $1.191, respectively, were from
related panies.
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{3) Ofthese amounts, $1,338, $1,447, $1,285. 51,175, $1,259, $1,335, $1,002 and $1,045, respectively, were {rom
related parties.

{(4) Of these amounts, $270, $338, $290, $279, $186, $190, $218 and $204, respectively, were from related parties.
{5) Of these amounts, $214, $279, $227, $287, $528, $386, $474 and $674, respectively, were from related parties.
(6) Of these amounts, $134, $130, $125, $121, $102, $99, $150 and $101, respectively, were from related parties.

The following 1ables set forth rading volume and average fee per million traded for the cight quarters ended
December 31, 2007.

Three Months Ended
Mar 3, Jun 30, Sep 0. Decd. Murdl, Jun 30, Sep M, Dec 31,

2006 2006 2006 2000 2007 2007 20072007

{In billions)

(Unaudited}

Trading Volume Data

U.S. high-grade— multi dealer . . .. .. ... $40.6 $39.1 $44.6 §52.1 % 559 § 625 $373 $384
U.S. high-grade — single dealer . .. ... .. 53 4.1 5.1 4.5 4.9 5.0 2.6 2.5
Total U.S. high-grade. . .............. 459 432 497 5606 60.8 675 399 409
European high-grade . ............... 240 228 187 221 283 238 148 106
Other. .. ... 146 134 153 133 15.3 20,1 21.0 169
Total . ... i $84.5 $79.4 $83.7 $92.0 $1044 $I11d4 $757 $684

Three Months Ended
March 31,  June 30, Sept 30, Dec3), March 31, June 30, Sept 30, Dec 31,

2006 2006 06 2006 2007 2007 2007 2007
(Unaudited)
Average Fee Per Million
U.S. high-grade
Total. .. ... $240  $254  $246 $239  $225  $215  $300 $302
Variable .. ... .. ... .o $8 Ss$8 $69 $77 $71 $75 %95 S§$105
European high-grade
Total, ... $181 $179 8176 $165 S168  $187  $330 8448
Variable ........ ... ... ... ... $181 5179 %176 %165 $168 $140  $ 99 5106
Other . ... $145  $164  $135 $145 5148 $123 $100  $)2]
All Products. .. ................. $207  $217  $210 $208  $198  $193  $251 $279
Number of U.S. trading days. . ... ... 62 62 63 62 62 63 63 62
Number of UK. trading days .. .. ... 64 60 64 63 64 6l 64 64

Liquidity and Capital Resources

During the three years ended December 31, 2007, we have met our lunding requirements through cash on hand
and internally generated funds. Cash and cash equivalents and securities-available-for-sale totaled $118.1 million at
December 31, 2005, $131.0 million at December 31, 2006 and $124.3 million at December 31, 2007, We have no
long-term or short-term debt and do not maintain bank lines of credit.

On October 26, 2006, our Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program for up to $40.0 mitlion of
our common stock, Shares repurchased under the program will be held in treasury for future use. During 2007, we
repurchased 2,452,214 shares at @ purchase price of $34.6 million. A total of 2,642,214 shares have been
repurchased at an aggregate cost of $37.2 million from the inception of the repurchase program through
December 31, 2007.
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Our cash flows were as follows for the years presented below:
Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
(In thousands)
Net cash provided by operating activities . . ... ... ... ... .. $29,120  $17,101 % 16508
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities .. ..., ...... (11,179) 4,23] (59,034)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities. . .......... (27,015) 2,818 2,709
Effect of exchange rate changesoncash .......... ... ... ... (215) (339) (46}
Net (decrease) increase for the period .. ..., ... ... .. $ (9.289) $23.811  $(39.463)

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operaling activitics ol $29.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 consisted of
net income of $10.3 million, adjusted for non-cash charges, primarily consisting of depreciation and amortization of
§7.2 million, stock-based compensation expense of $5.6 million and deferred taxes of $4.7 million and a decrease in
working capital of $0.9 million.

Net cash provided by operating activitics of $17.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 consisted of
net income of $5.4 miilion, adjusted for non-cash charges, primarily consisting of depreciation and amortization of
$6.7 millicn, stock-based compensation expense of $6.4 million, deferred taxes of $0.9 million and a provision for
bad debis of $0.7 millien. These non-cash charges were offset by an increase in cash used for working capital of
$3.0 million.

Net cash provided by operating activitics of $16.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 consisted of
net income of $8.1 million, adjusted for non-cash charges, primarily consisting of depreciation and amortization of
$5.6 million, stock-based compensation expense of $2.5 million and deferred taxes of $3.0 million. These non-cash
charges were offset by an increase in cash used for working capital of $2.7 million.

Investing Activities

Nect cash used in investing activities of $1 1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 primarily consisted
of the acquisition of TWS for $3.1 million, net purchases of securities-available-for-sale of $2.5 million, purchases
of furniture, equipment and lcaschold improvements of $1.5 million and capitalization of software development
costs of 33.4 million.

Net cash provided by investing activities of $4.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 consisted of net
proceeds of securities-available-for-sale of $11.0 million, offset by purchases of furniture, equipment and leaschold
improvements of $2.7 mitlion and capitalization of software development costs of $4.1 million.

Nel cash used in investing activitics of $59.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 consisted of net
purchascs of sccuritics-available-for-sale of $60.0 million, purchases of furniture, equipment and leaschold
improvements of $1.4 million and capitalization of software development costs of $3.4 million, offsct by matrity
of short-term investments of $5.8 million.

Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities of $27.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 primarily
consisted of $34.6 million for the purchase of treasury stock, oftset by proceeds from the exercise of stock options of
$5.2 million and excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation of $2.2 million.

Net cash provided by tinancing activitics of $2.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 consisted of
proceeds from the exercise of stock options of $3.8 million and excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation
ol $1.7 million, offsct by the purchase of treasury stock of $2.7 million.

Net cash provided by financing activities of $2.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 consisted of
proceeds from the exercise of stock options of $2.7 million.

62




Other Factors Influencing Liquidity and Capital Resources

We are dependent on our broker-dealer clients, seven of which are also our stockholders, who are not restricted
from buying and sclling fixcd-income securitics, directly or through their own proprictary or third-party platforms,
with institutional investors, None ol our broker-dealer clients is contractually or otherwise obligated to continue to
use our electronic trading platform. The loss of, or a significant reduction in the use of our electronic platform by,
our broker-dealer clients could reduce our cash flows, affect our liquidity and have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and resulis of operations.

We believe that our current resources are adeguate to meet our liguidity needs and capital expenditure
requirements for at keast the next 12 months. However, our future liquidity and capital requirements will depend on
a number of factors, including expenses associated with product development and expansion and new business
opportunities that are intended to further diversify our revenue stream. We may also acquire or invest in
technologies, business ventures or products that are complementary to our business. In the event we require
any additional financing, it will take the form of equity or debt financing. Any additional equity offerings may result
in dilution 1o our stockholders. Any debt financings may involve restrictive covenants with respect to dividends,
issuances of additional capitat and other financial and operational matters related 1o our business.

As of December 31, 2007, we had $13.1 million invested in municipal auction rate securities. Liquidity for
these securitics is typically provided by an auction process that resets the applicable interest rate at pre-determined
intervals. Auctions for $11.0 million of these securities faited in February 2008 and, as a result, we were unable to
liquidate these holdings. However, we believe that other cash, cash equivalents and sceurities balances are adequate
to meet our liquidity requircments for expected growth and investment needs. All of the municipal auction rate
sccurilics that we hold are rated AAA by Standard & Poor’s and we do not believe that the value of these
investments have been impaired.

W have two regulated subsidiarics, MarketAxess Corporation and MarketAxess Europe Limited. MarketAxess
Corporation is a registered broker-dealer in the U.S. and MarketAxess Europe Limited is a registered muiilateral
rading facility in the U.K. As such, they are subject to minimum regulatory capital requircments imposed by their
respective market regulators that are intended 1o ensure general financial soundness and liguidity based on certain
minimum capital requirements. The U.S. and the UK. regulations prohibit a registrant from repaying borrowings {rom
its parent or alfiliates, paying cash dividends, making loans to its parent or affiliates or otherwise cntering into
transactions that result in a significant reduction in its regulatory net capital position without prior notification to or
approval from its principal regulator. The capital structures of our subsidiaries are designed to provide each with
capital and liquidity consistent with its business and regulatory requirements. As of December 31, 2007, MarkelAxess
Corporation had net capital of $21.5 million, which was $20.3 million in excess of its required minimum net capital of
$1.1 million. MarketAxess Europe Limited had financial resources, as defined by the FSA, of $17.1 million, which
was $10.1 million in excess ol ils required financial resources of $7.0 million. We believe that MarketAxess
Corporation and MarketAxess Europe Limited were required to maintain approximately $18.5 million and
$8.0 million, respectively, in cash as of December 31, 2007 10 support their minimum regulatory capital requirements.

In June 2006, our U.S. subsidiary, MarketAxess Corporation, commenced operating an anonymous malching
service for its broker-dealer clients. MarketAxess Corporation executes bond trades on a riskless principal basis,
which arc cleared and scutled by an independent clearing broker, The securitics clearing agreement that Market-
Axess Corporation maintains with the independent clearing broker commenced in December 2004, Under the
securitics clearing agreement, MarketAxess Corporation maintains a collateral deposit with the clearing broker in
the Torm of cash or U.S. government sccurities. As ol December 31, 2007, the collateral deposit included in
securitics and cash provided as collateral on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition was $0.5 million.
MarketAxess Corporation is exposed 10 credit risk in the event a conmra-party does not fulfill its obligation to
complete a transaction. Pursuant to the terms of the securities clearing agreement between MarketAxess Corpo-
ration and the independent clearing broker, the clearing broker has the right to charge MarketAxess Corporation for
losses resulting (rom a counterparty’s failure to (ulfill its contractual obligations. The losses are not capped at a
maximum amount and apply to all trades executed through the clearing broker. At December 31, 2007, Market-
Axess Corporation had not recorded any labilities with regard to this right. CDS transactions are conducted on the
DealerAxess® platform on a name give-up basis and are directly settled beiween the two trading counterparties.
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In the ordinary course of business, we enter into contracts that contain a variety of representations, warranties
and generat indemanifications, Our maximum exposure from any claims under these arrangements is unknown, as
this would involve claims that have not yel occurred. However, based on past experience, we expect the risk of loss
1o be remole.

Effects of Inflation

Because the mujority of our assets are liquid in nature, they are not significamly affecied by inflation.
However, the rate of inflation may affect our expenses, such as employee compensation, office leasing costs and
communications ¢xpenses, which may not be readily recoverable in the prices of our services. To the extent intlation
results in rising interest rates and has other adverse effects on the securitics markets, it may adversely affect our
financial position and results of operations,

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

As of December 31, 2007 we had the following contractual obligations and commitments:

Payments due by period

Less than More than
Total 1 year 1-3 years 3-8 years 5 years
(In thousands)
Operating leases. . ... ... ..o ... $11,061  $ 2,521 $3.916 $1,934 $2,690
Foreign currency forward contracts. . . .. .. 21,890 21,890 — — ~—

$32,951  $24411 $3.916 $1,934 $2,690

As of December 31, 2007, we had unrecognized tax bencfits of $2.7 million. Due 1o the nature of the
underlying positions, it is not currently possible to schedule the future payment obligations by period.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 155, “Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments™
("SFAS 1557). SFAS 155 is an amendment of SFAS No, 133 and SFAS No. 140. SFAS 155 permits companies to
elect, on a deal-by-deal basis, to apply a fair value remeasurement for any hybrid financial instrument that comains
an embedded derivative that otherwise would reguire bifurcation. SFAS 155 is effective for all financial instruments
acquired or issued after the beginning of an entity’s {irst fiscal year that begins afler September 15, 2006. Adoption
of SFAS 155 did not affeet our Consolidated Financial Statements.

In March 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 156, “Accounting Tor Servicing of Financial Assets” (“SFAS 1567).
SFAS 156 amends SFAS No. 140. SFAS 156 requires that all separately recognized servicing assets and servicing
liabilities be initially measured at fair value. For subsequent measurements, SFAS 156 permits companies 1o choose
between an amortization method or a fair value measurement micthod for reporting purposes. SFAS 156 is effective
as of the beginning of a company’s first fiscal year that begins after September 15, 2006. Adoption of SFAS 56 did
not affect our Consolidated Financial Statements.

In June 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes —
an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109" (“FIN 48™), which applics to all tax positions accounted for under
SFAS 109. A “tax position” includes current or future reductions in taxable income reported or expected to be
reported on a tax retuen, FIN 48 supplements SFAS 109 by defining the confidence level that a tax position musg
meet in order to be recognized in the financial statements. The interpretation requires that the tax effects of a
position be recognized only il'itis “more-likely-than-not™ {greater than 50% likclihood) 1o be sustained based solely
on its technical merits as of the reporting date. In making this assessment, a company must assume that the taxing
authoritics will examine the position. As a result of the implementation of FIN 48 ceffective January 1, 2007, we
recognized an increase in deferred tax assets of $3.0 million related to previously unrecognized 1ax benefits, which
was accounted for as an increase to Additional patd-in capital of $0.3 million and an increase in acerued expenses of
$2.7 million.
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In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements™ (“SFAS 1577). SFAS 157
defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and requires enhanced disclosures about fair
value measurements. SFAS 157 is cffective for liscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. We do not expect
SFAS 157 to have a material impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilitics” (“SFAS 159). SFAS 159 permils companies to clect to measure eligible financial instruments,
commitments and certain other arrangements at fair vatue at specified celection dates, with changes in fair value
recognized tn carnings at cach subsequent reporting period. SFAS 159 is effective for fiscal ycars beginning afier
November 15, 2007. W do not expect SFAS 159 to have a material impact on our Consolidated Financial
Statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issucd SFAS No. 141 (revised), “Business Combinations™ (“SFAS 141R™), The
standard changes the accounting for business combinations, including the measurement of acquirer shares issued in
coasideration for a business combination, the recognition of contingent consideration, the accounting for pre-
acquisition gain and loss contingencics, the recognition of capitalized in-process research and development, the
accounting for acquisition-related restructuring cost accruals, the treatment of acquisition-related transaction costs
and the recognition of changes in the acquirer’s income tax valuation allowance. SFAS 141R is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2008. We are currently evaluating the impact of SFAS 141R on our
Consolidated Financial Statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issucd SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial
Statements, an Amendment of ARB No. 517 ("SFAS 160™). SFAS 160 cstablishes accounting and reporting
standards for the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. This statement is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. We do not expect SFAS 160 to have a material impact
on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market risk is the risk of the loss resulting from adverse changes in market rates and prices, such as interest
rates and {oreign currency exchange rates.

Market Risk

The global financial services business is, by its nature, risky and volatile and is directly affected by many
national and intcrnational factors thal are beyond our control. Any one of these factors may cause a substantial
decline in the U.S. and global financial services markets, resolting in reduced trading volume. These events could
have a material adverse effect on our business, linancial condition and results of operations.

As of December 31, 2007, we had a $51.6 million investment in securities available-for-sate. Adversc
movements, such as a 10% decrease in the value of the securities underlying these positions or a downturn or
disruption in the markets for these positions, could result in a substantial loss. In addition, principal gains and losses
resulting from theses positions could on occasion have a disproportionate effect, positive or negative, on our
financial condition and results of operations for any particular reporting period.

See llem 1A. Risk Factors, “Risks Related to Our Industry — Economic, political and market factors beyond
our control could reduce demand for our services and harm our business, and our profitability could suffer”

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk represents our exposure Lo interest rate changes with respect to the money market instruments,
U.S. Treasury obligations and shori-term fixed-income securities in which we invest. As of December 31, 2007, our
cash and cash equivalents and securities available-for-sale amounted to $124.3 million and was primarily invested
in money market instruments, federal agency issues and municipal securities. We do not maintain an inventory of
bonds that are traded on our platform.
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Derivative Risk

Our limited derivative risk stems [rom our activities in the foreign currency forward contract market. We use
this markel to mitigate our U.S. dollar versus Pound Sterling exposure that arises from the activities of our U.K.
subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2007, the notional value of our foreign currency forward contracts was
$21.8 million. We do not speculate in any derivative instruments.

Credit Risk

In June 2006, we began executing riskless principal transactions between our broker-dealer clients through our
subsidiary, MarketAxess Corporation. We act as an intermediary in these transactions by serving as counterparty 10
both the buyer and the seller in matching back-to-back bond trades, which are then settled through a third-party
clearing organization. Setlement typically occurs within one 1o three trading days after the trade date. Cash
settlement of the transaction occurs upon receipt or delivery of the underlying instrument that was traded.

We are exposed 1o credit risk in our role as trading counterparty to our broker-dealer clients executing bond
trades on the DealerAxess® platform. We are exposed to the risk that third parties that owe us money, securities or
other assels will not perform their obligations. These parties may default on their obligations 1o us due to
bankruptcy, lack of liquidity, operational failure or other reasons. Adverse movements in the prices of securities that
are the subject of these transactions can increase our risk. Where the unmatched positien or failure to deliver is
prolonged, there may also be regulatory capital charges required to be taken by us. The policies and procedures we
use (o manage this credii risk are new and untested. There can be no assurance that these policies and procedures
will effectively mitigate our exposure to credit risk. CDS transactions are conducted on the DealerAxess® platform
on a name give-up basis and directly settled between the two trading counterparties.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

MARKETAXESS HOLDINGS INC,
INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. .. ...................... 68
Audited Consolidated Financial Statements
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm . ... oo 69
Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition — As of December 31, 2007 and 2006 ... .. ... .... 70
Consolidated Statements of Operations — For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 . ... 7}
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity and Accumulated Other Comprehensive
Loss — For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, .. .. ... ool 72
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows — For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 ... 73
Notes 10 Consolidated Financial Statements ... .. i e 74

The unaudited supplementary data regarding consolidated guarierly income statement data are incorporated
by reference to the information set forth in ltem 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations,” in the section captioned “Quarterly Results of Operations.”
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management of MarketAxess Holdings Inc. is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal
control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a- 15(f) and 15d-15(1) under the Securitics Exchange Act of
1934, The Company’s internal control over linancial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of {inancial reporting and the preparation of finuncial stalements {or external purposes
in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The Company's internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures thal:

(1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
iransactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company;

(ii} provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary o permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
cxpenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the Company; and

(iil) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition,
use or disposition of the Company’s asscts that could have a material cffect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2007. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Commitiee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control — Integraied Framework.

Based on our assessment and those criteria, management concluded that the Company maintained effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007 has been audited by
PricewaterhouscCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which
appears herein.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockhotders of
MarketAxess Holdings Inc.:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial staiements listed in the accompanying index present fairly, in all
matcerial respects, the financial position of MarketAxess Holdings Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2007
and 2006, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2007 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COS0). The Company’s
management is responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal contrel over financial reporting, included in the
accompanying “Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting.” Our responsibility is to
express opinions on these financial statements and on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based
on our integrated audit. We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the [inancial
statemenis included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
stalements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. OQur audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining
an undersianding of internal control over linancial reporling, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our
audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances, We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

As discussed in Note 2 1o the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it
accounts for share-based compensation in 2006.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain 10 the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principies, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
missiatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of cffectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/8! PRICEWATERHOUSEC00PERS LLP

PricewaterHOUSECOOPERS LLP
New York, New York
February 27, 2008
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MARKETAXESS HOLDINGS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

As of December 31

2007

2006

(In thousands, excepl
share and per share

amounts)
ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents .. ... ... . i i s $ 72711 § 82,000
Sccuritics and cash provided as collateral . ... ... ... o oo oo 4,455 3,798
Securities available-for-sale . .. . ... e 51,579 49015
Accounts receivable, including receivables from related parties of $6,290 and $8,579,

respectively, net of allowance ol $912 and $752 as of December 31, 2007 and

2006, Tespeclively. . oo e e 18,397 17,429
Furniture, equipment and leaschold improvements, net of accumulated depreciation

and AMOTHZALOT © o o ot ot e e e e e e e e e e e e e s 2,931 4,304
Soliware development costs, net of accumulated amortization . . ... ... ... ...... 5,759 6,610
Goodwill and intangible asscts, net of accumulated amortization ... .............. 3,339 202
Prepaid expenses and other assets. .. ... ... e 1,538 2,019
Deferred 18X assels, MOl L . 0 . ittt e e e e e e 37,207 38,901

oAl ASSEUS . . . . .. ottt e e e $198,366  $204.278
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Liabilities

Accrued employce COMPEnsation . .. ... . it e $ 14311 % 12,813

Defermed revenue . .. ... ... i e 826 857

Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other liabilities, including payables to

related partics of $177 and $110 as of December 31, 2007 and 2006,

TS PECTIVElY L e s 8,832 5,323

Total liabilities . . .. . . ... ... e 23,969 18,993

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 12)
Stockholders’ equity
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 5,000,000 shares authorized with no shares issued

and outstanding as of December 31,2007 and 2006. .. .. ... ... ... — —
Common stock voling, $0.003 par value, 110,000,000 shares authorized as of

December 31, 2007 and 2006; 33,082,371 shares and 29,409,537 shares issued as

of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively ... o 99 88
Common stock non-voting, $0.003 par value, 10,000,000 authorized as of

December 31, 2007 and 2006; 2,585,654 shares and 3,125,379 shares issued and

outstanding as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively ... ... ... ... ... 9 i1
Warrants, 0 and 2,379,396 authorized, issued and outstanding as of December 31,

2007 and 2006, respectively . .. .. e — 11,658
Additional paid-incapilal . .. ... L e 289,988 265,030
Receivable for common stock subscribed ... e (834) (1.042)
Treasury stock — Common stock voting, at cost, 2,642,714 shares and

190,500 shares as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. . ... ... ... ... (37.227) (2,653)
Accumulated defiCit . . ... e e (76,754} (87,074)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss. ... ..o o i (884) {733)

Total stockholders’ equity . . . .. ... ... ... .. . ... 174,397 185,285

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity. . . ... ....... ... ... ........... $198,366  $204.278

The accompanying notes are an integral part ol these consolidated financial statements.
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MARKETAXESS HOLDINGS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Revenues
Commissions
U.S. high-grade, including $21,840, $23,701 and $24.513
{rom related parties for the years ended December 31,
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively ., ..o L
European high-grade, including $4,960, $6,630 and $7,047
from related parties for the years ended December 31,
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively ., ... ...
Other, including $4,641, $5,295 and $5,027 from related
parties for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and
2005, respectively ... ...
Tolal commissions . ... ... .. i
Inlormation and user access fees, including $798, $1,177 and
$1,052 from refated parties for the years ended December 31,
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively ... ..o L.
License fees .. ... . e e e
Investment income, including $2,062, $1,007 and $796 from
rclaled parties for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006
and 2005, respectively ... ...
Onher, including $452, $510, and $607 from related parties for
the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2003,
respectively ...

Total revenues .............. ...,

Expenses
Employee compensation and benefits . ... ... Lo
Depreciation and amortization . ... ... ... ... ...
Technology and communications ... ... ... ... .....

OCCUPANCY . . ottt e e e e e e e
Marketing and advertising . .. ... ... . .
General and administrative, including $78, 364 and $59 10
related parties for the years ended December 31, 2007,
2006 and 2005, respectively . ... .. L o ool
Total expenses. . .. ......... ... ... ... .. .. ...

Income before income taxes ... ..o e
Provision for income taxes. . ... ..o it

Netincome . ... ... ... .. . . i

Net income per common share
Basic .. .. e

BasiC .. e e

Yeur Ended December 31,

2007

2006

2008

(in thousands, except share and per share umounnts)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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52541 $ 47,752 § 45,615
18,828 15,368 14,078
8,845 8310 7,225
80,214 71,430 66,918
5877 5477 4,435
688 866 2,988
5,242 4,595 3,160
1,622 948 1,059
93,643 83,3i6 78,560
43,051 42,078 35,445
7.170 6,728 35,649
7463 7,704 7,401
7,639 8,072 9,355
1275 3,033 2,365
1,905 1,769 2,581
5,889 5,328 4,203
76,392 74,712 66,999
17,251 8,604 11,561
6,931 3,183 3,418
10,320 § 3421 % 8,142
032 % 0.1 h) 0.29
030 3 015 % 0.23
32,293,036 30,563,437 28,156,505
34,453,195 35,077,348 35,512,346
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MARKETAXESS HOLDINGS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income . . .o e $10320 3% 5421 § 8142
Adjustments 1o reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization . . .. ... ... . e e 7170 6.728 5.649
Stock-based Compensation EXpense. .. ... . i 5.634 6432 2.507
Defermed 1axes . . . .o e 4.696 903 2976
Provision forbad debts . .. .. ... L 412 661 366

Changes in operating assets and liabilities. net of business acquired:
(Increase) in accounts receivable, including decreases (increases) of $2,289,
{$1.828) and ($3.940) from related parties for the years ended December 31,

2007, 2006 and 2005 respectively . ... Lo (1.362) {3.294) (786)
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses and other assets . ... ..ol 81 855 (L.113)
Increase in accrued employee compensation. ... ... ... . oL 1.480 774 45
(Decrease) in deferred revenue © ... 97 {46() (2.091)

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable. accrued expenses and other liahilitics,
including increase (decrcase) ol $67. $22 and ($442) 1o related parties for

the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively ... .. ... 786 (919) 1,213
Net cash provided by operating activities . . . ... .. ... ... ........... ... 29120 17,101 16,908
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of business (Note 13) . ... ... ... L. (3.139) _ _
Proceeds from maturitics of short-term investments .. ... .. oo —_— — 5.797
Securities available-for-sale:
Proceeds from maturities and sales . . ... ... . o e 46,242 91127 57.274
Purchases . .. .. e (48.722y  (80,110)  (117,324)
Securitics held to maturity:
Proceeds from malurties . . . ... .. e e e e — — 35.320
Purchases . . . e e — — (35.320)
Sccurities and cash provided as collateral . . ... ... L (657) 1 —
Purchases of furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements . . ....... ... . .. (1.533) (2.661) (1.386)
Capitalization of sofiware development costs ... ... ... ... v, (3.370) (4.126) (3.395)
Net cash (used in} provided by investing activities. . . ... .. ... ............. (11,179 4,231 {59.034)
Cash flows rom financing activities
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options and grants of restricted stock . ... ... 5.191 3797 2709
Excess tax benefils from stock-based compensation . . ... ... ..o 2.160 1.674 -—_
Repayment of promissory RoleS . . . . . . . .ottt e 208 —_ -
Purchase of treasury stock —common stack voling . .. .. ... ... .. ... (34.574) (2.653) —
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities . .. .. ...... ... ........ . (27.015) 2818 2.709
Effect of exchange rate changesoncash . ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ....... (215) (339) (46)
Cash and cash equivalents
Net (decrease) increase for the period. .. .. .. L {9.289) 23811 (39,463)
Beginning of period . . . .. ... §2.000 58,189 97.652
Endofperiod . ... . . .. . .. $72711 582000 $ 58189
Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid Tor income taxes . .. .. .. e $ 26 § 263 $% 215
Non-cash exercise of warrants and issuance of common stock. .. ... .. ... ... .. $11658 §% 6035 3 0354

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MARKETAXESS HOLDINGS INC,
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization and Principal Business Activity

MarketAxcess Holdings Inc. (the “Company™) was incorporated in the State of Delaware on April 11, 2000.
Through its subsidiaries, the Company operates an electronic trading platform for corporate bonds and certain other
types of fixed-income sccurities through which the Company’s aclive institutional investor clients can access the
liquidity provided by its broker-dealer clients, The Company’s mulii-dealer trading platform allows its institutional
investor clicnts to simultancously request competitive, executable bids or offers {rom multiple broker-dealers, and
to execute trades with the broker-dealer of their choice, The Company offers its clients the ability to trade U.S. high-
grade corporite bonds, Evuropcan high-grade corporate bonds, credit default swaps, agencies, high yield and
emerging markets bonds. The Company’s DealerAxess® trading service allows dealers to trade fixed-income
securitics and credit default swaps with cach other on its platform. The Company also provides dala and analbytical
tools that help its clicnts make trading decisions, connectivity solutions that facilitate the trading process by
electronically communicating order information between trading counterparties and ancillary technology services.

The Company's stockholder broker-dealer clients as of Janvary 1, 2007 were Banc of America Securities, Bear
Stearns, BNP Puribas, Credit Suisse, JPMorgan, Lehman Brothers and UBS. All of these broker-dealer clients
constitute related partics of the Company (together, the “Stockholder Broker-Dealer Clients™). For 2006 and 2005, a
total of nine¢ dealers were considercd 1o be Stockholder Broker-Dealer Clients. See Note 9, “Related Parties.”
2. Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. All inter-

company transactions and balances have been eliminated.
Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash maintained a1 U.S. and U.K. banks and in moncey market funds. The

Company defines cash equivalents as short-term interest-bearing investments with maturitics at the time of

purchase of three months or less.

Securities and Cash Provided as Collateral

Securities provided as collateral consist of U.S. government obligations and cash. Collectively, these amounts
are used as collateral for standby letiers of credit, as coliateral for forcign currency forward contracts to hedge the
Company’s net investments in certain foreign subsidiaries and as collateral for a broker-dealer clearance account,

Securities Available-for-Sale

The Company classifies its marketable securities as available-for-sale securitics. Unrealized marketable
securities gains and losses are reflected as a net amount under the caption of accumulated other comprehensive loss
on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition. Realized gains and losses are recorded within the
Consolidated Statements of Operations in other revenues. For the purpose of computing realized gains and losses,
cost is determined on a specific identification basis.

The Company assesses whether an other-than-temporary impairment loss on the investments has occurred due
10 declines in [air value or other market conditions. Declines in fair values that are considered other-than-temporary
are recorded as charges in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. No charges for other-than-temporary
declines were recorded during 2007, 2006 and 2005.
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Allowance for Doubiful Accounts

The Company continually monitors collections and payments from its clients and maintains an allowance for
doubtful accounts. The allowance lor doubtiul accounts is based upon the historical collection experience and
specific collection issues that have heen identified. Additions to the allowance lor doubtiul accounts are charged to
bad debt expense, which is included in general and administrative expense in the Company’s Consolidated
Statements of Operations.

The allowance for doubtful accounts was $0.9 million, $0.8 mitlion and $0.4 million as of December 31, 2007,
2006 and 2005, respectively. The provision for bad debts was $0.4 million, $0.7 million and $0.4 million for the
ycars ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Write-ofls and other charges against the allowance
for doubtful accounts were $0.3 million, $0.3 million and $0.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006
and 2005, respectively.

Depreciation and Amortization

Fixed assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. The Company uses the straight-line method of
depreciation over three years. Leaschold improvements are stated at cost and are amortized using the straight-line
method over the lesser of the life of the improvement or the remaining term of the lease.

Software Development Costs

The Company capitalizes certain costs associated with the development of internal use software at the point at
which the conceptual formulation, design and testing of possible software project alternatives have been completed.
The Company capitalizes employee compensation and related benefits and third party consulting costs incurred
during the preliminary software project stage. Once the product is ready for its intended use, such costs are
amortized on a straight-line basis over three years. The Company reviews the amounts capitalized for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of the assets may not be
recoverable.

Foreign Currency Translation and Forward Contracts

Assets and liabilitics denominated in foreign currencies are translated using exchange rates at the end of the
period; revenues and expenses are translated at average monthly rates. Gains and losses on foreign currency
translation are a component ol accumulated other comprehensive loss on the Consolidated Statements of Financial
Condition. Transaction gains and losses are recorded in general and administrative expense in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations.

The Company enters into foreign currency forward contracts to hedge its net investment in its UK.
subsidiarics. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“*SFAS™) No. 133, “Accounting
for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” gains and losses on these transactions are deferred and included
in accumulated other comprehensive loss on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition,

Revenue Recognition

The majority of the Company’s revenues are derived from monthly distribution [ees and comimissions for
trades executed on its platform that are billed Lo its broker-dealer clieats on a monthly basis. The Company also
derives revenues from information and user access fees, license fees, investment income and other income. Other
income includes revenues from technology services.

Commissions are generally calculated as a percentage of the notional dollar volume of bonds traded on the
platform and vary based on the type and maturity of the bond traded. Under the Company’s transaction fee plans,
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bonds that are more actively traded or that have shorter maturitics are generally charged lower commissions, while
bonds that are less actively traded or that have longer maturities generally command higher commissions.

The Company enters into agreements with its broker-dealer clients pursuant to which the Company provides
access Lo its plaiform through a non-exclusive and non-transferable license. Broker-dealer clients generally pay an
initial license fee, which is typically due and payable upon execution of the broker-dealer agreement. The initial
license fee varies by agreement and at a minimum is intended 1o cover the initial set-up costs incurred to enable a
broker-dealer to begin using the Company’s electronic trading platform. Revenue is recognized in the first three
months of the agreement in the estimated amount of the set-up costs incurred (50% in the first month, 40% in the
second month and 10% in the third month), and the remaining amount is deferred and recognized ratably over the
initial term of the agrecment, which is generally three years. The Company anticipates that license fees will be an
insignificant source of revenues on a going-forward basis.

Revenues from contracts for technology integration consulting services are recognized on the percentage-of-
completion method in accordance with Statement of Position 81-1, “Accounting for Performance of Construction-
Type and Cenain Production-Type Contracts.” Percentage-of-completion accounting involves calculating the
percentage of services provided during the reporting period compared to the total estimated services 1o be provided
over the duration of the contract. If estimates indicate that a contract loss will occur, a loss provision is recorded in
the period in which the loss first becomes probable and reasonably estimable. Contract losses are determined 10 be
the amount by which the estimated direct and indirect costs of the contract exceed the estimated total revenues that
will be generated by the contract. There were no contract loss provisions recorded as of December 31, 2007,
Revenues recognized in excess of billings are recorded as unbilled services. Billings in excess of revenues
recognized are recorded as deferred revenues until revenue recognilion crileria are mel.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company measures and recognizes compensation cxpense for all share-based payment awards in
accordance with SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R”). This statement requires
that compensation expense for all share-based awards be recognized based on their estimated fair values measured
as of the grant date. These costs are recognized as an expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations over the
requisite service period, which is typically the vesting period, with an offsetting increase to additional paid-in
capital. The Company adopted SFAS 123R using the modified prospective transition method, which required the
application of the accounting standard as of Januvary 1, 2006. In accordance with the modified prospective transition
method, the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements for prior periods have not been restated to reflect, and
do not include, the impact of SFAS 123R.

Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for siock-based employee compensation plans in accordance
with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees™ (“APB 25™), as
permitied by SFAS No, 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation™ (“SFAS 123%). In accordance with APB
25, the Company accounted for stock-based awards to employees and directors using the intrinsic value method.
Had compensation expense for employee stock-based awards been determined based on the fair value at grant date
consistent with SFAS 123R, for the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company would have reported net income
of $6.8 million and basic and diluted EPS of $0.23 and $0.19, respectively. For purposes of compuling the pro forma
effect of adopting SFAS 123R, the Company used the Black-Scholes-Merton (“*Black-Scholes™) option-pricing
model to determine the per share weighted-average fair value for options granted.

The Company has used the long-method calculation, pursuant to SFAS 123R, to determine its additional
paid-in-capital pool. As of December 31, 2007, the Company has calculated the additional paid-in-capitat poot 1o be
$3.5 million.

Prior 1o the adoption of SFAS 123R, the Company presented all tax benefits resulting from the exercise of stock
optlions as operating cash flows in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. SFAS 123R requires the cash flows
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resulting from tax deductions in excess of the compensation cost recognized lor those options (excess Lax benefits)
to be classified as financing cash lows.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for using the asset and liability method in accordance with SFAS No. 109,
“Accounting for Income Taxes™ ("SFAS 109"). Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax eflects of temporary
differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and Habilities and are measured using the enacied
tax rates and laws that will be in effect when such differences are expected to reverse. The effect on deferred tax
assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. A
valuation allowance is recognized against deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that such asscts will not be
realized in future years.

Business Combinations, Goodwill and Intangible assets

Business acquisitions are accounted for under the purchase method of accounting in accordance with
SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations.” The total cost of an acquisition is allocated 10 the undertying net assets
based on their respective estimated fair values. The excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of the
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. Determining the fair vatue of certain assets acquired and liabilities
assumed is judgmental in nature and often involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions, including
assumptions with respect 10 future cash {lows, discount rates, growth rates and asset lives.

In accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” goodwill and other intangibles
with indefinite lives are no longer amortized. An impairment review of goodwill is performed on an annual basis
and maore frequently if circumstances change. Intangible assets with definite lives, including purchased technology
and other intangible asscets, are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of five years.
Intangible assets are assessed for impairment when events or circumstances indicate a possible impairment pursuant
to the provisions of SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for Long Lived Assets and for Long Lived Assets (o he Disposed
of”

Earnings Per Share

Basic carnings per share (“EPS™} is computed by dividing the net income attributable to common stock by the
weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding {or the period. Diluted EPS is computed using the
same method as basic EPS, but in the denominator, shares of common stock outstanding reflect the potential
dilution that could occur if convertible securities or other contracts to issue common siock were converted inlo or
exercised for common stock.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilitics
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitics at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2006, the FASB issucd SFAS No. 155, “Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments”
{“SFAS 1557), SFAS 155 is an amendment of SFAS No. 133 and SFAS No. 140. SFAS 155 permils compinies to
elect, on a deal-by-deal basis, to apply a [air valoe remeasurement for any hybrid financiat instrument that contains
an embedded derivative that otherwise would require bifurcation. SFAS t55 is effective Tor all financial instruments
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acquired or issued afler the beginning of an entity’s first fiscal year that begins after September 15, 2006. Adoption
of SFAS 155 did not aflect the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

In March 2006, the FASB issucd SFAS No. 156, “Accounting for Servicing of Financial Assets™ (“SFAS 1567).
SFAS 156 amends SFAS No. 140. SFAS 156 requires that all separately recognized servicing assets and servicing
liabilities be initially measured at fair value. For subsequent measurements, SFAS 136 permits companies 10 choose
between an amortization method or a fair value measurement method for reporting purposes. SFAS 156 is effective
as of the beginning of a company’s first fiscal year that begins after Seplember 15, 2006. Adoption of SFAS 156 did
not affect the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Slandards Board (“FASB™) issued FASB Interpretation No. 48,
“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an Interpeetation of FASB Statement No. 109 (“FIN 48™), which
applics to all tax positions accounted for under SFAS 109. A *tax position” includes current or future reductions in
taxable income reported or expected to be reported on & tax return. FIN 48 supplements SFAS 109 by defining the
confidence level that a tax position must meet in order to be recognized in the financial statements. The
interpretation requires that the tax cffects of a position be recognized only if it is “more-likely-than-not” (grealer
than 50% likelihood) to be sustained based solely on its technical merits as of the reporting date. In making this
assessment, a company must assume that the taxing authorities will examine the position. As a result of the
implementation of FIN 48 cifective January 1, 2007, the Company recognized an increase in deferred tax assets of
$3.0 million related to previously unrecognized tax benefits, which was accounted for as an increase to Additional
paid-in capital of $0.3 million and an increase in accrued expenses of $2.7 million. See Note 8, “Income Taxes.”

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “'Fair Value Measurcments™ (“SFAS 1577). SFAS 157
defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and requires enhanced disclosures abowt fair
value measurements. SFAS 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, The Company does
not expect SFAS 157 10 have a material impact on its Consolidated Financial Statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issuced SFAS No. 159, “Fair Value Option {or Financial Asscts and Financial
Liabilities” (“SFAS 1597). SFAS 159 permits companies to elect 10 measure cligible financial instruments,
commitments and certain other arrangements at fair value at specified election dates, with changes in fair value
recognized in earnings at cach subsequent reporting period. SFAS 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2007. The Company does not expect SFAS 159 to have a material impact on its Consolidated
Financial Statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issucd SFAS No. 141 (revised), “Business Combinations™ (*SFAS 141R™). The
standard changes the accounting for business combinations, including the measurement of acquirer shares issued in
consideration for a business combination, the recognition of contingent consideration, the accounting for pre-
acquisition gain and less contingencies, the recognition of capitalized in-process rescarch and development, the
accounting for acquisition-related restructuring cost accruals, the treatment of acquisition-related transaction costs
and the recognition of changes in the acquirer’s income tax valuation allowance. SFAS 141R is effective for fiscal
years beginning afier December 15, 2008. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of SFAS 141R on its
Consolidated Financial Statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial
Statements, an Amendment of ARB No. 517 (“SFAS 16(y"). SFAS 160 establishes accounting and reporting
standards for the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. SFAS 160 is
¢lfective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. The Company does not expect SFAS 160 to have a
material impact on its Consolidaled Financial Statements.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior years' financial statements in order to conform 1o the
current year presentation, Such reclassifications had no effect on previously reported net income.

78



MARKETAXESS HOLDINGS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

3. Net Capital Requirements and Customer Protection Requirements

One of the Company’s U.S. subsidiaries, MarkctAxess Corporation, is a registered broker-dealer with the
U.S. Securilies Exchange Commission (“*SEC™) and is a member of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority
(“FINRA™). Pursuant to the Uniform Net Capital Rule under the Sceuritics Exchange Act of 1934, MarketAxess
Corporation is required to maintain minimum net capital, as defined, equal to the greater of $5 thousand or 6% of
aggregate indebiedness. A summary of MarketAxess Corporation's capital requirements is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006
(In thousands)
Neteapital. L. e $ 21474 $ 14982
Required netcapital .. ..o oo {1,140) (1,048}
Excess netcapital. ..o e $ 20334 % 13,934
Ratio of aggregaie indebtedness to netcapital ... ... ... ... . L. 0800 | 1.05101

MarketAxess Corporation claims exemption from SEC Rule 15¢3-3, as it does not hold “customer securities” or
“funds on account.” as defined therein.

Onc of the Company’s foreign subsidiarics, MarketAxess Europe Limited, is registered as a Multilateral
Trading Facility with the Financial Services Authority (“FSA™) in the United Kingdom ("U.K.”). MarketAxess
Europe is subject 1o certain financial resource requirements of the FSA. A summary of these financial resource
requirements is as follows:

Year Ended
December 31,

2007 2006
(In thousands)
FInancial TCSOUTES . . . .o ottt et e et et e e $17.099  $14,882
ReSOUrCe TeQUITEIMENL . . . .o vttt et e e e s (6,977) {4.372)
Excess financial resources. .. ... ... .. L e $10,122  $10,510

MurketAxess Corporation and MarketAxess Europe are subject to U.S. and UK. regulations as a registered
broker-dealer and Multilateral Trading Facility, respectively, which prohibit repayment of borrowings from the
Company or affiliates, paying cash dividends, making foans 1o the Company or affiliates or clherwise entering into
transactions that result in a significant reduction in regulatory net capital or financial resources, respectively,
without prior notification to or approval froim such regulated entity’s principal regulator.
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4. Securities

The following is a summary of the Company’s securitics-available-for-sale:

Gross Gross Estimated
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value

(In thousands)

As of December 31, 2007

Federal agency issues and municipal securities . ... $51,513 $78 S $51.579
Total sccurities available-for-sale. .. ... ... ... ... $51,513 $78 S(1D $51,579
As of December 31, 2006

Federal agency issues and municipal securities .. .. $48,036 $5 537 $48,004
Corporate Bonds. . .................. ... ... 1,010 1 — 1.011
Total sccurities availuble-for-sale. .. ............ $49,046 $6 $(37) $49,015

The following table summarizes the contractual maturities of securities available-for-sale:
As of December 31,

2007 2006
(In thousands)
Less than ONe YEar . ..ottt e e e e $37,564 823,709
Due in 1=2 years . ... e e e e 14,015 25,306
Total securities-avaitable-for-sale. . .. .. ... ... ... . L $51,579  $49.,015

Proceeds from the maturities and sales of securities available-for-sale during 2007 and 2006 were $46.2 million
and $91.1 million, respectively.

The fair value and continuous duration of gross unrealized losses on securities available-for-sale with
unrealized losses as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 were as follows:

Less than Twelve Months Twelve Months or More Total

Estimated Gross Estimated Gross Estimated Gross
Fair Unrealized - Fair Unrecalized Fair Unrealized
Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses

(In thousands}
As of December 31, 2007
Federal agency issues and
municipal securities .... $ — $— $ 4,540 s $ 4,540 (1D
As of December 31, 2006
Federal agency issues and
municipal securitics . ... $12,215 $(N $20,811 $(30) $33,026 $(37)

As of December 31, 2007, the Company had $13.1 million invested in municipal auction rale scecuritics.
Liquidity for these securitics is typically provided by an auction process that resets the applicabie interest rate at
pre-determined intervals. Auctions for $11.0 million of these securities failed in February 2008. The Company doces
not believe that the value of these investments has been impaired.
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5. Furniture, Equipment and Leasehold Improvements

Furniture, equipment and leaschold improvements, net, are comprised of the following:
As of December 31,

2007 2006
{In thousunds)

Computer hardware and related software . ... .. ... ... ... o o $16,523 515208
Office hardware . . .. ... . e 3,317 3,166
Furniture and fIXI0res . . .. oo e 1,834 1,741
Leaschold improvements. .. . ... . e e e 2,226 2,221
Accumulated depreciation and amortization. ... ... ... o L (20,969) (18,032)

Total furniture, equipment and leaschold improvements, net, .. ....... .. $ 2931 § 4304

During the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2008, depreciation and amortization expense was
$2.9 million, $3.0 million and $2.8 million, respectively.
6. Software Development Costs

Software development costs, net, are comprised of the following:

As of December 31,

2007 2006
(In thousands)
Software developmenl CosIS . . . ...t e $17344 313977
Accumulated amortization .. .. ... e (11,585) (7,367
Tolal software development costs, net. .. ... oo $ 5759 § 6610

During the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, software development costs totaling $3.4 million,
$4.1 million and $3.4 million, respectively, were capilalized. Non-capilalized software costs and routine main-
tenance costs are expensed as incurred and are included in employee compensation and benefits and professional
and consulting lees on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. During the years ended December 31, 2007,
2006 and 2005, amortization expense was $4.2 million, $3.7 million and $2.8 million, respectively.

7. Intangible Assets and Goodwill

Intangible assets and goodwill principally relate to the preliminary allocation of purchase price associated with
the acquisition of Trade West Systems, LLC (“TWS”). Sce Footnote 13, “Acquisition,” for additional disclosure.
Intangible assets that are subject to amortization, including the related accumulated amortization, are comprised of
the tollowing as of December 31, 2007:

Accumulated Net Carrying

Cost Amortization Amount

(In thousands)
Technology . .ot e $ 770 $(26) $ 74
Customer relationships. ... ... o o o i e 220 4) 216
Tradename ... ... e e LY (2) 68
Total . e e e $1,060 $(32) $1,028

Estimated amortization expense for intangible assets with definite lives is $0.2 million for cach of the next
five years,
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Goodwill at December 31, 2007 and 2006 was $2.4 million and $0.2 million, respectively. During 2007,
goodwill acquired in connection with the TWS acquisition was $2.2 million.
8. Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes consists of the following:

Year Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005
(In thousands)

Current:

Federal ... e $ — 8 — $ —
State and local . ... .. ... g1 (75) 228
Foreign . . ... e 212 g9 64
Total current provision. ... ....... .. .. e 293 14 292

Deferred:
Federal . . ... o e 3,596 1,745 1,611
State and local . .. ... . . e 1,825 1,138 816
Forcign . ... o e 1,217 286 700
Total deferred provision . .. ... .. ... ... ... .. .. ... . ..., 6,638 3,169 3,127
Provision for INCOME WXCS . . . . o v vttt e ee s $6,931 $3,18%3 %3419

Pre-tax income from U.S. operations was $13.0 million, $7.5 million and $8.3 million for the ycars ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Pre-tax income from foreign operations was $4.3 million,
$1.1 mitlion and $3.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2003, respectively.

The difference between the Company’s reported provision for income taxes and the amount computed by
multiplying pre-tax income taxes by the U.S. federal statutory rate of 35% is as follows:

Year FEnded December 31,

2007 2006 2005
(In thousands)

U.S. federal tax at SIQtUIOTY TALE . . . . o oottt et i e e i e e $6,037  $3.011  $4,047
State and local taxes — net of federal benefit .. ... ... .......... 1,212 671 843
Stock compensation . . . ... ... .. 191 457 -—
Change in rate for deferred tax assets . .. ......... ... .. ........ 537 255 1,754
Change in valuation allowance . . .. ... ... . ... i — (450) (2,9i8)
Tax-cxempl inlerest iNCOME . ... ... i e (909) (755) (308)
Tax credils. . . . e e e e e e e (533) (498) (342)
L T T o T 396 492 343

Provision for income taxes . . ... e e $6,931  $3,183  $ 3419




MARKETAXESS HOLDINGS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

During 2007, 2006 and 2005 the Company reduced the income tax rate vsed for recording the deferred tax
assets, resulting in a decrease in the deferred 1ax assets and an increase in tax expense of $0.5 million, $0.3 million
and $1.7 million, respectively. The following is a summary of the Company’s nel deferred tax assets:

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006
(In thousands)

Delerred tax assets
Net operating loss carryforwards

U S $28,130 $ 39,696
ROTeign . . e 2,330 3,112
Deprecialion .. .. ..o e 1,065 647
Stock compensation CXPense .. ..o e 3,282 28714
WArrant CXpense . . ..o vt it e e e — 5,210
Restructuring charges . ... ... ... 877 1,005
Tax credits ... ... e e 3,236 2,703
O hET .. e 1,341 1,359
Total deferred (aX asSC1S. . . . o vttt i e e 40,261 56,606
Valuation allowance . ... .. i e e (623) (14,768)
Net deferred 1ax a8SCLS. . .. oot i e e e e 39,638 41,838
Deferred tax liabilities
Capilalized software development costs . ... ... .. .. oL, (2,431 (2,937
Deforred tax assels, NCL. . .. ot e e et e e $37,207 $ 38,901

A summary of the Company’s net operating loss and 1ax credit carryforwards and their expiration dates is as
follows:
Tax Operating
Year of expiration Losses Tax Credits
(In thousands)

U.S. carryforwards:

201210 2008 . e $ — $ 193
200 e e 992 92
2020 e 2,524 3
202 L e e 35,018 —
202 e e 19,543 123
2023 10 2027 . e 42,739 1,919
Total US. carryforwards .. .. ... .. .. .. 100,816 2,330
Credits with no expirationdate . ...... ... .. .. . i 375
U.K. carryforwards (no expiration date) . ... ... ... ... ... 8,321 531
LY $109,137 $3,236

The ultimate realization of deferred income tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable
income during the periods in which the temporary dilferences become deductible. If it is not more likely than not
that some portion or all of the gross deferred income tax assets will be realized in future years, a valuation allowance
is recorded.
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In 2000 and 2001, MarketAxess Holdings Inc. and MarkelAxess Corporation had an ownership change within
the meaning of Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. Net operating loss carryforwards of $39.2 million existed
as of the date of ownership change. However, only $6.8 million is deemed utilizable and recognized in the net
operating loss carryforward figure. In the first quaner of 2007, the Company experienced an ownership change
within the meaning of Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. The Company does not believe that this ownership
change significantly impacts the ability 1o utilize exisling nct operating loss carryforwards. In addition, the
Company’s net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards may be subject Lo additional annual Jimitations if there is
a 50% or greater change in the Company’s ownership, as determined over a rolling three-year period.

During the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company reduced the valuation allowance by
$0.5 million and $2.9 million, respectively, based on management’s current assessiment of the factors impacting the
valuation allowance previously recorded. Such factors included managemenl’s expectation of continuing luture
profitable operations and judgment concerning future utilization of certain net operating losses that are subject to
Section 382 limilations prior 1o their expiration. lo accordance with FIN 48, certain deferred tax assets aggregating
$14.1 million were no longer recognized and the related valuation allowance was reversed effective January 1,
2007. As of December 31, 2007, the valuation allowance relates (o certain (ax credit and charitable contribution
carryforwards thai are not expected to be reatized. The rollforward of the valuation allowance is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006
(In thousands)
Valuation allowance at beginning of period . ... ................ $ 14,768 $15,218
Increase (decrease) to valuation allowance auributable to:
Net operaling 108568, . . .. .0t i ittt i e et (14,105) (330)
Temporary differences .. ... ... .. i i (40) a7
A CrelS . i e e e — 217
Valuation allowance atend of period . . . ... ... .. ... ... ... ... 5 623 $14,768

The Company or one of its subsidiaries files U.S. federal, state and foreign income tax returns. With the
exception of New York and Connecticut state tax returns, all U.S. federal, state and UK. income tax returns have not
been subject 1o audit. The Company’s New York State franchise tax returns for 2000 through 2003 are currently
under examination. The Company cannot estimate when the examination will conclude. During 2007, an exam-
ination of the New York City tax returns for 200! to 2003 concluded with no adjusiments. In addition, an
examination of the Company’s Connecticut income tax returns for 2003 and 2004 concluded in 2007 resulting in a
payment of taxes and interest aggregating 30.1 million.

As a result of the implementation of FIN 48 effective January 1, 2007, the Company recognized an increase in
deferred tax assets of $3.0 million related to previously unrecognized tax benefits, which was accounted for as an
increase to addilional paid-in capital of $0.3 million and an increase in accrued expenses of $2.7 million. If
recognized, this entire amount would impact the cffective tax rate. A reconciliation of the unrecognized tax benefits
is as follows (in thousands):

Balance at January 1, 2007 . . . . o e e $2,685
Additions for tax positions of prior years . ......... .. .. . il e e 88
Reductions of tax positions of prior years . . ... .. ... i e (7
SCUIEIMENLS | . . .. et e e e e e e __(81)

Balance at December 31, 2007 . .. L. e $2,685

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized 1ax benefits in general and admin-
istrative expensces in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. As of the adoption date of FIN 48, accrued interest
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and penalties associated with any unrecognized tax benefits were zero. Interest expense recognized for the year
ended December 31, 2007 was $30 thousand.

9. Related Parties

The Company generales commissions, information and user access fees and other income and related accounts
receivable balances from Stockholder Broker-Dealer Clients or their affihiates. In addition, two Stockholder
Broker-Dealer Clients act in an investment advisory, custodial and cash management capacity for the Company.
The Company also maimains an accounl with a Stockholder Broker-Dealer Client in connection with its share
repurchase program. The Company incurs invesiment advisory and bank fees in connection with these
arrangements. As of the dates and for the periods indicated below, the Company had the following balances
and transactions with the Stockholder Broker-Dealer Clients or their affiliates:

As of December 21,

2007 2006
{In thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents. ... ... o i $71,598  $33,050
Securities and cash provided as collateral ... ... .. .. o oL 3,953 3,298
Accounts receivable ..o L 6,290 8,579
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities ... ... ... ... 177 1O

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
(In thousands)
COMMISSIONS .« L o o et e e e e e e i e $31,442  $35,626 536,588
Information and user access fees ... .o oo o 798 1,177 1,052
Investment INCOMC. .« o o vt ot et et et e et e e e e e e e e e 2,062 1,007 796
OHher INCOME . . ..ot et e et e e e e 452 510 607
General and administrative, . . ... .. L 207 64 59

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company had loans and interest receivable due from the Chief
Executive Officer of $1.2 million and $1.4 million, respectively, which are described in more detail in Footaote 10,
“Stockholders’ Equity.” The accrued interest on the loans is recorded in accounts receivable and the principal
amount is recorded as a receivable for common stock subscribed in stockholders’ equity on the Consolidated
Statements ol Financial Condition. During 2007, principal and interest payments aggregating $0.3 million were
received.

10. Stockholders’ Equity
Common Stock

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company had 110,000,000 authorized shares of voling common stock
and 10,000,000 authorized shares of non-voting common stock. Voling common stock entitles the holder to one vote
per share of common stock held.

Non-voting common stock is converlible on & one-for-one basis into shares of voling common stock at any
time subject o a limitation on conversion 1o the extent such conversion would result in a stockholder, together with
its affiliates, owning morc thun 9.99% of the outstanding shares of common stock. During 2007 and 2006, a total of
539,725 shares and 1,275,951 shares, respectively, of non-voling common stock were converted to voling
common stock.
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In October 2006, the Board of Directors of the Company authorized a share repurchase program for up to
$40.0 million of the Company’s common stock. Shares repurchased under the program will be held in treasury for
future wse. During 2007 and 2006, a wotal of 2,452,214 shares and 190,500 shares were repurchased at a cost of
$34.6 million and $2.7 million, respectively. A total of 2,642,714 shares have been repurchased at an aggregate cost
of $37.2 million from the inception of the repurchase program through December 31, 2007. The share repurchasce
program was completed in January 2008.

Common Stock Subscribed

In 2001, the Company awarded 289,581 shares to the Company’s Chiel Executive Officer at $3.60 per share,
which vested over a three-year period. The common stock subscribed was issued in 2001 in exchange for four
eleven-year promissory notes that bear interest at the applicable Tederal rate and are collateralized hy the subscribed
shares.

Warrants

In Aprii 2000, the Board of Dircetors initiated & warrant program that commenced on February 1, 2001, Under
this program, the Company reserved for issuance 5,000,002 shares of common stock. The warrants were issued Lo
holders of Series A, C, E and I redecmable convertible preferred stock (the “Warrant Holders™). The Warrant
Holdcrs were entitled to purchase shares of common stock from the Company at an exercise price of $.003. There
are no warrants outstanding as of December 31, 2007,

The warrants were issued 10 the Warrant Holders at the time that they made an equity investment in the
Company. Allocations were based on cach broker-dealer client’s respectlive commissions as a percentage of the total
commissions from the six participating Warrant Holders, calculated on a quarterly basis. The finat share allocations
under the warrant program occurred on March 1, 2004. Shares allocated under the warrant program were expensed
on a quarterly basis at fair market value in accordance with SFAS 123,

During the year ended December 31, 2005, two Stockholder Broker-Dealer Clients converted 1,325,602
warrants into 1,325,249 shares of common stock through non-cash exercises. During the year ended December 31,
20006, two Stockholder Broker-Dealer Clients converted 1,295,004 warrants into 1,294,849 shares of common stock
through non-cash exercises. During the year ended December 31, 2007, two Stockholder Broker-Dealer Clients
converted 2,379,200 warrants into 2,378,764 shares of common stock through non-cash exercises. The exercise of
warrants during 2007 and prior years resulied in an unrecognized deferred tax asset of $18.3 million that wifl be
recorded as an increase to additional paid-in-capital once the tax benefit serves to reduce taxes payable in future
years.

In March 2001, in connection with the acquisition ol Trading Edge, Inc. (*Trading Edge™), the Company also
assumed warrants issued by Trading Edge, which were converled into warrants exercisable 1o purchase 7,967 shares
of the Company’s common stock. During the year ended December 31, 2005, these warrants expired unexercised.
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The Company’s warrant activity is summarized as follows:
Weighted-Average

Shares Exercise Price
Outstanding at December 31,2004, ... oo 5.007.969 $ 0211
EXpired . . ..o (7,967 $130.650
EXOICISCO. & ot ot e et e e e e e e (1.325,602) $ 0.003
Oulstanding at December 31,2005 .. ... ... ..o 3,674,400 $ 0003
BXerCised. © o et o e e e e e e e e e (1,295,004) $ 0.003
Quistanding at December 31,2006, ... oo 2,379,396 $ 0.003
EXCrciSCd . v e e e e s (2,379,396) $ 0.003

Quistanding at December 31,2007 .. ... oo —

11, Stock-Based Compensation Plans

The Company has three stock incentive plans which provide for the grant of stock options, stock appreciation
rights, restricted stock, performance shares, performance units, or other stock-based awards as incentives and
rewards to encourage employees, consuhtants and non-employce directors 1o participate in the long-term success of
the Company. On Junc 7, 2006, stockholder approval was obtained for an amendment and restatement of the 2004
Stock Incentive Plan to, among other things, increase the number of shares authorized for issuance under the plan
from 3,084,802 10 9,754,802 shares. As of December 31, 2007, there were 6,141,765 shares available for grant
under the stock incentive plans.

Total stock-based compensation expense was as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005
(In thousands)

Employee:
SIOCK OPLIONS . .o\ c et $3,045  $3,737 $1.446
ReSICICd SIOCK . © ot e e et e e et et i e e 2,103 2.140 613

5,148 5,877 2,059

Non-cmployee directors and consullants:

SIOCK OPILONS . oot et e e 153 277 185
Restricted StOCK. .« . ot e e e 333 278 263
486 555 448

Total stock-based compensalion. ... ... oo $5,634  $6,432 $2.,507

The Company records stock-based compensation expense for employees in employee compensation and
benefits and for non-employce directors and consuhants in general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations.

Stock Options

The exercise price of each option granted is equal to the market price of the Company’s common stock on the
date of grant. Generally, option grants have provided for vesting over a three-ycar period, with one-third vesting
after one year from the grant date and the remaining two-thirds vesting on an equal monthly basis over the
remaining two-year period. Options expire ten years from the date of grant.
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The fair value of each option award is cstimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes closed-form
modcl. The Company believes that the use of the Black-Scholes model meets the fair value measurement objectives
of SFAS 123R and reflects all substantive characteristics of the instruments being valued. The determination of fair
value of share-based payment awards on the date of grant using an option-pricing model is affected by the
Company's stock price as well as assumptions regarding a number of highly complex and subjective variables,
including the expecied stock price volatility over the term of the awards, the risk-free interest rate and the expecied
term. Expected volatilitics are based on historical volatility of the Company’s stock and a peer group. The risk-free
interest rate is based on U.S. Treasury sccurilies with a maturity value approximaling the expected term of the
option. The expected term represents the period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding based on
actual and projected employee stock option exercise behavior and was increased from four years to five years in
May 2006.

The following table represents the assumptions used for the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to determine
the per share weighted-average fair value for options granted for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and
2005:

2007 2006 2005

Weighted-Average Expected Life (years). . ... .. .. o 5.0 4.6 30
Weighted-Average Risk-Free Interest Rate. .. ... oo o oL 47% 47%  3.6%
Weighted-Average Expected Volatility .. ... oo oo o oL 44.6% 41.8% 20.7%
Weighted-Average Fair Value per Option Granted .. ... ... ... ..., $6.02 3445  $2.71

The following table reports stock option activity during the three years ended December 31, 2007 and the
intrinsic value as of December 31, 2007:

Remaining
Numbher of Weighted-Average Contractual
Shares Exercise Price Term Intrinsic Value
{In thousands)
Quistanding at December 31, 2004 ... 4,907,582 $ 517
Granted . ...... ... ... ... 1,400,750 $13.70
Canceled . ... ... it (211,902) $13.04
Exercised . ..... ... ............. (927,623) $ 292
Quistanding al December 31, 2005 . ... 5,168,807 $ 756
Granted .. .. ... 2,297,150 $10.87
Canceled .. ... ... ., (983,981) $10.98
Exercised . . . ... 0 {768,116) $ 4.94
OQuistanding at December 31, 2006 . ... 5,713,860 $ 8.65
Granted ........... ... ...... 638,500 $13.20
Canceled ... oo (550,947) $11.55
Exercised . . ........ .. .. .. (774,521) $ 7.76 $ 5,736
Quistanding at December 31, 2007 .. .. 5,026,892 $ 9.05 6.9 $21,0064
Excrcisable at December 31, 2007 .. .. 3,470,657 $ 7.88 6.0 $18,967

The intrinsic value is the amount by which the closing price of the Company’s comimon stock on December 31,
2007 of $12.83 or the price on the day of exercise exceeds the exercise price of the stock options multiplied by the
number of shares. As ol December 31, 2007, there was $6.6 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related
10 non-vesied stock options, That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period ol 1.6 years.
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Restricted Stock

Shares of restricted stock gencerally vest over a period of three years. Certain grants vest alter five years, bul
contain provisions that allow for accelerated vesting over a shorter term if defined performance criteria are met.
Compensation expense is measured at the grant date and recognized ratably over the vesting period. The Company
considers the likelihood of meeting the performance criteria in determining the amount 1o expense on a periodic
basis.

The following table reports restricted stock activity during the three years ended December 31, 2007:

Weighted-
Average
Number of Grant [date Fair
Restricted Shares Value
Ouistanding at January 1, 2005 ....... ... ... ... ... ... ... —
Granted . . ... e e 215,000
Canceled . .. ... e (8,500)
Vested . .. e (17,500)
Outstanding at December 31,2005, ... ... ... ... ... ... 189,000 $14.86
Granted . . . ., 869,000
Canceled . ... o (102,497
B L (74.909)
Outstanding a1 December 31,2006 . ... ... ... ............. 880,594 $12.29
Granted . ... .. 96,642
Canceled . ... e e (54,498)
VoSt . . e e e (215,735)
Outstanding at December 31,2007 .. ... .. ... ... .. ... 707,003 $12.69

As of December 31, 2007, there was $7.0 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to non-
vesled restricted stock. That cost is expected 1o be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.5 years.

12, Commitments and Contingencies

The Company leases office space and equipment under non-cancelable lease agreements expiring at various
dates through 2015. These leases are subject to escalation based on centain costs incurred by the landlord. Minimuem
rental commitments under such leases, net of sublease income, are as follows:

Year Ending December 31, Minimum Rentals
{In thousands)
2008 . e e e e $2,521
20000 . e e e 2,529
2000 . e e e e e 1,387
7 | O 999
20 e e e 935
203 and thereafter ... e 2,690

The rental expense for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $2.2 million, $2.5 million and
$1.8 million, respectively, which is included in occupancy expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
Rental expense has been recorded based on the 1otal minimum lease payments after giving effect 1o rent abatement
and concessions, which are being amortized on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease, and sublease income,
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The Company has entered into a sublease agreement on one of its leased properties through the April 2011
lease termination date. A loss on the sublease was recorded in 2001. The sublease loss accrual at December 31, 2007
and 2006 was $0.7 million and $0.9 million, respectively.

The Company is contingently obligated for standby letters of credit that were issued to landlords lor office
space. The Company uses a U.S. government obligation as collateral for these standby letters of credit. This
collateral is included with securitics and cash provided as collateral on the Consolidated Statements of Financial
Condition and had a fair market value as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 of $3.3 miilion.

In June 2006, MarketAxcss Corporation commenced operating an anonymous malching service for its broker-
dealer clients. MarketAxess Corporation executes bond trades on a riskless principal basis, which are cleared and
settled by an independent clearing broker. The securities clearing agreement that MarketAxess Corporation
maintains with the independent clearing broker commenced in December 2004. Under the sccurities clearing
agreement, MarketAxess Corporation maintains a coltateral deposil with the clearing broker in the form of cash or
U.S. government securities. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the collateral deposit included in securities and
cash provided as collateral on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition was $0.5 million. MarkciAxess
Corporation is exposed to credit risk in the event a contra-party does not fulfill its obligation 1o complete a
transaction. Pursuant to the terms of the securities clearing agreement between MarketAxess Corporation and the
independent clearing broker, the clearing broker has the right to charge MarketAxess Corporation for losses
resulting from a counterparty’s failure to fulfill its contractual obligations. The losses are not capped at a maximom
amount and apply to all trades exccuted through the clearing broker. At December 31, 2007, MarkelAxess
Corporation had not recorded any liabilitics with regard to this right.

In the normal course of business, the Company enters into contracts that contain a varicty of representations,
warrantics and general indemnifications. The Company’s maximum exposure under these arrangements is
unknown, as this would involve future claims that may be made against the Company that have not yet occurred.
However, based on experience, the Company expects the risk of loss 1o be remote.

In January 2007, two former employees commenced arbitration procecdings against MarketAxess Corporation
before FINRA arising out of the expiration of certain vested and unvested stock optiens and unvested restricted
shares issued 10 them. In April 2007, one of those former employees brought a separate FINRA arbitration against
MarketAxess Holdings Inc. based on the same claim he had filed against MarketAxess Corporation. The
arbitrations brought by that employee against both MarketAxess Corporation and MarketAxess Holdings Inc.
have been consolidated before FINRA. The claims made by these two former employees total $4.5 million plus
interest.

One former employee has alleged that the Company wrongfully prevented him {rom exercising his vested
options when he sought to do so and that the Company wrongfully claimed that such options had expired on the
previous day.

The other former employee has alleged that the Company wronglully failed to accelerale the vesting of his then
unvested options and restricted shares upon his termination and to waive the 90-day time period within which he
was required to exercise his vested options. He further alieges that he is entitled to a bonus for the approximately
five months that he worked for us during 2006.

MarketAxess Corporation answered both arbitration claims brought against it. The Company has vigorously
defended the claims brought against both MarketAxess Corporation and MarketAxess Holdings Inc. Based on
currently availtable information, management believes that the likelihood of a material loss is not probable.
Accordingly, no amounts have been provided in the accompanying financial statements. However, arbitration is
subject 1o inherent uncertainties and unfavorable rulings could occur.
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13. Acquisition

In November 2007, the Company acquired certain assets and assumed certain obligations of TWS, a Utah-
based financial software and technology services provider focused on providing gateway adapters for connecting
order management systems and trading systems (o fixed-income trading venues, for $3.0 million in cash and
64,642 shares of the Company’s common stock. The shares of common stock issued in connection with the TWS
acquisition have been characterized as compensation expense and, accordingly, are not included in the purchase
price. Stock compensation expense totaling $1.0 million will be recognized over the vesting period. One-hall of
these shares vest on January 1, 2009 and the balance vest on January 1, 2010. The acquisition of TWS did nol have a
material impact on the Company's Consolidated Financial Statemeats. The Company has completed a preliminary
allocation of the purchase price to the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the daie of acquisition.
Itis possible that the purchase price allocation will be adjusted upon finalization of the accounting for the acquired
assets. The preliminary purchase price allocation is as follows (in thousands):

Purchase price . .. ..o e e $3,000
ACQUISTHON COSIS . L . Lo L e e e 139

Total purchase Price . ... oot e e $3,139
Accounts receivable and olher assels ... ... L L e e $ 27
Amortizable intangibles . . .. e 1,060
GoodwWill . .. e e e e e 2,159
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and deferred revenue. ..o oL oL (107)

Total purchase Price . . . o ..ot e e e $3,139

14. Segment Information

As an electronic multi-deater platform for the trading of fixed-income secvrities, the Company’s operations
constitute a single business segment pursuant 10 SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and
Related Information.” Because of the highly integrated nature of the financial markets in which the Company
compeles and the integration of the Company’s worldwide business activities, the Company believes thal results by
geographic region or client sector are nol necessarily meaningful in understanding its business.

15. Earnings Per Share
A reconciliation of basic to diluled weighted average shares of common stock is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

NELINCOMIE v e o i et e e e e e e ) 10,320 $ 5421 § 8,142

Common stock —voting. .. .................. 29,572,451 26,764,640 23,755,175

Common stock —non-voling ., ............... 2,720,585 3,798,797 4,401,330

Basic weighted average shares outstanding . ... 32,293,036 30,563,437 28,156,505

Basic carnings pershare ........ ... ... ... $ 032 3 0.18 3§ 0.29

Weight average shares oustanding . ... ... .. .. 32,293,036 30,563,437 28,156,505
Eftfect of dilutive shares:

WAITANIS . .o oo e e 579,732 3,026,800 4,762,321

Stack options and restricted stock .. ... 1,580,427 1,487,111 2,593,520

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding .. 34,453,195 35,077.348 35.512,346

Diluted carnings per share ... ... ... ... .. $ 030 8§ 015 % 0.23
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Stock options and restricted stock Lotaling 719,921 shares, 2,231,578 shares and 1,670,373 shares for the years
ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, were excluded from the computation ol diluted carnings
per share because their effect would have been antidilutive.

16. Accounting for Foreign Currency Forward Contracts and Hedging Activities

The Company enters into foreign currency forward contracts with a non-controlling stockholder to hedge its
exposure 1o variability in foreign currency cash flows resulting from the netinvestments in its U.K. subsidiaries. The
Company assesses cach foreign currency forward contract to ensure that it is highly effective at reducing the
cxposure being hedged. The Company designates cach forcign currency forward contract as a hedge. assesses the
risk management objective and strategy, including identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item and the
risk exposure and how effectivencess is to be assessed prospectively and retrospectively. These hedges are for a one-
month or three-month period and are used to limit exposure o foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations. Gains or
losses on foreign currency forward contracts designated as hedges are included in accumulated other compre-
hensive loss on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition.

A summary of the foreign currency forward contracts is as follows:
Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
{In thousands)
Notional value. . ... ... .. .o $21,801 $17419 $13.632
Fair value of notional. . ... .. .. ... .. . . . . . 21,890 17,381 13,538

»

17. Retirement Savings Plan

The Company, through its U.S. and UK. subsidiarics, offers its employees the opportunity to invest in defined
contribution plans. For the years ending December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, the subsidiaries contributed
$0.6 million, $0.3 million and $0.1 million, respectively, to the plans.

18. Customer Concentration

During the years ended December 314, 2007, 2006 and 2005, no single broker-dealer client accounted for more
than 10% of total revenue.




Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Nonc.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

(@) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. QOur management, including the Chief Exccutive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the eflectiveness of our “disclosure controls and procedures,” as that
term is defined in Rule 13a-15(¢) and Rule 153d-15(¢) promulgated under the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act™), as of December 31, 2007. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer concluded that the disclosure controls and procedures are effective 10 ensure that
information required 1o be disclosed by MarketAxess in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange
Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and
Exchange Commissions rules and forms, and to casure that information is accumulated and communicated to our
management, including the Chicf Exccutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate 1o allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure.

(b)Y Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.  Sec ltem 8 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

(¢) Attestation Report of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. Sec Repor of Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(d) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. There were no changes in our internal control
over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and Rule 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the
quarter ended December 31, 2007 identified in connection with the evaluation thereof by our management,
including the Chief Excecutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, that materially affected, or are reasonably likely
1o materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting,

Item 9YB. Other Information

None.
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Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the sections entitled “*Proposal 1 —
Election of Directors™ and “Executive Compensation — Section 16 (a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compli-
ance” in the Company's definitive Proxy Statement (the “Proxy Statement™) for the Annual Mecting of Stock-
holders to be held in the second guarter of 2008. The Company intends o file the Proxy Statement within 120 days
after the end of its fiscal year (i.e., on or before April 29, 2008). The Company’s Code of Conduct applicable to
directors and all empioyees, including senior financial officers, is available on the Company’s wcbsite a1
www.marketaxess.com. If the Company makes any amendmeats to its Code of Conduct that is required to be
disclosed pursuant 1o the Exchange Act, the Company will make such disclosures on its website.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the section entitled “Executive
Compensation and Related Information™ in the Company’s Proxy Statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

The information required by this item with respect to the security ownership of certain beneficial owners and
management is incorporated herein by reference to the section entitled “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial
Owners and Management” in the Company’s Proxy Statement.

The Tollowing table provides certain information regarding common stock authorized for issuance under the
Company’s equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2007.

Number of Securilics
Remaining Availuble for

Number of Securities
to be Issucd upon
Exercise of

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price of

Future Issuance under
Equity Compensation
Plans (Excluding

Outstanding Options, Outstanding Options, Securities Reflected
Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights in Column (a))
Plan Category (a} (b} (¢}
Equity compensation plans approved by
stockholders(1) .. ... ... ... ...... 4,138,003 $10.42 6,141,765
Equity compensation plans not approved by
stockholders(2) .. .................. 888,889 $ 270 —
Total. ... ... 5,026,892 $ 9.05 6,141,765

(1) These plans consist of the Company’s 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (Amended and Resiated Effective April 28,
2006), 2001 Stock Incentive Plan and 2000 Stock Incentive Plan.

{2) Represents the grant of a stock option made in February 2003 1o a senior officer. This option is now fully vested.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the section entited “Certain
Relationships and Related Transactions™ in the Company’s Proxy Statement.
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this ilem is incorporated herein by reference to the section entitled “*Principal
Accounling Fees and Services™ in the Company’s Proxy Statement.
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Item 15.

PART IV

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) Financial Statements and Schedules

The financial stalements are set forth under liem 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Financial statement
schedules have been omitted since they are either not required. not applicable, or the information is otherwise

included.

(b) Exhibit Listing

Number

31

3.2%
33

34*
4.1%*
4.2%
4.3%*
4.4%

10.1*
10.2¢a)*
10.2(b)*
10.2(cy*
10.2(d)*
10.2(c)*
10.2(H*
10.2{g)*
10.2(h)*
10.3%
104
10.5
10.6*
10.7*
10.8*

10.9*
10.10¢a)

10.10(b)

Description -

Intentionally omitted

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation

Intentionally omitted

Amended and Restated Bylaws

Specimen Common Stock certificate

Sixth Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement

Inientionally omitted

See Exhibits 3.2 and 3.4 for provisions delining the rights of holders of common stock and non-voting
common stock of the registrant

Employment Agreement, dated as of May 3, 2004, by and between MarketAxess Holdings Inc. and
Richard M. McVey#

Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 11, 2001, by and between MarketAxess Holdings
Inc. and Richard M. McVey#

Full Recourse Secured Promissory Note, dated June 11, 2001, by Richard M. McVey in favor of
MarkctAxess Holdings Inc.#

Non-Recourse Secured Promissory Note, dated June 11, 2001, by Richard M. McVey in favor of
MarketAxess Holdings Inc.#

Stock Pledge Agreement, dated as of June 11, 2001, by and between MarketAxess Holdings Inc. and
Richard M. McVey#

Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2001, by and between MarketlAxess Holdings
Inc. and Richard M. McVey#

Full Recourse Secured Promissory Note, dated July 1, 2001, by Richard M. McVey in favor of
MarketAxess Holdings Inc.#

Non-Recourse Secured Promissory Note, dated July 1, 2001, by Richard M. McVey ir favor of
MarketAxess Holdings Ine #

Stock Pledge Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2001, by and between MarketAxess Holdings Inc. and
Richard M, McVey#

Stock Option Agreement, dated February 7, 2003, by and between MarketAxess Holdings Inc. and
Richard M, McVey#

Intentionally omitted

Intentionally omitted

MarketAxess Holdings Inc. Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Incentive Plan#

MarketAxess Holdings Inc. Amended and Restated 2001 Stock Incentive Plan#

Amendment No. 1 to the MarketAxess Holdings Inc. Amended and Restated 2001 Steck Incentive Plan#
Amendment to the MarketAxess Holdings Inc. 2001 and 2000 Stock Incentive Plans#

MarketAxess Heldings Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (amended and restated effective April 28, 2006 y#
(incorporated by reference 1o Appendix A to the registrant’s Proxy Statement {or its Annoat Meeting for
Stockholders held on June 7, 2006, (iled on May 1, 2006)

Form of Incentive Siock Option Agreement pursuant 1o the MarketAxess Holdings Inc. 2004 Stock
Incentive Plan (amended and restated effective April 28, 2006%# (incorporated by reference 1o
Appendix B to the registrant’s Proxy Statement for its Annual Mecting of Stockholders held on
June 7, 2006, filed on May 1, 2006)
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Number

10.10(c)

10.11*
10.12%*
10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

211
23,1+
L0+
31.2%*
32,1

32.2%*

Description

Form of Non Qualified Stock Option Agreement pursuant to the MarketAxess Holdings Inc. 2004 Stock
Incentive Plan (amended and restated effective April 28, 2006 (incorporated by reference to
Appendix C to the registrant’s Proxy Statement for its Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on
June 7, 2006, filed on May 1, 2006)

MarketAxess Holdings Inc. 2004 Annual Performance Incentive Plan#

Form of Indemnification Agreement

Restricted Stock Agreement Pursuant to Market Axess Holdings Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan, dated as
of January 31, 2006, by and between Market Axess Holdings Inc. and Richard M. McVey# (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 10 the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 30, 2006)
Offer dcuer dated August 21, 2006 between MarketAxess Holdings Inc. and T. Kelley Miliet#
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated
September 12, 2006)

Stock Option Agreement dated September 13, 2006 between MarketAxess Holdings Inc. and T. Kelley
Millet# (incorperated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 1o the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated
September 13, 2006)

Restricted Stock Agreement dated September 13, 2006 between MarketAxess Holdings Inc. and
T. Kelley Millet# (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K dated September 13, 2006)

Form of Performance Share Award Agreement for Messrs. McVey and Millet pursuant to the
MarketAxess Holdings Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (as amended and restated effective April 28,
2006)# (incorporated by reference 1o Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated
January 15, 2008)

Form of Performance Share Award Agreement for Employces Other Than Messers, McVey and Millet
pursuant to the MarkctAxess Holdings Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (as amended and restated effective
April 28, 2006)# (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K dated January 15, 2008}

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement pursuant to the MarketAxess Holdings Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive
Plan (as amended and restated effective April 28, 20064 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to
the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 15, 2008)

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement pursuant to the MarketAxess Holdings Inc. 2004 Stock
Incentive Plan (as amended and restated effective April 28, 2006)# (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.4 10 the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 15, 2008)

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement for Mr. McVey pursuant 1o the MarketAxess Holdings Inc.
2004 Stock Incentive Plan (as amended and restated cffective April 28, 2006)# (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 15, 2008)
Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement for Mr. Millet pursuant to the MarketAxess Holdings Inc.
2004 Stock Incentive Plan (as amended and restated cifective April 28, 2006)# (incorporated by
reference 1o Exhibit 10.6 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 15, 2008)
Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Certification by Chief Executive Officer pursuant 1o Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a), as adopted pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification by Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a), as adopted pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification by Chiel’ Executive Officer pursuant 1o 18 U.S.C. Scction 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification by Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

* Incorporated by reference to the identically-numbered cxhibit to the registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form §-1, as amended (Registration No, 333-112718).

** Filed herewith.

# Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the reguirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has
duly caused this report 1o be sigaed on its behall by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

MARKETAXESS HOLDINGS INC.

By: /s/  RicHarp M. McVEy

Richard M. McVey
Chicef Executive Officer

Date: March 3, 2008

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the
following persons on behalfl of the registrant and in the capacitics and on the dates indicated:

Signature Title(s} P_.'l_(_l..
/s RicHarp M. McVey Chiefl Executive Officer and Chairman March 3, 2008
Richard M. McVey of the Board of Directors
(principal executive officer)
fs/ James N.B. Rucker Chief Financial Officer (principal financial March 3, 2008
James N.B. Rucker and accounting officer)
/s RoGrr BURKHARDT Director March 3, 2008

Roger Burkhardt

Ist StEPHEN P. CASPER Director March 3, 2008
Stephen P. Casper

/sf Davib G. GomacH Director March 3, 2008
David G. Gomach

fs/ CarrLos HERNANDEZ Dircctor March 3, 2008
Carlos Hernandez

/s/ RonaLp M. HerscH Director March 3, 2008
Ronald M. Hersch

Is/  Wayng D. Lyski Direclor March 3, 2008

Wayne D. Lyski

/s/ JErROME S§. MaRKOWITZ Director March 3, 2008
Jerome S. Markowitz

fsf T. KELLEY MILLET Dircctor March 3, 2008
T. Kelley Millet
/s/  NicoLas S. RoHaTYN Director March 3, 2008

Nicolas S. Rohatyn

fs/ JouN STEINHARDT Director March 3, 2008
John Steinhardt
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Exhibit 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

Name Place of Incorporation of Organization
MarketAxess Corporalion . ... Delaware

MarketAxess Technologies Inc. .. ... 0 o o e Delaware

MarketAxess Europe Limited. .. .. ..o o United Kingdom
MarketAxess Leasing Limited . . ... .00 oo oo United Kingdom
MarketAxess Canada Limited .. .. ... .. ... oL Canada
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Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We herehy consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (File Numbers
333-120229 and 333-136101) of MarketAxess Holdings Inc. of our report dated February 27, 2008, relating to the
consolidated financial statements, and the effectiveness of internal control financial reporting, which appears in this
Form 10-K.

/s/  PrICEWATERHOUSECo0PERS LIP

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

New York, New York
March 3, 2008
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

1, Richard M. McVey, certify that:
1. 1 have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of MarketAxess Holdings Inc;

2. Bascd on my knowledge, this report doees not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary (0 make the stalements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Bascd on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this report
[airty present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as
of, and for, the period presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and 1 are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15¢e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over
financiat reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-153(1)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures
to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for cxternal purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness ol the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the
period covered by this repornt based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the regisirant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an
annual report) that has materialiy affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors:

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely 10 adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

by Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over finuncial reporting.

fs/ Ricuarp M. McVEy
Richard M. McVey

Chief Excecutive Officer
(principal executive officer)

Dated: March 3, 2008
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Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS
I, James N.B. Rucker, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of MarketAxess Holdings Inc.;

2. Bascd on my knowledge, this report does nol contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit 10 state
a material fact necessary 1o make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respeet Lo the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this report
fairty present in all material respecets the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as
of, and for, the period presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and 1 are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(¢)) and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures
10 be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiarics, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b} Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting (o be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for exlernal purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the
period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent liscal quarter (the registrant’s Tourth fiscal quarter in the case of an
annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and 1 have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of iniernal
control over financial reporting, 1o the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors:

a) Allsignificant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability o record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employces who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/  James N.B. RUCKER

James N.B. Rucker
Chief Financial Officer
{principal financial and accounting oificer)

Dated: March 3, 2008

101




Exhibit 32.1

Certification Under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(United States Code, Title 18, Chapter 63, Section 1350)
Accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K of
MarketAxess Holdings Inc. for the Year Ended December 31, 2007

In connection with the Annual Report Form 10-K on MarketAxess Holdings Inc. (the “Company™) for the year
ended December 31, 2007, as filed with the Sccuritics and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the
“Report™), 1, Richard M. McVey, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant 1o 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the regquirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the

Sccurities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Repont fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

Is/  RicHarp M. McVey

Richard M. McVey
Chief Executive Officer

March 3, 2008

This certification shall not be deemed “filed”™ for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, or otherwise subject to the tiability of that section, nor shall it be deemed 1o be incorporated by reference into
any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, except to the extent the Company
specifically incorporates it by reference.
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Exhibit 32.2

Certification Under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(United States Code, Title 18, Chapter 63, Section 1350)
Accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K of
MarketAxess Holdings Inc. for the Year Ended December 31, 2007

In connection with the Annual Report Form 10-K on MarketAxess Holdings Inc. (the “*Company™} for the year
ended December 31, 2007, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the
“Report™), I, James N.B. Rucker, Chicf Financial Officer of the Company, herehy certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, that:

(1) The Report fully complics with the requirements of Section 13{a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the
Securitics Exchange Act of 1934; and

{2) The information comtained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ )James N.B. Rucker

James N.B. Rucker
Chicf Financial Officer

March 3, 2008

This centification shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, or otherwise subject to the liability of that section, nor shall it be deemed to be incorporated by reference into
any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, except 1o the extent the Company
specifically incorporates it by reference.




